Wiltshire Council
————

AGENDA

Meeting: Western Area Planning Committee

Place: Access the meeting online here

Date: Wednesday 20 January 2021
Time: 3.00 pm

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Ben Fielding, of Democratic Services,
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718656 or email
Benjamin.fielding@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115.

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk

Membership:

Clir Christopher Newbury (Chairman)  Clir Sarah Gibson
ClIr Jonathon Seed (Vice-Chairman)  Clir Edward Kirk

CllIr Trevor Carbin CliIr Stewart Palmen
CliIr Ernie Clark CliIr Pip Ridout
Cllr Andrew Davis Cllr Suzanne Wickham

CliIr Peter Fuller

Substitutes:

Clir Kevin Daley Clir Jim Lynch

Clir David Halik CliIr Steve Oldrieve
ClIr Russell Hawker Clir Toby Sturgis

Clir Jon Hubbard Clir lan Thorn

Cllr George Jeans Clir Philip Whitehead

Clir Gordon King Clir Graham Wright



https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MTNkNGE0MzEtOWNiOC00YzZiLWJkNTItMzk2NDMwNGZlNzMy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225546e75e-3be1-4813-b0ff-26651ea2fe19%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22fdda2c05-5fc1-48a8-8035-20b99dd21b42%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/

Recording and Broadcasting Information

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the
Council’'s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv. At the start of the meeting, the
Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and
sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council.

By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of
those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes.

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.

Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in
relation to any such claims or liabilities.

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.

Page 2


http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=14031

AGENDA
Part |
Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public
Apologies
To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting.
Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 6)

To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 28
October 2020.

Declarations of Interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by
the Standards Committee.

Chairman's Announcements
To receive any announcements through the Chair.
Public Participation

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. During the
ongoing Covid-19 situation the Council is operating revised procedures and the
public are able to participate in meetings online after registering with the officer
named on this agenda, and in accordance with the deadlines below.

Guidance on how to participate in this meeting online

Access the meeting online here

Statements

Members of the public who wish to submit a statement in relation to an item on
this agenda should submit this in writing to the officer named on this agenda no
later than 5pm on 18 January 2021.

Submitted statements should:

e State whom the statement is from (including if representing another person
or organisation);

e State clearly whether the statement is in objection to or support of the
application;

e Be readable aloud in approximately three minutes (for members of the public
and statutory consultees) and in four minutes (for parish council
representatives — 1 per parish council).

Up to three objectors and three supporters are normally allowed for each item
on the agenda, plus statutory consultees and parish councils.

Page 3


https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Guidance%20on%20Public%20Participation%20in%20Online%20Meeting&ID=4563&RPID=22540945
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MTNkNGE0MzEtOWNiOC00YzZiLWJkNTItMzk2NDMwNGZlNzMy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225546e75e-3be1-4813-b0ff-26651ea2fe19%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22fdda2c05-5fc1-48a8-8035-20b99dd21b42%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d

Those submitting statements would be expected to join the online meeting to
read the statement themselves, or to provide a representative to read the
statement on their behalf.

Questions

To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular,
guestions on non-determined planning applications.

Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such
guestions electronically to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later
than 5pm on 13 January 2021 in order to be guaranteed of a written response.

In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no later than
5pm on 15 January 2021.

Please contact the officer named on the front of this agenda for further advice.
Questions may be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter
is urgent. Details of any questions received will be circulated to members prior to
the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website.
Questions and answers will normally be taken as read at the meeting.

Application to Register Land Known as 'Church Field', Hilperton as a Town
or Village Green (Pages 7 - 204)

To consider an application made under Sections 15(1) and (2) of the Commons
Act 2006, to register land known as ‘Church Field’, in the parish of Hilperton,
near Trowbridge, as a town or village green.

Urgent Items

Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be
taken as a matter of urgency.

Part i

Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed

Page 4



Wiltshire Council
T —————

Western Area Planning Committee

MINUTES OF THE WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD
ON 28 OCTOBER 2020 AS AN ONLINE MEETING

Present:

CliIr Christopher Newbury (Chairman), Cllr Jonathon Seed (Vice-Chairman),

CllIr Trevor Carbin, ClIr Ernie Clark, Clir Andrew Davis, ClIr Sarah Gibson,

ClIr Stewart Palmen, CliIr Pip Ridout, Cllr Suzanne Wickham and ClIr David Halik
(Substitute)

127 Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Peter Fuller and Edwars
Kirk.

Councillor Kirk was substituted by Councillor David Halik.

128 Minutes of the Previous Meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 August 2020 were presented for
consideration, and it was,

Resolved:
To approve and sign as a true and correct record the minutes of the

meeting held on 19 August 2020.

129 Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations.

130 Chairman's Ahnouncements

There were no Chairman’s Announcements.

131 Public Participation

The rules of public participation and the procedure to be followed at the meeting
were noted.

132 Planning Appeals and Updates

The update report on planning appeals was received, with details provided
including in relation to the appeals for Breach Lane, Southwick, and Corsley
House, Corsley, which were successfully defended.

Page 5



133

134

Resolved:
To note the Planning Appeals Update Report for 28 October 2020.

Planning Applications

The Committee considered the following applications:

20/02178/FUL: Land Adjoining Hatch House, Up Street, Upton Lovell, BA12
0JP

Public Participation

A statement in objection to the application was received from Maria Ironside.

A statement in objection to the application was received on behalf of Rex
Harrison.

A statement in objection to the application was received from Lindsay Bray.

A statement in support of the application was received from Mark Street.

A statement on behalf of Upton Lovell Parish Council in objection to the
application was received, read by Maria Ironside.

David Cox, Senior Planning Officer, presented a report which recommended an
application be approved for change of use from agricultural land to a dog
exercise area with the retention of small paddock for agricultural use following
expiry of the 2-year temporary permission granted under 18/01841/FUL. Key
issues included the principle of the application and impact on neighbouring
amenity.

Members of the Committee had the opportunity to ask technical details
regarding the application. Details were sought on the stated business need for
use of the site, potential use of a personal condition for use of the site, and level
of use of the site during the period of temporary permission. It was confirmed
that the Coronavirus pandemic had prevented use during part of the temporary
permission period.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the
Committee, as detailed above.

The local Unitary Member, Councillor Christopher Newbury, then spoke
regarding the application, including detail of the history of the application,
concerns raised by local residents and potential conditions if the Committee
wished to approve the application.

A motion was moved by Councillor Newbury, seconded by Councillor David
Halik, to approve the application in accordance with the officer
recommendation, with an additional condition on permitted development rights
and imposing a personal condition on use of the site for the business owner.

The Committee debated the application, discussing whether the additional

conditions were reasonable inclusions, and that it was not felt that the
permission should be continued as a temporary permission.

Page 6



At the conclusion of debate, it was,
Resolved:

That application 20/02178/FUL be approved as per the following
conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans:

Design and Access Statement; Ecological Statement; Location Plan and
Site Plan - all received 5 March 2018; and Planning Statement received 1
April 2020 and further supporting statement (use dairy) received 28 April
2020.

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

2. The development hereby granted shall only enure for the benefit of Mrs
Lorna Street's dog exercise and training business and no more than 9
dogs shall be brought onto or be exercised at the site at any one time.

REASON: To ensure the creation/retention of an environment free from
intrusive levels of noise and activity in the interests of the amenity of the
area

3. In order to protect the openness and landscape character of the
application site as defined by the approved site location plan, the
development hereby approved shall only benefit from the limited
provisions set out within Schedule 2, Part 4, Class A of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015
(or as otherwise amended) pursuant to temporary, moveable buildings or
structures being used in connection with the hereby approved use of
land, and that no other permitted development right(s) provisions will be
valid for any other building or structure on the site.

REASON: To define the terms of this personal permission.

4. The use hereby permitted shall be restricted to dog exercise and
training purposes only taking place between the hours of 0900 - 1700 on
Mondays to Fridays. The use shall not take place at any time on
Saturdays, Sundays or during Bank or Public Holidays.

REASON: To define the terms of this permission and in order to protect
residential and local amenities.

5. The dog waste associated to the use shall continue to be collected,
binned and composted on the site in full accordance with the approved
details discharged on 11 January 2019, and in perpetuity for as long as
the dog exercise/training land use operates.

Page 7



135

REASON: In the interests of protecting the nearby SSSI from
contaminated waste.

6. No external lighting shall be installed anywhere on site.
REASON: In the interests of preserving the scenic beauty of the Area of

Outstanding Natural Beauty and to protect neighbouring amenity.

19/07647/REM: Land North West of Boreham Mill, Bishopstrow Road,
Warminster, Wiltshire

Public Participation

A statement in objection to the application was received from lain Perkins.

A statement in support of the application was received from Chris Beaver,
agent.

A statement on behalf of Bishopstrow Parish Meeting in objection to the
application was received, read by the Democratic Services Officer.

Morgan Jones, Senior Planning Officer, presented a report for a reserved
matters application for: layout, scale, appearance and landscaping pursuant to
outline permission 13/06782/OUT, to include 34 dwellings. Key issues included
the impact on ecology, highways and the layout and design of the application.

As detailed in the published report, officers advised that should the committee
resolve to agree to the officer recommendation to approve the reserved matters,
that the application be delegated to the Head of Development Management to
only issue the decision notice to approve subject to the favourable conclusion of
the Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment (HRA) pursuant to securing
phosphate reductions in the River Avon SAC and its tributaries, and that until
the HRA has been completed, this development cannot be formally approved.
Members were however advised that a strategy to resolve matters was well
advanced and that the Council has been liaising closely with Natural England
amongst numerous interested stakeholders.

Members of the Committee had the opportunity to ask technical details
regarding the application. Details were sought on the stated business need for
use of the site, potential use of a personal condition for use of the site, and level
of use of the site during the period of temporary permission. It was confirmed
that the Coronavirus pandemic had prevented use during part of the temporary
permission period.

Members of the Committee had the opportunity to ask technical questions
relating to the application. Further details were sought on the extent of the
phosphate issue, and it was also stated that as its resolution would not impact
the outline of the development delegation to approve the application would
allow for action as soon as possible. It was stated that technical consultees had
no objections to the proposal, and it could be appealed for non-determination.

Page 8



Details of the history of the application involving self-build elements was also
raised. It was confirmed that the outline planning permission for the site was for
up to 35 dwellings, though only 34 had been requested.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the
Committee, as detailed above.

The local Unitary Member, Councillor Andrew Davis then spoke regarding the
application, raising matters of phosphate levels, design and quality of the
application.

A motion was moved by Councillor Sarah Gibson, seconded by Councillor
Jonathon Seed, to delegate the application for approval in accordance with the
officer recommendation.

The Committee debated the application, noting that many of the cited objections
to the application were about the principle of the development which had been
dealt with at the outline stage and other concerns were not supported by any
technical consultee objection. The concerns expressed about the design of the
proposed dwellings were also discussed alongside the level of controls the
Council would have on the customising choices future homeowners would have.
Members also noted the commitment given by the Area Team Leader that
should the HRA strategy for phosphate reduction require on site mitigation that
would require the applicant to amend the application or otherwise have on site
materials implications, a supplemental report would be prepared and be brought
back to the committee for its consideration.

At the conclusion of debate, it was,
Resolved:

To defer and delegate the approval of this reserved matters application to
the Head of Development Management subject to the following conditions
and informatives following the completion of the necessary HRA
Appropriate Assessment in respect to the SAC.

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with the following approved documents and plans:

e Document. Design & Access Statement Addendum (November
2019) by AHMM Architects, received 04.11.19;

e Document. Design & Access Statement (Date of issue 21
January 2020) by AHMM Architects, received 04.02.20;

e Document. Construction Environmental Management Plan
(April 2020 [V3]) by Seasons Ecology, received 29.04.20;

e Document. Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (ref
JBA 19/019) (September 2019 Rev F 07.09.20), by JBA,
received 07.09.20;

e Document. Updated Ecology Appraisal (February 2020) by
Seasons Ecology, received 04.02.20;

Page 9



Document. Updated Dormouse Survey (July to November
2019) by Seasons Ecology, received 04.02.20;

Document. Updated Water Vole and Otter Survey (August /
November 2019) by Seasons Ecology, received 04.02.20;
Document. Geo-Environmental Review Technical Note by
Clarke Bond (ref B0O5066 / dated 11.18.19), received 02.12.19;
Document. Water Efficiency Calculations (ref. Jon n0.4748 /
date 11.03.20), received 13.03.20;

Document. Flood Risk Assessment Addendum by Clarke
Bond (date 29/07/19) (report no. B0O5066-CLK-XX-XX-RP-FH-
1001 / Number. P3/ Status. S2), received 07.08.19;
Document. Technical Note (Access Culvert Design) by Clarke
Bond (date 07/08/19) (report no. BO5066-CLK-XX-XX-TN-C-
0001 / Number. P02 / Status. S2), received 07.10.19;
Document. Drainage Operations and Maintenance Manual
(report no.B05066-CLK-XX-XX-RP-C-0001 / Status S2) by
Clarke Bond, received 23.04.20;

Document n0.0004 Rev.P03 — Highway Network with
Surcharge (Surface Water Calculations & Scheme Design),
received 23.04.20;

Document n0.0006 Rev.P03 — Private Network with Surcharge
(Surface Water Calculations & Scheme Design), received
23.04.20;

Drawing no.0515 Rev.P04 - Flood Exceedance Route Plan,
received 23.04.20;

Drawing no.0535 Rev.P03 - Drainage & Tree Removal Plan,
received 23.04.20;

Drawing no.0010 Rev.P0O1 - Proposed Ditch Re-Profile,
received 04.02.20;

Drawing no.0705 Rev.P0O1 — Engineering Levels & Contours
Layout, received 23.04.20;

Document. Arboricultural Method Statement (October 2019)
by James Blake Associates, received 04.11.19;

Document. Tree Survey Schedule by James Blake Associates,
received 07.08.19;

Drawing no. JBA 19-019 TPO1 Rev. B — Tree Protection Plan,
received 04.11.19;

Drawing no. JBA 19-019 TP0O1 Rev. B — Tree Removal Plan,
received 04.11.19;

Drawing no. PO02 Rev.P04 — Proposed Site Plan, received
23.04.20;

Drawing no. P100 Rev.P06 — Proposed Masterplan, received
23.04.20;

Drawing no. P101 Rev.P04 — Proposed Unit Type Plan,
received 23.04.20;

Drawing no. P102 Rev.P04 - Proposed Tenure Plan, received
23.04.20;

Drawing no. P103 Rev.P04 - Proposed Parking Plan, received
23.04.20;

Page 10



Drawing no. P101 Rev.P03 — Boat House — Type B4.1, received
07.08.19;

Drawing no. P101 Rev.P03 — Large Boat House — Type LB4.1,
received 07.08.19;

Drawing no. P102 Rev.P03 — Large Boat House — Type LB4.2,
received 07.08.19;

Drawing no. P101 Rev.P03 — Terrace — Type TAl.1, received
07.08.19;

Drawing no. P102 Rev.P03 — Terrace — Type TA2.1 & TA2.2,
received 07.08.19;

Drawing no. P103 Rev.P03 — Terrace — Type TA3.1, received
07.08.19;

Drawing no. P104 Rev.P03 — Terrace — Type T3.1, received
07.08.19;

Drawing no. P105 Rev.P03 — Terrace — Type T3.2, received
07.08.19;

Drawing no. P106 Rev.P03 — Terrace — Type T3.3, received
07.08.19;

Drawing no. P107 Rev.P03 — Terrace — Type T3.4, received
07.08.19;

Drawing no. P108 Rev.P03 — Terrace — Type TA2.3, received
07.08.19;

Drawing no. P201 Rev.P03 — Proposed Road Elevations — AA
& BB, received 07.08.19;

Drawing no. P203 Rev.P03 — Proposed Road Elevations — CC
& DD, received 07.08.19;

Drawing no. P203 Rev.P03 — Proposed Road Elevations — EE,
received 07.08.19;

Drawing no. JBA 19-01901 Rev. | — Proposed Hard Landscape,
received 23.04.20;

Drawing no. JBA 19-01902 Rev. L — Detailed Soft Landscape
Proposals for Plots and POS, received 01.09.20;

Drawing no. JBA 19-01903 Rev. L — Detailed Soft Landscape
Proposals for Plots and POS, received 01.09.20;

Drawing no. JBA 19-01904 Rev. H — Proposed Boundary
Treatments, received 23.04.20;

Drawing no. 0006 Rev.P02 — Boundary Conditions Retaining
Walls, received 04.11.19;

Drawing no. SK003 — Boundary Treatment Cross Sections,
received 04.11.19;

Drawing no. SK003 — Masterplan Upon Highway Officers
Comments, received 04.11.19;

Drawing no. 0140 Rev.P06 — Swept Path Analysis Refuse
Vehicle, received 04.11.19;

Drawing no. 0141 Rev.P06 — Swept Path Analysis DB32 Fire
Tender, received 04.11.19;

Drawing no. 0142 Rev.P06 — Swept Path Analysis DB32 Fire
Tender, received 04.11.19;

Page 11



e Drawing no.0145 Rev.P03 - Visibility Constraints Plan,
received 23.04.20.

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of
proper planning.

Prior to the post-shell design process and customisation of the
dwelling on each plot, full details of the final design, layout,
appearance and landscaping used in the construction of that
plot, in accordance with the customisation options detailed
within the approved Design & Access Statement by AHMM
Architects (ref RO01 Rev.P05) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
design, layout, appearance and landscaping of each plot shall
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

REASON: In the interests of the appearance of the site and
because the final details for each plot have not been established
to allow for flexibility in this custom-build scheme, in
accordance the outline planning permission, ref 13/06782/OUT.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby
permitted full details of the design and wording of the
information boards required to be installed in line with
paragraph 5.6.2 of the Ecological Management Plan (ref JBA
19/109) (September 2019) by JBA shall be submitted to an
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved information boards should be installed prior to the
first occupation of the development.

REASON: In order to ensure long-term protection of habitats
and wildlife in line with the requirement of the approved
Ecological Management Plan.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby
permitted the boundary between the development and the
ecology zone shall be defined by the fencing and native
hedgerow shown on the approved Detailed Soft Landscape
Proposals for Plots and POS drawings (JBA 19/019-02 Rev L
and JBA 19/019-03 Rev L) and the Proposed Boundary
Treatments drawing (JBA 19/019-04 Rev H). The boundary
treatments shall thereafter be retained for the lifetime of the
development. None of the land within the ecology zone will be
incorporated into gardens or used for any purpose including
any temporary use other than for nature conservation,
pedestrian access along the footpath marked on the
Masterplan (P100 Rev P06) and works related to ditch and river

Page 12



management.

REASON: In order to ensure long-term protection of habitats
and wildlife in line with the requirement of the approved
Ecological Management Plan.

No above ground development shall commence on site until
the exact details and samples of the materials to be used for
the external walls and roofs have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local
Planning Authority before development commences in order
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner,
in the interests of visual amenity and the character and
appearance of the area

Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, no
railings, fences, gates, walls, bollards and other means of
enclosure development shall be erected in connection with the
development hereby permitted, including the enclosure of the
Pump Station, until details of their design, external appearance
and decorative finish have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the
development being occupied.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character
and appearance of the area.

All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of
landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and
seeding season following the first occupation of the
dwellings or the completion of the development whichever is
the sooner; All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be
maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from
damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which,
within a period of five years, die, are removed, or become
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of a similar size and species,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning
authority. All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in
accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation
of any part of the development or in accordance with a
programme to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority.

Page 13



REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the
development and the protection of existing important
landscape features.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
strict accordance with the Arboricultural Method Statement
(October 2019) by James Blake Associates, received 04.11.19.

REASON: In order that the development is undertaken in an
acceptable manner, to enable the Local Planning Authority to
ensure the retention of trees on the site in the interests of
visual amenity.

No demolition, site clearance or development shall
commence on site, and; no equipment, machinery or
materials shall be brought on to site for the purpose of
development until the tree protective fencing has be erected
in accordance with the approved details. The protective
fencing shall remain in place for the entire development
phase and until all equipment, machinery and surplus
materials have been removed from the site. Such fencing
shall not be removed or breached during construction
operations.

No retained tree/s shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed,
nor shall any retained tree/s be topped or lopped other than
in accordance with the approved plans and particulars. Any
topping or lopping approval shall be carried out in
accordance British Standard 3998: 2010 "Tree Work -
Recommendations” or arboricultural techniques where it can
be demonstrated to be in the interest of good arboricultural
practise.

If any retained tree is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies,
another tree shall be planted at the same place, at a size and
species and planted at such time, that must be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

No fires shall be lit within 15 metres of the furthest extent of
the canopy of any retained trees or hedgerows or adjoining
land and no concrete, oil, cement, bitumen or other chemicals
shall be mixed or stored within 10 metres of the trunk of any
tree or group of trees to be retained on the site or adjoining
land.

[In this condition "retained tree" means an existing tree which
is to be retained in accordance with the approved plans and
particulars; and paragraphs above shall have effect until the
expiration of five years from the first occupation or the
completion of the development, whichever is the later].

Page 14



10

11

REASON: In order that the development is undertaken in an
acceptable manner, to enable the Local Planning Authority to
ensure the retention of trees on the site in the interests of
visual amenity.

No development shall commence on site until full details of
the remedial works recommended within the Geo-
Environmental Review Technical Note by Clarke Bond (ref
B05066 / dated 11.18.19) has been submitted to and approved
in wiring by the Local Planning Authority via a remediation
strategy. The approved works shall thereafter be carried out
in accordance with a timetable that shall be detailed within
the remediation strategy. On completion of any required
remedial works the applicant shall provide written
confirmation to the Local Planning Authority that the works
have been completed in accordance with the agreed
remediation strategy.

REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local
Planning Authority before development commences in order
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner,
to ensure that land contamination can be dealt with
adequately prior to the use of the site hereby approved by the
Local Planning Authority.

NOTE: The Geo-Environmental Review Technical Note
recommends a cover systems to private gardens and
communal areas and as such the remedial strategy should
detail how and where this will be carried out; to be followed
by verification reporting that confirms the nature of clean
cover placed in private gardens and communal areas
including locations, depth profiles, photographs and soil
analysis.

With the exception of the installation of the access road, no
development shall commence on site until details of all
earthworks have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include
the proposed grading and mounding of land areas including
the levels and contours to be formed, and the nature and
source of the material, showing the relationship of proposed
mounding to existing vegetation and surrounding landform.
The earthworks shall then be carried out in accordance with
the details approved under this condition.

REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local

Planning Authority before development commences in order
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner.

Page 15



12

13

14

15

16

Prior to the occupation of each dwelling hereby permitted the
access, turning area and parking spaces serving that
dwelling shall be completed in accordance with the details
shown on the approved plans. The areas shall be maintained
for those purposes at all times thereafter.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety.

No dwelling shall be occupied until details of secure covered
cycle parking serving each individual dwelling have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The cycle parking facilities shall be provided in
accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation
of each dwelling and retained for use at all times thereafter.

REASON: To ensure that satisfactory facilities for the parking
of cycles are provided and to encourage travel by means
other than the private car.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or amending that
Order with or without modification), there shall be no
additions to, or extensions or enlargements of any building
forming part of the development hereby permitted.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area and to
enable the Local Planning Authority to consider individually
whether planning permission should be granted for additions,
extensions or enlargements.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or amending that
Order with or without modification), no window, dormer
window or rooflight, other than those shown on the approved
plans, shall be inserted in the roof slopes of the dwellings
hereby permitted.

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or amending that
Order with or without modification), no buildings or
structures, or gate, wall, fence or other means of enclosure,
other than those shown on the approved plans, shall be
erected or placed anywhere on the site on the approved
plans.

Page 16



REASON: To safeguard the character and appearance of the
area.

17 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or amending that
Order with or without modification), the garages hereby
permitted shall not be converted to habitable
accommodation.

REASON: To secure the retention of adequate parking
provision, in the interests of highway safety.

INFORMATIVES TO APPLICANT:

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the conditions imposed on the
outline planning permission reference 13/06782/OUT, dated the 20th July
2017. However, the Local Planning Authority can confirm that the details
hereby approved under this reserved matters consent, as listed within
condition 1 and detailed below, satisfy pre-commencement conditions 6,
9, 10, 14, 15 & 17 of outline planning permission 13/06782/OUT: -

Condition 6 - Culvert Details
e Document. Technical Note (Access Culvert Design) by Clarke Bond
(date 07/08/19) (report no. BO5066-CLK-XX-XX-TN-C-0001 / Issue
Number. P02 / Status. S2), received 08.10.19.

Condition 9 - Footway Reconstruction
e Drawing no.0110 Rev.P1 - Highway Construction Details - Sheet 1,
received 06.09.19;
e Drawing no.0200 Rev.P1 - S278 Works Proposed Junction Site
Clearance Plan received 06.09.19;
e Drawing no.0801 Rev.P1 - S278 Kerbing & Surfacing Plan, received
06.09.19.

Condition 10 - Drainage Strateqy

e Document. Technical Note (Access Culvert Design) by Clarke Bond
(date 07/08/19) (report no. B0O5066-CLK-XX-XX-TN-C-0001 / Number.
P02 / Status. S2), received 07.10.19

e Document. Drainage Operations and Maintenance Manual (report
no. B05066-CLK-XX-XX-RP-C-0001 / Status S2) by Clarke Bond,
received 23.04.20;

e Document n0.0004 Rev.P03 - Highway Network with Surcharge
(Surface Water Calculations & Scheme Design), received 23.04.20;

e Document n0.0006 Rev.P03 - Private Network with Surcharge
(Surface Water Calculations & Scheme Design), received 23.04.20;

e Drawing no.0515 Rev.P04 - Flood Exceedance Route Plan, received
23.04.20;

e Drawing no.0535 Rev.P03 - Drainage & Tree Removal Plan, received
23.04.20;

Page 17



e Drawing no.0010 Rev.P01 - Proposed Ditch Re-Profile, received
04.02.20.

Condition 14 - Construction Environmental Management Plan
e Document. Construction Environmental Management Plan (April
2020 [V3]) by Seasons Ecology, received 29.04.20.

Condition 15 - Water Efficiency

e Document. Water Efficiency Calculations (ref. Jon no.4748 / date
11.03.20), received 13.03.20.

Condition 17 - Land Contamination Investigation
e Document. Geo-Environmental Review Technical Note by Clarke
Bond (ref BO5066 / dated 11.18.19), received 02.12.19.

The approved details listed above, which enable the pre-commencement
conditions to be discharged, has been submitted under Discharge of
Condition applications reference 19/08603/DOC, 19/11510/DOC, &
20/03527/DOC in tandem with the reserved matters application.

This approval of matters reserved refers only to condition 2 of
outline planning permission 13/06782/OUT but does not by itself
constitute a planning permission.

This development may require a permit under the Environmental
Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010 from the
Environment Agency for any proposed works or structures, in,
under, over or within eight metres of the top of the bank of the
River Wylye , designated a 'main river'. This was formerly called a
Flood Defence Consent. Some activities are also now excluded

or exempt. A permit is separate to and in addition to any

planning permission granted. Further details and guidance are
available on the GOV.UK website:
https://www.gov.uk/quidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-

permits.

The need for an Environmental Permit is over and above the
need for planning permission. To discuss the scope of the
controls please contact the Environment Agency on 03708 506
506. Some activities are now excluded or exempt; please see the
following link for further information:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-
permits.

It must be noted that any works in proximity of a watercourse
other than a main river, may be subject to the regulatory
requirements of the Lead Local Flood Authority/Internal Drainage
Board

Page 18


https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits

Under the terms of the Land Drainage Act 1991 the prior written
Land Drainage Consent of the Lead Local Flood Authority
(Wiltshire Council in this case) is required for any proposed
works or structures that could affect the flow of an ordinary
watercourse (all non-main river watercourses/streams/ditches
etc.). To discuss the scope of their controls and please contact
Flood Risk Management Team at Wiltshire Council.

Safeguards should be implemented during the construction
phase to minimise the risks of pollution from the development.
Such safeguards should cover:

- the use of plant and machinery

- wheel washing and vehicle wash-down

- oils/chemicals and materials

- the use and routing of heavy plant and vehicles

- the location and form of work and storage areas and
compounds

- the control and removal of spoil and wastes.

Water voles and their burrows are legally protected from harm
and disturbance. Management works to the ditches should be
conducted with advice from an ecologist to avoid committing an
offence under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as
amended).

The ecology zone comprises land within 8m of the River Wylye
which is main river and 4m of the ditches which are ordinary
watercourses. The relevant authority (Environment Agency
/Local Land Drainage Authority) should be consulted and
approval sought for any new works proposed in these zones or
any proposed new discharges to the river/water courses. This
includes the works proposed under the current application and
any subsequent changes.

136 Urgent ltems

There were no Urgent Items.

(Duration of meeting: 3.00 - 5.35 pm)

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Kieran Elliott of Democratic Services,
direct line 01225 718504, e-mail kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL
WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE
20 January 2021

COMMONS ACT 2006 — SECTIONS 15(1) AND (3)
APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS ‘CHURCH FIELD’, HILPERTON
AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN

Purpose of Report

1. To:

0] Consider a report and recommendation, dated 19 November 2020, made
by Mr William Webster of 3 Paper Buildings, appointed by Wiltshire
Council as an independent Inspector to reside over a non-statutory public
inquiry. This was held virtually using “Zoom” on 29 and 30 September
2020, to consider an application made under Sections 15(1) and (2) of the
Commons Act 2006, to register land known as ‘Church Field’, in the
parish of Hilperton, near Trowbridge, as a town or village green.

(i) Recommend that Wiltshire Council accepts the Inspector’s
recommendation.

Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan

2. Working with the local community to provide an accurate register of town and
village greens, making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit.

Background

3. Wiltshire Council received an application, dated 24 April 2017, made under
Section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006, to register land at Hilperton known as
‘Church Field’ as a town or village green. The application was also made under
Section 15(2)(a)(b) of the Act, i.e. where a significant number of the inhabitants
of any locality, or neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged in lawful sports
and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years and they continue to
do so at the time of the application. The application was made by the “Church
Field Friends”.

4, Part 7 of the application form requires the applicant to provide a summary of the
case for registration. The applicant included the following information:

“A significant number of inhabitants of Hilperton have used the land (marked on
the map exhibit A) for a period of 20 years, as of right, and continue to do so.
This is supported by statements - in the form of letters from parishioners (Exhibit
D) and supporting photographic evidence (Exhibit C). A supporting statement is
enclosed marked Exhibit B”.

CM10006/F Page 21



5. The application was accepted as a complete and correct application on 19 June
2017. The plan submitted, showing the extent of the applicant land edged in red,
is appended at APPENDIX 1. The application was advertised on site and in The
Wiltshire Times on 21 July 2020 with a deadline for receipt of objections or
representations of 4 September 2020. Notices were also placed on site and
served on the owners of the land, the occupier of the land, the applicant,
Hilperton Parish Council and Wiltshire Council as planning authority. Three
objections and one representation in support were received. Additionally, after
the advertised deadline, in January 2018, Hilperton Parish Council wrote to the
Council expressing its support for the application.

6. As part of the statutory procedure for determining town and village green
applications, where objections are received, they must be forwarded to the
applicant allowing the applicant a reasonable opportunity for dealing with the
matters which are raised. A right to reply was also extended to the objectors.
Exchanges of comments on the objections occurred between October 2017 and
April 2018.

7. Wiltshire Council, as the Commons Registration Authority (CRA), must
determine the application in a manner that is fair and reasonable to all parties.
All the elements of the application must be demonstrated. The standard of proof
is the civil standard of proof on the balance of probabilities that ‘a significant
number of inhabitants of any locality or of any neighbourhood within a locality
have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes over the land for a period
of at least 20 years and that use has ceased’'.

The Council, as CRA, has no investigative duty in relation to village green
applications which would require it to find evidence or reformulate the applicant’s
case. The Council considered the evidence and the objections received within a
report to the Western Area Planning Committee dated 6 March 2019, (a copy of
the officers’ report to committee is attached at Appendix 2). At paragraph 16.3
officers highlighted some areas of concern when interpreting the evidence
adduced:

“Officers have considered the evidence and the objections and consider that the
opinion of an expert in this area of law would greatly assist the Council in coming
to a decision on the application. In particular a non-statutory public inquiry
where witnesses could give their evidence verbally and possibly under cross
examination would expand and elucidate the following points especially:

a) Is there sufficient evidence from a significant number of inhabitants?

b) Has use been by permission?

C) Have the agricultural activities prevented registration?

d) Is the evidence sufficient to demonstrate use of the whole field and not
just the public rights of way?”

8. Officers recommended that given the dispute of facts in this case and the
difficulties inherent in interpreting the written evidence it would be open to
Wiltshire Council, as the Registration Authority, to hold a non-statutory public
inquiry into the evidence, appointing an independent Inspector to preside over

CM10006/F Page 22



the inquiry and to provide a report and recommendation to the determining
authority. It was resolved by the Western Area Planning Committee on 6 March
2019:

“The Committee agreed for Wiltshire Council to appoint an independent
Inspector to hold a non-statutory Public Inquiry and provide an advisory
report for the Western Area Planning Committee on the application to
register land as atown or village green at Church Field, Hilperton.”

9. Wiltshire Council appointed Mr William Webster, of 3 Paper Buildings, as an
independent Inspector to preside over a non-statutory public inquiry and to write
a report containing a recommendation to Wiltshire Council as the determining
authority. Owing to constraints on movements and meetings imposed by the
Covid-19 pandemic the Inspector held an unaccompanied site visit in August and
a two day virtual public inquiry using Zoom software. Interested parties could
either participate or observe the inquiry. Closing statements were invited after
the inquiry and were considered by the Inspector as part of his report to the
Council.

Main Considerations for the Council

10.  Under the Commons Registration Act 1965, Wiltshire Council is charged with
maintaining the register of town and village greens and determining applications
to register new greens. The application to register land at Church Field,
Hilperton, as a town or village green, has been made under Sections 15(1) and
(2) of the Commons Act 2006, which amended the criteria for the registration of
greens. Section 15 of the Commons Act is set out in full at part 9 of the Wiltshire
Council decision report dated 5 February 2019 at Appendix 2 of the Western
Area Planning Committee report dated 6 March 2019.

11. Sections 15(1) and (3) of the Act, state:

“15 Registration of greens

(1) Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register land
to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where
subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies...

...(2) This subsection applies where-

(a) A significant number of inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood
within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land

for a period of at least 20 years;

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.

CM10006/F Page 23



12.  There is currently no statutory or non-statutory guidance available to authorities
regarding when it would be considered appropriate for a Registration Authority to
hold a non-statutory public inquiry. However, judicial cases have confirmed that it
is the authority’s duty to determine an application in a fair and reasonable
manner and judicial decisions have also sanctioned the practice of holding non-
statutory inquiries. In R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire
District Council Admin 10 Nov 2003 the Court decided that the holding of a non-
statutory public inquiry in some circumstances would be necessary as a matter
of fairness. In R (on the application on Naylor) v Essex County Council [2014]
EWHC 2560 (Admin) the Court confirmed that a public inquiry was one means
by which a registration authority may obtain evidence other than from the
applicant and any objector or by which it may test or supplement that which it
has received in written form.

13.  Following consideration of the available documents and the hearing of evidence
given in chief; in cross-examination and in re-examination at the public inquiry,
the Inspector presented a report to Wiltshire Council, dated 19 November 2020
(please see report attached at APPENDIX 3), in which he discussed and
recommended as follows:

NB: The applicants and the objectors each appointed counsel to represent
them. The applicants were represented by Mr Horatio Waller and the objectors
by Mr James Marwick.

“‘Discussion

130. The application must be tested against the criteria for registration
contained in section 15(2) of the CA 2006, namely whether a significant number
of the inhabitants of (in this instance) any locality had indulged as of right in LSP
on the application land during the relevant 20 year period ending in April 2017.

131. Inthe first instance, it is plain that the civil parish of Hilperton is a
gualifying locality. For reasons already explained, this is not a case where the
applicants rely on one or more neighbourhoods straddling more than one
locality. The case advanced is based solely on the qualifying use of those living
in the civil parish of Hilperton. In the result, the applicants are unable to rely on
the use of the land by others living outside the boundaries of the village. The
point is academic anyway as the applicants are relying only on the written and
oral evidence of those who actually live, or have lived, in the village.

132. The core issue on this application is, as it seems to me, whether, without
more, the use of the land for walking, with or without dogs, children’s play and
general informal recreation suffices to justify registration? This is not, however, a
straight-forward application involving a small parcel of land being used for
qualifying purposes. On the contrary, it is a very large grass meadow subject to
low-level agricultural uses which happens to be criss-crossed by four PROW
(with gated access points and directional signs) and a circular path running
around the outside of the field which, in my view, in the case of the latter, is likely

CM10006/F Page 24



to fall within the category of an emergent right of way. | cannot see how it would
have appeared other than this from the perspective of the landowner in a case
where walkers mainly use the path to walk around the field and only incidentally
walk outside it, perhaps to stand around chatting with other dog walkers or to
follow their dog or else cut a corner if they are pressed for time or even to
bypass other walkers ahead of them.

133. It seems to me that the main issues which need to be addressed by the
CRA on this application are these:
(@  Where do people mainly walk when they use the land?
(b)  Was that main use sufficient to justify registration — for instance
was it non-qualifying as a matter of law because it was not enough to
suggest to a reasonable landowner that the whole of the land was being
used for informal recreation during the relevant period?
(c) Were other incidental uses outside the trodden paths, when looked
at in the round, sufficient to justify registration?

134. | shall start by dealing with the general pattern of use of the land and its
context.

135. The land is a grass meadow of long-standing within the Hilperton Gap.
The agricultural use within the relevant period has been limited to an annual hay
or silage crop although prior to the coming of Elizabeth Way in 2015 it had also
been used for the occasional grazing of a small number of cattle (the evidence is
too vague to put a number on it but the grazing herd would have been small and
non-threatening to walkers) none of which activities in practice, as | find, would
have been inconsistent with the use of the land for TVG purposes. It was not as
if the land was ploughed or used extensively for grazing. In general, the whole of
the land was available for informal recreation during the relevant period although
it is important to note that before the grass was cut in June/July each year there
would have been a number of weeks when the grass was longer and more
difficult to walk upon.

136. The alignment of the PROW and the main circular path have remained
more or less consistent over the years. The Google earth images after 2002
demonstrate that this has been the case. The landscape changed in around
2015 with the construction of Elizabeth Way which ran through Hilperton Gap
and cut off the land from the two fields which used to adjoin it on its south-west
side. One can, for instance, see how cattle would have been moved between
these fields with ease and how HILP3 ran across these fields right into the
outskirts of Trowbridge. It is also apparent from the rights of way plan at App/2
that before the new road was built walkers could have traversed Hilperton Gap
unhindered via a network of paths whereas the new road places limits on the
practicalities of this (compare the plans on App/1 and App/2) despite the new
Middle Lane crossing.

CM10006/F Page 25



137. | think Mr Marwick is right when he says that the trodden paths crossing
and running around the land represent the principal way in which it has been
used by walkers, with or without dogs, during the relevant period. A number of
oral witnesses on both sides gave evidence to this effect. It seems to me that
whereas, before 2015, there is certain to have been greater use of the land as a
place of transit into the adjoining fields, the position after the advent of the new
road is that most people now stick to the field as a destination in its own right
and use it, as one might expect, by walking mainly on the worn paths or at least
as close to these paths as makes no difference. | also consider that any use
outside the paths should be treated as being incidental to the primary use of the
paths and not referable to LSP.

138. | think Mr Marwick is right when he says that the use of the trodden paths
would have indicated to a reasonable landowner the assertion of an emergent
right of way, in the case of the main circular path and its offshoots, or the use of
actual rights of way when it comes to the use of the four PROW and that, as a
matter of law, such use should be discounted for TVG purposes. | also accept
his submission (i) that any use by those straying off the paths (including by those
retrieving their dogs), and (ii) that any use in excess of the width of the paths
identified in the DMS would also have been such as to indicate the exercise of
emergent or actual rights of way.

139. While I accept that, from time to time, people used the field for other
recreational activities such as ball games, flying kites and model aeroplanes,
jogging, camping and generally enjoying the land, | do not accept that these
uses were, either by themselves or collectively, substantial enough or occurred
with sufficient frequency to justify registration. | find that these other non-dog
walking uses were very probably trivial uses and, as Mr Marwick rightly says, did
not involve user of such a duration, nature or quality as would support
registration. In my view, such uses are likely to have occurred mainly in the
summer months after the grass had been cut when, for a while, the land is
bound to have been much easier to walk on.

140. The CRA needs to be satisfied that, for all practical purposes, it can
sensibly be said that the whole of the application land had been used for informal
recreation always bearing in mind that qualifying use will be heavier in some
areas than in others. | have already indicated that, in my view, the land is mainly
used by people walking on the trodden paths which, as | find and as | saw for
myself on my inspection in August, soon reappear after the grass has been cut.
However, this still leaves the rest of the field which, as | find, is largely unused
apart from only trivial or occasional uses when the length of the grass and the
condition of the weather is such as to accommodate with far greater ease other
non-dog walking uses.

141. Itis not an uncommon difficulty in what | might call a ‘big field’ case for a
CRA to have to decide whether the whole or part of the land is still registerable
even though large parts of it are unused. In such a case, even if the CRA were
(a) required to discount the use of the trodden paths, yet (b) considered that

CM10006/F Page 26



other uses taking place outside these paths were still sufficient to justify
registration, an applicant would, in these circumstances, (c) still need to identify
with precision where these other qualifying uses took place on the land in order
that the CRA might then consider whether to exercise its power to sever from the
application those parts of the land where qualifying use may not have taken
place. As Mr Marwick succinctly puts it at OBJ/33 at para 6, the claimed use in
this instance (outside the trodden paths) ‘is imprecise and unclear both
temporally and spatially’. | agree. This is not a severance case even if it was
arguable that other uses outside the use of the trodden paths would have
supported registration which, | hasten to add, is not the case on the basis of
evidence laid before the CRA. The applicants’ case might have been a good
deal more arguable when it came to uses outside the paths if it had showed with
much greater precision what was happening on the land, where it was taking
place and when but their case under this head had not been properly or strictly
proved.

142. | am not going to reiterate my findings on the oral evidence (where, it will
be recalled, | expressed concerns about the quality of the evidence of Ms
Katevska, Ernest Clark and Mrs Hart) but there is another matter which | should
address and it concerns the Paxcroft Mead development.

143. Whilst | accept that this estate resulted in some people who lived outside
the village boundary using the land (and so may have numbered amongst others
observed to be using the land by qualifying local residents), it is, as | find,
unlikely to have been a major component in the overall use of the land although |
accept that some discounting would be necessary to allow for the use of those
living outside the village. However, it still needs to be recognised that crossing
the A361 is likely to have been a major hindrance to those living outside the
village boundary who wished to recreate on the field, especially in the case of
adults with young children in tow. The field was very probably also too away for
unsupervised play in the case of younger children. | am also told that there are
suitable amenity spaces within the new estate although | doubt whether they are
likely to be as desirable for dog walking as the application land. This issue arose
late in the day and in the absence of a proper audit as to how many people
accessed the land for recreation via points 11-13 on App/3 one can only but
speculate on the number of people using the land who lived outside the village
boundary, whether they came from the Paxcroft Mead estate or elsewhere. At
the end of the day, however, there were, in my view, enough qualifying
witnesses who gave oral and written evidence to signify that the land was likely
to have been in general use by the local community for informal recreation. It is
just that the user relied on was, for the reasons explained, not qualifying use for
the purposes of section 15 of the CA 2006.

Recommendation

144. In light of the above discussion, | recommend that the application to
register the application land (proceeding under application number 2017/01)

CM10006/F Page 27



14.

15.

should be rejected on the ground that the criteria for registration laid down in
section 15(2) of the CA 2006 have not been satisfied.

145. Put shortly, the predominant use of the application land during the
relevant period was for walking, with or without dogs, on four PROW and a
circular path (and its offshoots) running around the outside of the application
land which would not have justified registration as a matter of law as it would not
have suggested to a reasonable landowner the exercise of a right to indulge in
LSP across the whole of the application land. Other claimed uses taking place
outside these paths were either incidental to the primary use of the paths or else
were too trivial or occurred only sporadically and, either alone or collectively,
would not have been sufficient in terms of duration, nature or quality to support
registration.

146. The CRA must give written notice of its reasons for rejecting the
application. | recommend that the reasons are stated to be “the reasons set out
in the Inspector’s report dated 19 November 2020”.”

There is no obligation placed upon the determining authority to follow the
Inspector’'s recommendation, although if the Committee decide not to follow the
Inspector’'s recommendation, which is supported by the very detailed and
thorough consideration of the evidence in the Inspector’s report (APPENDIX 3),
the Committee must provide sound evidential reasons for departing from the
recommendation before it. Members of the Committee are requested to
consider the Inspector’s report and the available evidence in order to determine
whether or not the application land should be registered as a town or village
green.

Under the Council’s constitution one of the functions of the Area Planning
Committee is that where an objection has been received and has not been
resolved, it can consider matters of local importance within the area such as the
registration of town and village greens.

Safequarding Implications

16.

There are no safeguarding implications as those relating to safeguarding are not
permitted with Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination must be
based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority.

Public Health Implications

17.

There are no public health implications as considerations relating to public health
are not permitted within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any
determination must be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration
Authority.

CM10006/F Page 28



Environmental and Climate Change Considerations

18.  Considerations relating to the environmental impact of the proposal are not
permitted within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any determination must
be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration Authority.

Equalities Impact of the Proposal

19. Considerations relating to the equalities impact of registering land as a town or
village green are not permitted within Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Any
determination must be based on the relevant evidence before the Registration
Authority.

Risk Assessment

20.  The holding of a non-statutory public inquiry and the production of the
subsequent report and recommendation to Wiltshire Council from an
independent Inspector, have reduced the risk to the Council of a potential legal
challenge as the evidence of withesses has been heard, tested and considered.

Financial Implications

21.  Presently, there is no mechanism by which the Registration Authority may
charge the applicant for processing an application to register land as a town or
village green and all costs are borne by the Council.

22.  Where the Council makes a decision to register / not to register the land as a
town or village green it must give clear reasons for its determination as this
decision is potentially open to legal challenge as any decision of the Council is
open to judicial review. The legal costs of a successful challenge against the
Council could be in the region of £40,000 - £100,000.

23.  There is no duty for Registration Authorities to maintain land registered as town
or village green.

Legal Implications

24.  If the CRA decides not to register the land as a town or village green, the only
right of appeal open to the applicant is through judicial review proceedings and
challenging the lawfulness of the decision in the High Court. The court’s
permission to bring proceedings is required and the application must be made
within three months of the date of the decision to determine the village green
application. A landowner could also use judicial review proceedings to challenge
the Council’s decision if the land were to be registered as a town or village
green.

25. If the land is successfully registered as a town or village green, the landowner
could potentially challenge the Registration Authority’s decision by an appeal to
the High Court under Section 14(1)(b) of the Commons Registration Act 1965
(‘the 1965 Act’), which allows the High Court to amend the register only if it can
be shown that the registration ought not to have been made and that it is just to
rectify the register. The overall effect is that the registration of the land is

CM10006/F Page 29



deemed to have been made under Section 13 of the 1965 Act and there is a
preserved right under Section 14 to apply to the court to rectify the registration of
the town or village green without limit of time. The application, which could be
made many years after the decision and potentially enables the Court to hold a
re-hearing of the application and consideration of the facts and law, could lead to
de-registration of the land.

26.  Judicial review proceedings are a complex area of administrative law where
every aspect of the law and facts relevant to the decision and the CRA'’s decision
making process would be subject to detailed analysis by the Court. Due to the
complexity of such cases the legal costs can quickly escalate. If the judicial
review proceedings are not successfully defended, the Aarhus convention
(concerning the legal costs for environmental cases) does limit the costs liability
so far as the Council, as CRA, is concerned (if the case is lost) to £35,000;
however, the CRA would also be required to meet its own legal costs to defend
the case (which would be a broadly similar sum if not more depending on the
issues that may arise during the proceedings) in addition to the applicant’s costs.
The applicant’s potential maximum costs liability if their case is unsuccessful is
£5,000.

27. The issue of ‘pre-determination’ or approaching a decision with a ‘closed mind’
(for example a decision maker having already made up their mind on the
application before considering the evidence and/or Inspector’'s recommendation
and making the decision) is a serious allegation and one that a CRA must avoid.
There is a potential reputational issue for a Commons Registration Authority if a
court was to make a finding that ‘pre-determination’ took place before a
committee made a formal decision to determine an application to register land as
a town or village green. The court may order that the decision be quashed,
make an order for costs and for the decision sent back to the CRA to be re-
made.

Options Considered

28. Members of the Committee need to consider whether to:

(1) Accept the Inspector’'s recommendation that the application by ‘Church
Field Friends’ made under Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 be
rejected for the reasons set out in the Inspector’s report dated
19 November 2020.

(i) Accept the Inspector’'s recommendation, but with modification supported
by the available evidence, e.g. registering only part of the application land.

(i)  Not accept the Inspector’s recommendation and resolve to register all of
the land as described in the application made under Section 15(1) of the
Commons Act 2006 and described as ‘Church Field’, as a town or village
green.

CM10006/F Page 30



29.

Where Members of the Committee do not resolve to accept the Inspector’s

recommendation in full and make an alternative decision, clear reasons for this
decision, based on evidence, must be given as the decision of the Registration
Authority is open to legal challenge by both the applicants and the landowners.

Reasons for Proposal

30.

31.

32.

In the Hilperton case, the evidence of whether a significant number of inhabitants
of any locality, or any neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right
in lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years was in
dispute. It is the duty of the determining authority to determine the application in
a fair and reasonable manner. Due to the substantial dispute of fact in this case,
Wiltshire Council determined to hold a non-statutory public inquiry where the
facts of the case would be likely to be resolved by the inquiry process through
witnesses giving oral evidence in chief and through cross-examination and re-
examination, including consideration of documentary evidence by the Inspector.

Following the close of the inquiry, the Inspector presented a well written and
extremely thorough consideration of the evidence in a 52 page report with
recommendation to Wiltshire Council, as the Registration Authority, dated
19 November 2020 (APPENDIX 3):

“..., I recommend that the application to register the application land (proceeding
under application number 2017/01) should be rejected on the ground that the
criteria for registration laid down in section 15(2) of the CA 2006 have not been
satisfied.”

Officers are satisfied that over the course of the two days of the public inquiry,
the Inspector carried out a thorough and detailed examination of the evidence,
all parties being given full opportunity to make their representations and to cross-
examine other parties on their evidence. Officers consider that the Inspector’s
report is a correct and accurate reflection of the witness and documentary
evidence and that the Inspector’'s recommendation should be accepted.

Proposal

33.

That Wiltshire Council, as the Registration Authority, accepts the Inspector’'s
recommendation and that the application by ‘Church Field Friends’, under
Sections 15(1) and (2) of the Commons Act 2006, to register land at Church
Field, Hilperton, be rejected for the reasons set out in the Inspector’s report
dated 19 November 2020.

Jessica Gibbons
Director — Communities and Neighbourhood Services

Report Author:

Sally Madgwick

Definitive Map and Highway Records Manager
CM10006/F Page 31



The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of
this Report:

None
Appendices:

Appendix 1 — Plan showing applicant land

Appendix 2 — Report to the Western Area Planning Committee 6 March 2019
Appendix 2A to 6 March 2019 report

Appendix 2A.1 to 6 March 2019 report

Appendix 2A.2 to 6 March 2019 report

Appendix 2A.3 to 6 March 2019 report

Appendix 2A.4 to 6 March 2019 report

Appendix 3 - Inspector’s report dated 19 November 2020

Appendix 3.1 to Inspector’s report 19 November 2020

CM10006/F Page 32



1k Buy A Plan

UK's Fastest and Easiest Planning Site

Exhibit A - Chur

field

S P c‘,); ==
& W
£ PLAMNMNING >

o Partner

N\
copyright and databaga rights 2017 Ordnance Survay 1000531

Site Plan shows area bounded by: 386850.47, 158815.47 387250.47, 159215.47 (at a scale of 1:2500), OSGridRef: 3T87055301. The representation of a road, track or path is no evidence of a right of

way The representation of features as lines is no evidence of a property boundary.

Produced on 13th Jun 2017 from the Ordnance Survey National Geographic Database and incorporating surveyed revision available at this date. Reproduction in whole or part is prohibited without the
prior permission of Ordnance Survey. © Crown copyright 2017 Supplied by www buyaplan co uk a licensed Ordnance Survey partner (100053143). Unique plan reference: #00231897-7D7790

Ordnance Survey and the OS Symbol are registered trademarks of Ordnance Survey, the nalional mapping agency of Great Brilain. Buy A Plan logo, pdf design and the www buyaplan.co.uk website

are Copyright © Pass Inc Ltd 2017

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



WILTSHIRE COUNCIL APPENDIX 2

WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

6 MARCH 2019

COMMONS ACT 2006 — SECTION 15(1) AND (2) APPLICATION TO REGISTER
LAND AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN = CHURCH FIELD, HILPERTON

Purpose of Report

1. To seek approval to appoint an independent Inspector to hold a non-statutory
Public Inquiry and provide an advisory report for the Western Area Planning
Committee on the application to register land as a town or village green at
Church Field, Hilperton.

Relevance to Council’s Business Plan

2. Working with the local community to maintain an up-to-date register of town and
village greens to make Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit.

Background

3. Wiltshire Council received an application to register land at Church Field,
Hilperton as a town or village green on 24 April 2017. The application was made
under Section 15(1) and (2) of the Commons Act 2006 which requires the
applicant to demonstrate, on the balance of probabilities, that the land has been
used by a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, and that they have indulged as of right in lawful
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years.

4, The application was accepted and duly advertised on 21 July 2017 for a period
of 42 days. During this time three objections and one representation in support
were received. One of the objectors was the owner of the land. He has since
died and the objection is being maintained by his estate.

5. Full details of the application and all relevant submissions are appended to
this report at Appendix A.

Main Considerations for the Council

6. Wiltshire Council is the Registration Authority and has a statutory duty to
determine the application. However, there are no regulations in force at the
moment which set out the process by which provide any mechanism as to how
the authority should determine applications of this type.

7. The application is disputed. The objections raise a number of matters that must
be addressed by the council including:

Palge 35

CMO09923/F



0] Can the evidence of multiple family members be taken into account?

(i) Is the number of people who have submitted evidence of use
sufficient to be taken as a significant number of the inhabitants?

(i)  Was use by permission?

(iv)  Was use by right owing to the presence of four rights of way in the field?

(v) Are some of the claimed activities (for example socialising, creating
dance routines and creating memories) lawful sports and pastimes?

(vi)  Is use of the land for grazing cattle and taking an annual silage crop
fatal to the registration of the land?

(vi)  How were the witnesses motivated?

(viii)  How credible is some of the evidence?

(ix) Is the evidence sufficient to demonstrate use of the whole field and not
just the public rights of way?

8. Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 provides that to register land as a town or
village green it must be shown that:

A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports
and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years.

9. The registration of land as a town or village green is no trivial matter. Although
the inhabitants of the parish of Hilperton would have a right to use the land for
lawful sports and pastimes at all times and forever, land that is so registered is
protected by Victorian statutes against harm or damage to the extent that any
control of future activities on the land is largely taken from the landowner. The
most obvious loss is that the land may not be developed but it may also not be
ploughed, used for arable crops, divided for grazing of, say, horses or any other
alteration that a landowner may reasonably expect to be able to do.

10. The responsibilities of the council in this regard were recognised by the justices
in the Court of Appeal in the case of R(Christopher John Whitmey) v The
Commons Commissioners [2004] EWCA Civ. 951. Arden LJ at paragraphs 28
and 29:

“28. ...... the registration authority is not empowered by statute to hold a hearing
and make findings which are binding on the parties by a judicial process. There
is no power to take evidence on oath or to require the disclosure of documents
or to make orders as to costs....However, the registration authority must act
reasonably. It also has power under section 111 of the Local Government Act
1972 to do acts which are calculated to facilitate, or are incidental or conducive,
as to the discharge of their functions. This power would cover the institution of
an inquiry in an appropriate case.

29. Inorder to act reasonably, the registration authority must bear in mind that
its decision carries legal consequences. If it accepts the application, amendment
of the register may have a significant effect on the owner of the land...likewise if
it wrongly rejects the application, the rights of the applicant will not receive the
protection intended by parliament. In cases where it is clear to the registration
authority that the application or any objection to it has no substance, the course
it should take will be plain. If however, that is not the case, the authority may
well properly decide, pursuant to its powers under section 111 of the 1972 Act, to
hold an inquiry...... 7

Pagze 36

CMO09923/F



11. At paragraph 66 Waller L J agreed:

“66. | make these points because the registration authority has to consider both
the interest of the landowner and the possible interest of the local inhabitants.
That means that there should not be any presumption in favour of registration or
any presumption against registration. It will mean that, in any case where there
IS a serious dispute, a registration authority will invariably need to appoint an
independent expert to hold a public inquiry, and find the requisite facts, in order
to obtain the proper advice before registration.”

12.  Officers have considered the evidence both in support and in objection to the
application at Appendix A. Whilst some points raised may simply be dealt with
by the council it is clear that there are matters of serious dispute in the evidence.
Officers consider that the four main points of dispute are:

Is there sufficient evidence from a significant number of inhabitants?
Has use been by permission?

Have the agricultural activities prevented registration?

Is the evidence sufficient to demonstrate use of the whole field for lawful
sports and pastimes and not just the public rights of way?

13. Itis considered unreasonable to all parties to make a decision without further
testing of the evidence in front of an expert in this area of law.

Overview and Scrutiny Engagement

14. The determination of town and village green applications is governed by
statutory regulations, relevant case law and non-statutory guidance.

Safequarding Implications

15. The committee’s attention is brought to the High Court decision in the case of
Somerford Parish Council v Cheshire East Borough Council (1) and Richborough
Estates (2) [2016] EWHC 619 (Admin) where the High Court quashed the local
borough council’s decision not to register land as a new town or village green on
the basis of procedural error. The case highlights a number of practical points to
note regarding privilege, equity and the importance of the Public Inquiry in
determining an application to register land as a town or village green. The
court’s decision also reinforces the findings in Whitmey and the need for
Registration Authorities to hold a non-statutory Public Inquiry where there are
sufficient disputes over factual issues.

16. Where a town or village green application is refused, the course of appeal for the
applicant is by way of judicial review to the High Court. Applications of this
nature usually, as can be seen from paragraph 15 above, focus closely on the
procedure used in the decision making process. To safeguard both the
reputation of the council and to avoid the serious financial costs of defending an
action for judicial review it is imperative that the proper procedure is followed by
the council in the decision making process. Likewise, the registration of the land
may result in a similar High Court action instigated by the landowner, again
underlining the need for the council to follow correct procedure.

Pasge 37

CMO09923/F



Public Health Implications

17.  There are no public health implications arising from this report.

Corporate Procurement Implications

18.  The procurement implications of processing the application are dealt with under
the Financial Implications given below.

Equalities Impact of the Proposal

19. There are no equalities impacts of the proposal.

Environmental and Climate Change Considerations

20.  There are no known environmental and climate change considerations arising
from this report.

Risk Assessment

21. The financial and legal risks to the council arise from the council reasonably
proceeding with the application (where financial risks are limited to costs detailed
below) or in acting unreasonably whereby risks relate to the cost of legal
challenges through the courts. A challenge to the council’s decision in the High
Court where it is decided against the council may result in expenses of around
£50,000 or more if resort is made to the higher courts.

Financial Implications

22.  There is no mechanism by which a Registration Authority may charge the
applicant for processing an application to register land as a town or village green
and all the costs are borne by the council for which there is no budgetary
provision.

23.  Arecent estimate for an inquiry lasting four to five days and for the production of
the Inspector’s report was £15,000 plus VAT.

Legal Implications

24.  The legal implications associated with the report are set out in paragraph 21.

Options Considered

25.  Members of the committee must consider the following possible decisions open
to them:

0] To appoint an independent Inspector to hold a non-statutory Public Inquiry
and produce an advisory report with his findings and recommendations for
the council’s consideration.

(i) To determine the application.

Pag? 38

CMO09923/F



Reasons for Proposal

26. There is a serious dispute regarding the evidence and the application is of great
local interest. In paragraph 15 above the committee’s attention was brought to
the Cheshire East High Court Judgement. The case was brought to the High
Court on the basis of procedural error by the borough council. The case
highlights a number of practical points for the committee to note and consider
regarding privilege, equity and the importance of Public Inquiries in determining
an application to register land as a town or village green in disputed cases. The
court’s decision also reinforces the findings in R (Whitmey) v Commons
Commissioners and the need for Registration Authorities to hold a non-statutory
Public Inquiry where there are sufficient disputes over factual issues.

27. Where the Registration Authority decides not to register land as a town or village
green there is no right of appeal to the council or for example to the Secretary of
State as there is with a planning application. The applicant’s course for redress
is by way of judicial review to the High Court. Applications of this nature usually,
as can be seen in paragraph 15 above, focus closely on the procedure used in
the decision making process. To safeguard both the reputation of the council,
and to avoid the serious financial costs of defending an action for judicial review,
it is imperative that the council adopts the proper decision making process in
dealing with this application.

Proposal

28. To seek approval to appoint an independent Inspector to hold a non-statutory
Public Inquiry and provide an advisory report for the Western Area Planning
Committee on the application to register land as a town or village green at
Church Field, Hilperton.

TRACY CARTER
Director Waste and Environment

Report Author
Sally Madgwick
Definitive Map and Highway Records Team Leader

The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of
this Report:

None
Appendices:

Appendix A - Officers’ Interim Decision Report
This report has 4 appendices:

Al Summary of user evidence

A2 Landowner’s objection to the application

A3  Applicant’s response to objections

A4 Landowner’s response to applicant’s response

Pa}_)ge 39

CMO09923/F



This page is intentionally left blank



1

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL
COMMONS ACT 2006

INTERIM REPORT

APPENDIX 2.A to WAPC 20.01.2021 report

APPENDIX A

APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AT CHURCH
FIELD, HILPERTON AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN

PURPOSE OF REPORT

i) To consider the application and evidence submitted under Section 15(1) and
(2) of The Commons Act 2006 to register land at Church Field, Hilperton as a Town

or Village Green.

i) To recommend that a non-statutory public inquiry is held before an expert in this
area of law to test all evidence and to make a recommendation to assist the council
make a decision on the application.

LOCATION PLAN

The land is located south west of the Church of St Michael and All Angels, Hilperton, BA14

7RJ and is referred to as Church Field (shown highlighted in red):

Bl | DTy e Voot | e -
B "’_:L/;\:ﬁy( - I':%_/_- 'Hﬁr}ermn Malsh“-,_,-’\ \'\T-F
[ A ) ] \ S
M ] Y
=5
B J‘k Y
N
== el

& —
i) He

,-é-- !
o (lody [ s Lot
e, on A

., £y

4m
1

\.
- P
i N
F'_g':(f&rq& Mea\d?\&;-\ J{
. S o
hY ™,

Page 1 of 29



3 APPLICATION PLAN

APPLICATION DETAILS:

Application number: TVG 2017/01
Date of receipt: 24 April 2017
Name of applicant: Church Field Friends
Address of applicant: c/o 2 Nursery Close
Hilperton
Trowbridge
Wiltshire
BA14 7RP

Page 2 of 29
Page 42



Application made under: Section 15(1) and (2) Commons Act 2006

Description of land: Church Field, Hilperton
Locality or neighbourhood: Hilperton parish
Justification for application:  “A significant number of inhabitants of Hilperton

have used the land (marked on the map Exhibit A)
for a period of over 20 years, as of right, and
continue to do so.”

Supporting documentation: Exhibit A — map
Exhibit B — supporting statement
Exhibit C — supporting photos
Exhibit D — 33 x personal statements
Exhibit E — land registry search documents
Exhibit F — map of Hilperton parish

5 LANDOWNER DETAILS
From 1959 to his death in late 2017 the land was owned by:

Mr Roger Pike
Fairfield House
Nursery Close
Church Street
Hilperton
BA14 7RP

The land is now administered by Goughs Solicitors on behalf of the estate:

Dave Powell
Goughs Solicitors
Ramsbury House
30 Market Place
Devizes

SN10 1JG

The land was subject to a Grasskeep Agreement between approx. 1990 and 2017 to:

Mr R M Fyfe

Lower Paxcroft Farm
Hilperton
Trowbridge

BA14 6JA

Page 3 of 29
Page 43



6 PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE APPLICANT LAND 31 MAY 2017

Heouse

it Michael'and

527Tm

= )

Jowmms

Entrance (A) to land by church (footpath HILP1)

Entrance (B) to land at B3105 (footpath HILP4)

Page 4 of 29
Page 44



Entrance (C) to land at roundabout (footpath HILP2)

Entrance (D) at link road (footpath HILP 3 & 4)

Entrance (E) from applicant land to bridleway HILP33

Additionally 3 properties have gates onto the land from their gardens:

Page 5 of 29

Page 45



HILP footpath no 3

HILP footpath no. 2

HILP footpath no. 1

Page 6 of 29
Page 46



View from Entrance B looking north to
Entrance A

View from Entrance
towards Entrance C

B south west

Page 47

Page 7 of 29



il View from Entrance C north towards
Entrance D (link road)

View from Entrance D towards
Entrance A

Line of footpath HILP No. 3

Page 8 of 29
Page 48



View from Entrance E south across
Applicant Land

Page 9 of 29




7 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE APPLICANT LAND

Page 10 of 29

Page 50



2006 with rights of way superimposed
in purple

Page 11 of 29




# | 2006 with rights of way in purple and ;
. | additional trodden paths in red

Page 12 of 29




8

PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY

Plan showing public rights of way across and beside the applicant land:

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

LEGAL EMPOWERMENT

Wiltshire Council is the Commons Registration Authority for the County of Wiltshire
(excluding the Borough of Swindon).

The application has been made under Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 as amended
by the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 (the 2013 Act).

Section 16 of the 2013 Act amended the law on the registration of new town and village
greens under Section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006. It did this by inserting new
provisions — section 15C and schedule 1A into the 2006 Act — which exclude the right to
apply to register land as a green when any one of a number of events, known as ‘trigger
events’, have occurred within the planning system in relation to that land.

The trigger events are prescribed by Schedule 1A of the Commons Act 2006, and extended
by the Commons (Town and Village Greens) (Trigger and Terminating Events) Order 2014
and The Housing and Planning Act 2016 (Permission in Principle etc)(Miscallaneous
Amendments)(England) Regulations 2017 Statutory Instrument 2017 No. 276. For
example, where an application for planning permission is first publicised then the right to
apply to register land as a green is excluded. This ensures that decisions regarding
whether land should be developed or not may be taken within the planning process. Other

Page 13 of 29
Page 53



9.5

9.6

9.7

Trigger Events include the inclusion of the land in adopted or emerging development plan
policy.

The new section 15C(2) of the Commons Act 2006 provides for ‘terminating events’, which
are also set out in Schedule 1A to that Act. If a terminating event occurs in relation to the
land in question, then the right to apply for registration of a green under section 15(1) is
again exercisable. For example, if the right to apply to register land has been excluded
because of an application for planning has been publicised, the right to apply for registration
of the land as a green again becomes exercisable if planning permission is refused and all
means of challenging that refusal have run their course.

The 2013 Act amended the Commons Act 2006 in two other ways (Section 14 amended
sections 15(3)(c) and inserted sections15A and 15B. These amendments relate to the
deposit of landowner statements’ — the purpose of which is to protect the land from future
claims — but are not relevant to the application being considered here as no deposits have
been made.

This application has been made under Section 15(1)(2) of the Commons Act 2006:

Commons Act 2006
15 Registration of greens

(1) Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register land to which
this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where subsection (2), (3) or (4)
applies.

(2) This subsection applies where —

(a)  a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood
within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land
for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b)  they continue to do so at the time of the application.

15B ......

15C Registration of greens: exclusions
(1) The right under section 15(1) to apply to register land in England as a town or
village green ceases to apply if an event specified in the first column of the Table
set out in Schedule 1A has occurred in relation to the land (“a trigger event’).

(2) Where the right under section 15(1) has ceased to apply because of the
occurrence of a trigger event, it becomes exercisable again if an event specified in
the corresponding entry in the second column of the Table occurs in relation to the
land (“a terminating event’).

(3) The Secretary of State may by order make provision as to when a trigger or a
terminating event is to be treated as having occurred for the purposes of this section.

(4) The Secretary of State may be order provide that subsection (1) does not apply in
circumstances specified in the order.

(5)The Secretary of State may by order amend Schedule 1A so as to —
(a) specify additional trigger or terminating events;

Page 14 of 29
Page 54



9.8

9.9

9.10

(b) amend or omit any of the trigger or terminating events for the time being
specified in the Schedule.

(6)A trigger or terminating event specified by order under subsection 5(a) must be an
event related to the development (whether past, present or future) of the land.

Once an application has been delivered to the Commons Registration Authority (the CRA) it
is necessary to first ascertain whether a Trigger Event has occurred. [f it has, and no
corresponding terminating event has occurred the right to apply is suspended and the
application must be returned. However, if there are no Trigger Events the CRA may
proceed with the application.

Regulations prescribe the form that the application must take.

(The Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens)(Interim Arrangements)(England)
Regulations 2007 2007 No. 457 10(3)(c)).

10. — (1) This Regulation applies to the description of any land which is the subject of an
application for registration as a town or village green.

(2) Land must be described for the purposes of the application —

(a) by any Ordnance map accompanying the application and referred to in that
application; or

(b)  inthe case of land already registered as common land, if the application relates to
the whole of the land in a register unit, by a reference to that register unit.

(3) Any Ordnance map accompanying an application must —
(a)  be on a scale of not less than 1:2500
(b)  show the land to be described by means of distinctive colouring;, and

(c) be marked as an exhibit to the statutory declaration in support of the
application.

(d)

The regulations at 5.4 permit the Commons Registration Authority (the CRA) to allow the
applicant an opportunity to correct the application:

5. — (1) Where an application is made under section 15(1) of the 2006 Act to register
land as a town or village green, the registration authority must, subject to paragraph
(4), on receipt of an application —

Page 15 of 29
Page 55



9.1

10

(4) Where an application appears to the registration authority after preliminary
consideration not to be duly made, the authority may reject it without complying with
paragraph (1), but where it appears to the authority that any action by the applicant
might put the application in order, the authority must not reject the application under this
paragraph without first giving the applicant a reasonable opportunity of taking that action.

(5) v,

In the case of R (The Church Commissioners for England) v Hampshire County Council
and Guthrie [2013] EWHC 1933 (Admin) Collins J considered that the CRA were entitled to
consider the application as duly made from the date it was originally received and that a
period of at least five years was a reasonable time period in which corrections could be
made.

Timeline for the Processing of the Application

24 April 2017 Application deposited at the offices of Rights of Way and Countryside,
Wiltshire Council at 1715.

25 April 2017 Letter enquiring whether a Trigger Event (and/or Terminating Event)
had occurred sent to:
Wiltshire Council Development Management (Planning Authority) —
responded negative
Wiltshire Council Spatial Planning — responded negative
The Planning Inspectorate — responded negative

26 May 2017 Letter to applicant informing them there had been no trigger events.
Application allocated number TVG 2017/01.

30 May 2017 Letter to applicant returning the application for correction owing to
identified failings in Form 44 and Exhibit A.

19 June 2017 Revised application returned.

17 July 2017 Letter sent to applicant, landowner, believed tenant farmer, Wiltshire
Councillor, Parish Council and Wiltshire Council as planning authority
enclosing Form 45 (Notice of Application) and application plan.

20 July 2017 Form 45 notices posted on site (all entrances to the land) and
maintained until 04 September 2017.

21 July 2017 Form 45 published in the Wiltshire Times. Responses to be received
by 1700 04 September 2017.

13 Aug 2017 Objection received from R Sims

Page 16 of 29
Page 56



11

111

14 Aug 2017
01 Sept 2017
04 Sept 2017
02 Oct 2017
25 Oct 2017

18 Dec 2017

18 Jan 2018

26 Feb 2018
08 Mar 2018

30 Apr 2018
15 Nov 2018

16 Nov 2018

23 Jan 2018

Representation in support received from E Clark

Objection received from R H & | R Craddock

Objection received from Goughs on behalf of R Pike (landowner)
Additional statements submitted by Goughs on behalf of Mr Pike

3 objections and 1 representation submitted to applicants for comment

Copies of 3 objections and 1 representation sent to Goughs for
information

On 16" January 2018 Hilperton Parish Council resolved to fully support
the application and has no objection to Church Field being registered
as a Town or Village Green

Response received from applicant

Applicant’s response sent to 3 objectors and 1 representor for
comment

Response received from Goughs

Further enquiries made to Wiltshire Council as Planning Authority
regarding the effect of Wiltshire Council’s Core Strategy (adopted
January 2015) on the application in the light of the decision of D Elvin
QC in Cooper Estates Strategic Land Ltd v Wiltshire Council et al
[2018] EWHC 1704 (Admin).

Response from Wiltshire Council confirming no trigger event applied to
the land at the time the application was made. The land being outside
of the limits of development, not within a SHLAA site and not identified
for development in the Wiltshire Core Strategy, Site Allocations Plan or
any other development document for Wiltshire.

Wiltshire Council case officer commences writing report.

EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE APPLICATION

It is for this applicant to demonstrate to the Registration Authority (Wiltshire Council)
that on the balance of probabilities a significant number of the inhabitants of the
parish of Hilperton have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the
land for a period of at least 20 years and that they continued to so on the 25" April
2017. Exhibit A of the appplication is the application form (Form 44).

Exhibit B is a supporting statement on behalf of applicants:

“This following statement is submitted in support of the application to enter into the register
of Village Greens the land known as Church Field, Hilperton, (see Exhibit A).

Page 17 of 29
Page 57



11.2

The land has been used by the local community for a period in excess of 20 years. The
Hilperton historic society has evidence of the field being used during the war as a runway
for aircraft (US Army Air Corp L-4 Grasshopper reconnaissance aircraft) and we cannot find
any evidence to suggest that it has not been in continuous use by the community to the
present day.

The field has been used for lawful sports and pastimes, as of right, including dog walking,
snowman building, kite flying, ballgames and camping, a full list is provided in the appendix
to this statement. A number of local organisations such as the local pre-school and
Brownie/Scout groups have also used Church Field for various activities including nature
trails and sports.

We have collected together witness statements from members of the Hilperton community
who used Church field over a period stretching from 1980 to present. These same
members of the community have also provided us with photos taken during this period of
various uses of the field, such as snowman building and nature trails.

These letters witness that the signatories have used Church Field as Village Green as of
right without let or hindrance, and on no occasion have the owners or controllers of the land
challenged their use of the land. That every part of Church Field has been used by the
witnesses and that there has not been a period where use of Church Field has been
prevented.”

“Appendix — summary of uses of the land from witness statements

Kite flying

Running/walking for relaxation
Building snowmen

Dog walking

Ball games

Socialising

Building dens

Creating dance routines
Creating memories
Rounders/football/cricket
Scouts/brownies/pre-school activities
Nature trails

Camping

Air Ambulance landing

W — unreadable text”

Exhibit C is a collection of 33 pages of undated photographs showing activities on the
applicant land:

1. Dog walking games with ball 2. 6 people building large (8ft plus) snowman
3. 9 people with same snowman 4. 2 people with same snowman

5. 8 people & dog with same snowman 6. Snowman in middle of field

7. Snowman 8. Dog in snow

9. Snowman 10. 2 walkers in snow

11. 2 walkers and dog in snow 12. 2 walkers in snow

13. 2 walkers and dog in snow 14. Old picture of 9 men in uniform

15. Walkers and dogs 16. Walkers and dogs

17. Meadow flowers 18. Poppies

Page 18 of 29
Page 58



11.3

11.4

11.5

11.6

11.7

11.8

12

19. 11 people and large snowman

21. Aircraft photography
23. 8 people and snowman

25. C. 16 St Michael’s children waking

27. Man walking dog

29. Landscape photography
31. Brownie, adult and cows
33. Children playing in snow

20.
22.
24.
26.
28.
30.
32.

Report of use of field in the 1940s
4 people and snowman in 1999

9 people and several dogs

9 St Michaels children
Photography of rainbow

2 walkers and dog in snow
Children playing in snow

Exhibit D is 33 signed statements from people who have used the land. Of the 34 people,
32 live (or lived in Hilperton at the time of their use), 1 gives her address as St Michael’s
Pre-school, Hilperton and 1 lives close by but in Trowbridge. A summary of their evidence
produced by the case officer for Wiltshire Council is attached at APPENDIX 1

All 33 users have used the land within the period of 1997 to 2017 with 13 of them having it
used it for the full 20 years. All bar 1 have seen others using the land.

No users have been challenged or seen any sign or notice prohibiting their use. They

report that their use has been uninterrupted.

A range of activities carried out by witnesses include:

Dog walking 25 people
Walking 12 people
Snowmen and igloos 10 people
Kite flying 9 people
Rounders 7 people
Football/cricket/rugby 7 people
Ball games 5 people
Picnics 5 people
Blackberry picking 3 people
Meeting friends 3 people
French cricket 3 people
Building dens 2 people
Running 2 people
Frisbee 2 people

Exhibit E is the Land Registry search for the land.

Exhibit F is a plan showing the boundaries of Hilperton Parish which is the claimed locality
for the purposes of this application.

OBJECTIONS AND REPRESENTATION TO THE APPLICATION

The application was duly advertised (Form 45) between the 215 July and the 4™ September
2017. 3 Objections and 1 representation in support were received.

1) R and H Craddock (objection)

New Barn Farm
Whaddon Lane
Hilperton

BA14 7RN

Page 19 of 29

Page 59



121

12.2

2) Rosemary Sims (objection)
16 St Mary’s Close
Hilperton Marsh
Trowbridge
BA14 7PW

3) Goughs Solicitors — acting for Roger Pike deceased (objection)
Dave Powell
Ramsbury House
30 Market Place
Devizes
SN10 1JG

4) E Clark (representation in support)
75 Westmoreland Avenue
Hornchurch
Essex
RM11 2EF

R and H Craddock

“‘Reference: Form 45 Commons Act 2006 section 15(1). Notice of Application for the
registration of land as a Town or Village Green

| am writing to express my disgust at the above reference. Church Field has been farmed
by 3 generations — Amor Pike, Norman Pike and Roger Pike. Roger retired from actively
farming in 1988 and remains the owner letting this land in question on a grass keep basis to
neighbouring farmers, formerly R Fyffe of Lower Paxcroft Farm and more recently Richard
Vigar from Poplar Far, Wingfield who have all farmed it as part of their commercial business
without interruption up until the present day.

There has been no “lawful sports and pastimes on this land” and any suggestions to the
contrary are untrue, and if so, any such use would be regarded as unlawful and trespass.

We the Craddock family have been close neighbouring farmers since 1933 and can confirm
that to the best of our knowledge no such use has been suggested or ever taken place,
other than pedestrians having use of the designated footpaths HILP1, HILP2, HILP3 &
HILP4 which are clearly marked on the council rights of way website for all to view.

Mr Roger Pike has more recently donated land for the village allotments and we feel that
his generosity is now being taken for granted. He has now been forced to defend his
property and in his early 90’s he shouldn’t have to endure this anxiety.

To conclude we strongly feel that this application should NOT be included in the Town and
Village Greens register.”

Mrs R Sims

“I wish to register my objection to the proposed application of “Church Field” in Hilperton
Village as a “Village Green”.

My responses are as follows: -

Page 20 of 29
Page 60



12.3

12.4

12.5

1) There is already a Green Space in the village. The playing field beside the Village hall,
which is used for all the things a village green needs, i.e. fetes, football etc.

2) There is no wildlife to speak of on this field, the rook population has declined by half
since the “Road to No Where” (Elizabeth Way) was started. | walk these fields regularly. |
have counted the nests in use fall from around 30 to around 14 this last spring.

3) This site will not be cultivated to “Village Green” standards, but left mostly to grass,
roughly kept and used as it is presently, by dog walkers and people using the existing 2
footpaths that cross this field.

4) The only reason this field has been selected is that it is the last “Green Space” between
Trowbridge & Hilperton Village. Should this field be built on, then Hilperton would be just
another “suburb” of Trowbridge and loose its village status, which it is determined to hang
on to!!

5) I trust and hope this application is very carefully and great consideration given to any
objections raised regarding this matter.”

Goughs Solicitors acting for Mr R Pike

The objection made on behalf of Mr Pike is appended to this report at APPENDIX 2. The
objection comprises:

i) Notice of Objection

i) RP1 — Deeds relating to the applicant land

iii) Copies of : R Cheltenham Builders Ltd v South Gloucestershire District Council [2003]
EWHC 2803 (admin) and Richard Naylor v Essex County Council v Silverbrook Estates Ltd,
Diana Humphreys, Tendring District Council [2014] EWHC 2560 (Admin)

iv) Statement of Richard Vigar

v) Statement of Richard Fyfe

vi) Statement of Roger Pike

E Clark

“I have seen the Wiltshire Council notice dated 21 July regarding a village green application
for Church Field.

| wish to add my support to the application.

| have used the field, and others in Hilperton Gap, for twenty-one years. My first use was
simply when | was taken there for walks by my parents. Over the years | have since used
the field for many uses including blackberrying, playing football, building snowmen,
paintballing in the hedgerow and dog walking. | still use the field for dog walking when | am
in Hilperton.

I did not, and do not, remain on either the ‘public’ or ‘other’ footpaths but used/use the
whole of the field and its hedges. At no time have | ever been asked to leave by the owner
or anyone else and my use of the field has been in broad daylight.”

Hilperton Parish Council

Page 21 of 29
Page 61



13

13.1

14

15

This representation in support was received on the 18" January 2018, outside of the
advertisement period. However, it is included here for completeness:

‘Re. Village Green Application — Church Field, Hilperton

At its meeting on the 16" January 2018, Hilperton Parish Council resolved to fully support
this application, and it has no objection to Church Field being registered as a Town or
Village Green.”

APPLICANT’S COMMENTS ON THE OBJECTIONS AND REPRESENTATION

Copies of the objections and representation were sent to the applicant on the 25™ October
2017. The response deadline was set as being the 8" January 2018 but extended on
request from the applicant to the 5" February 2018 and again to the 2"* March 2018. All
interested parties were kept informed.

The applicant’s response to the objections and representation was received on the 27"
February 2018 and is appended here at APPENDIX 3. The response comprises:

i) Letter of response

ii) Summary of Time and Usage of Church Field

iii) Additional photographs 1 to 17b

iv) Additional evidence letters Herlinger, A Sawyer, Clark, House, Bowden, Hoskins, Hayes
and S Sawyer.

OBJECTORS’ RESPONSES TO APPLICANT’S COMMENTS

Copies of the applicant's comments referred to at paragraph 13 were sent to the 3 objectors
(and to Mr Clark who had made a representation in support) on the 8" March 2018. The
deadline for responses was the 13" April 2018. Officers had no objection to an extension
to this period and one response was received from Goughs Solicitors. This was received
on the 30" April 2018. This appended here at APPENDIX 4.

CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL

The Council, in its role of Commons Registration Authority has a duty to determine this
application. The legal tests that must be satisfied for registration of the land as a town or
village green are contained within s.15(2) of the Commons Act 2006:

Commons Act 2006
15 Registration of greens

(1)  Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register land to which
this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where subsection (2), (3) or (4)
applies.

(2) This subsection applies where —

(@)  a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood
within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land
for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b)  they continue to do so at the time of the application.

Page 22 of 29
Page 62



15.1

15.2

15.3

15.4

15.5

15.6

15.7

15.8

In considering whether, on the balance of probabilities (that is, it is more likely than not), a
significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or any neighbourhood within a locality,
have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20
years it is helpful to break down the requirements as follows:

The locality

The claimed locality if the civil parish of Hilperton. Officers are satisfied that this is a
qualifying locality and that the applicant adduces evidence from users who live or have lived
in the parish of Hilperton.

A significant number of the inhabitants

Population numbers for the parish of Hilperton from census information are as follows:

YEAR NUMBER
1991 2632
2001 4284
2011 4967

The original application adduced evidence of use from 33 individuals. This was
supplemented by statements from 8 additional users of the land by the applicant in their
submission in response to the objectors’ comments (APPENDIX 3). 6 of these adduced
evidence of use covering the whole of the 20 year period 1997 to 2017. The total of users
giving statements regarding their use throughout or during the 20 year period is therefore
41.

Figures for 1997 are not known but even if at 1991 levels, taken at its highest the
application adduces evidence from just less than 2% of the population of the parish.

The case of R(Alfred McAlpine Homes) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76
(Admin) established that the term ‘significant’ did not mean a considerable or substantial
number but needed to be sufficient to show that the land is in general use by the local
community for informal recreation, rather than just occasional use by individuals.

The applicant land is in full view of a number of adjoining properties and some users in
support of the application have stated that they frequently see people on the land. Aerial
photography supports that the land has many well trodden paths leading across and
around it. However, the land is well served by public footpaths which lead across and
through it (see this report paragraph 7) and these footpaths coincide with some of the
trodden paths. The landowner’s property is approximately 35 metres from the land but
visibility is probably obstructed by another property. 3 properties have garden gates into
the field. These cannot have been missed by the owner or holder of the grazing licence.

Accordingly any landowner would not be surprised to see the public in the parts of the field
where the footpaths lead and the landowner accepted that “some inhabitants of the local
area regularly use these rights of way while, for example, walking their dogs”. However, the
presence of trodden paths in other areas of the field (especially the northern third or quarter
of the field and around the perimeter) would have alerted any landowner to some form of
activity occurring in the field. Additionally activities that clearly spread out from the rights of

Page 23 of 29
Page 63



15.9

15.10

15.11

15.12

15.13

15.14

way (for example French cricket or Frisbee) would appear different to any observer.
Although it is not known where the snowmen were built in the field they would have
remained in position long after the remainder of the snow had thawed and would have been
very obvious to any observer of the land. Built on a right of way a snowman would be an
obstruction.

The landowner considers that evidence of use is light and that it does not represent a
significant number of the inhabitants. There is also a conflict of evidence regarding multiple
user evidence from different family members.

The law is clear that it is “the inhabitants” that must be considered and it does not require
evidence to be considered from households instead of individuals. Individual use will vary
considerably and officers are content to accept that while some family members walked the
dog or picked blackberries, other family members played as children or played rounders or
French cricket. Frequency and years of use also vary between individuals. Anyone
observing the use would not differentiate between families or households but would merely
see people using the land.

As of right

Qualifying use must be ‘as of right’ and not ‘by right’. Use that is ‘as of right’ is without
permission, without force and without secrecy. Use that is ‘by right’ is pursuant to a given
authority to do so. For example it is without question that use of the public footpaths for
walking, with usual accompaniments (i.e. a dog or pram) is ‘by right’ and that such use
cannot qualify for registration of the land as a village green where it is coincident with the
line of the paths. Any use of the paths as ‘A to B’ routes must be discounted for the
purposes of village green registration as must some straying off the path by people and
dogs; the application should demonstrate that there was a general use of the land for
recreation which is not explicable as use of the right of way, however widely interpreted.

No users claim that they sought or had permission to use the field, nor that they used force
or conducted their activities in secret. The landowner in his objection recalled that he “has
been asked for permission by potential users of Church Field to carry out certain activities
there”. For example he recalled being asked for permission for Hilperton School (when it
was at the Knap) to camp and pitch tents in the field. The applicant consider that this was
outside of the relevant period. The landowner does not claim to have granted permission to
St Michael’s Pre-school to use the land though disputes that they did so, considering it
being more likely that they used land that was closer to their school.

There are no reports of any signs on the land indicating that use of the wider field was by
permission or that permission was needed. The presence of so many rights of way would
have made it difficult for a landowner to erect signs that weren’t misleading (since the public
are invited onto the land ‘by right’ on the public footpaths) but it is noted that there were
none.

Lawful sports and pastimes

Lawful sports and pastimes can be any number of a range of activities including several of
the activities that this application claims to have taken place on the applicant land. They
may be formal or informal, seasonal, personal or with others. They may be taken together
and whilst some uses may not cover all times (for example seasonal activities such as
blackberry picking or making snowmen) they must, as a whole, have been exercised
continuously throughout the period.

Page 24 of 29
Page 64



15.15

15.16

15.17

15.18

15.19

15.20

15.21

Activities stated for this application that have been approved by the courts include children
playing, informal cricket, football, rounders, bird watching, picnics, kite flying, taking dogs
for walks, wandering or promenading and recreational walking. Additionally blackberrying
and snowballing are likely to be considered to be lawful sports and pastimes.

The landowner disputes that ‘socialising’, ‘creating dance routines’, creating memories’ and
‘air ambulance landing’ are to be considered as lawful sports and pastimes. Officers agree
that use by the Air Ambulance is unlikely to be considered thus or indeed that creating
dance routines was likely to have been a regular occurrence, especially since it was not
mentioned by many people, however, the general term ‘socialising’ may well be included in
the term ‘promenading’ as referred to in Appendix 3 of the Open Spaces Society “Getting
Greens Registered”:

“‘wandering or promenading by way of pastime, recreational walking: ‘Popular amusement
takes many shapes; and there is no outdoor recreation so general and perennial as the
promenade” Abercromby v Fermoy Town Commissioners (1900) 1 IR 302.”

On the land

The whole of the field has been claimed for registration as a town or village green. This
may include land with rights of way across it (provided that use extends beyond them) and
it is not necessary for the applicant to demonstrate that all of the land was used for all of the
sports and pastimes. However, any activity that causes substantial interference with the
public use will be viewed as an interruption to use and will prevent registration.

No users claim any interruption to use of any part of the land. The landowner considers
that the taking of a hay crop forms an interruption to use as does the grazing of the field by
cattle. A grazing licence to Mr Fyfe was in place for the whole of the relevant period (1997
to 2017). This permitted the grazing of the land for part of the year and for a hay or silage
crop to be taken. Mr Fyfe’s statement confirms that he took an annual silage crop from the
field in June. Itis noted that harvesting grass cut for silage is less intrusive than for hay as
drying and turning processes are longer for hay.

It is known that these activities took place in a field crossed by several public rights of way.
The rights of way were not obstructed by that use of the land and were not closed to
accommodate it. Claims that dog walkers stayed out of the field when the cattle were in it
(potentially from after the June silage cut to December) seem highly unlikely and is not
supported by any users of the land. Indeed, if cattle were to have this effect on the 4 rights
of way in the field for a period of up to 6 months they would be deemed to be an
obstruction; which they are not.

It is difficult to see therefore that if use continued on the rights of way that use of the wider
field could not have also continued uninterrupted. Photograph 6b of the applicant’s
response to the objections (Appendix 3) shows 7 people and 3 dogs using the land over
long cut grass and photograph 9 of the same appendix shows a Brownie talking to a cow
in 1992. Both photographs were taken outside of the relevant period (pre and post
application) but do demonstrate the principle that these farming activities continued
alongside public access. There is no evidence of any segregation, division or protection by
use of electric fencing or any other temporary means.

In R(Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire County Council [2003] EWHC 1578 it was held
in the High Court that the annual gathering of a hay crop was incompatible with the use of

Page 25 of 29
Page 65



15.22

15.23

15.24

15.25

15.26

the land as a village green. The landowner relies upon the judgement in Laing Homes
being fatal to the registration of the land as a Town or Village Green.

In Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council [2006] 2 AC 674 para 57 Lord
Hoffman commented that he did not agree that low level agricultural activities must be
regarded as having been inconsistent with use for sports and pastimes if in practice they
were not.

“67. There is virtually no authority on the effect of the Victorian legislation. The 1857 Act
seems to have been aimed at nuisances (bringing on animals or dumping rubbish) and the
1876 Act at encroachments by fencing off or building on the green. But | do not think that
either Act was intended to prevent the owner from using the land consistently with the rights
of the inhabitants under the principle discussed in Fitch v Fitch (1798) 2 Esp 543. This was
accepted by Sullivan J in R (Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire County Council [2004] 1
P & CR 573, 688. In that case the land was used for “low level agricultural activities” such
as taking a hay crop at the same time as being used by the inhabitants for sports and
pastimes. No doubt the use of the land by the owner may be relevant to the question of
whether he would have regarded persons using it for sports and pastimes. No doubt the
use of the land by the owner may be relevant to the question of whether he would have
regarded persons using it for sports and pastimes as doing so “as of right”. But, with
respect to the judge, | do not agree that the low level agricultural activities must be
regarded as having been inconsistent with use for sports and pastimes for the purposes of
section 22 if in practice they were not....”

In R(Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2010] UKSC 11 the Supreme Court
considered that shared use of land could give rise to a town or village green where
there was evidence that some users deferred to other users of the land.

At paragraph 28 Lord Walker in considering the judgement of Sullivan J in Laing Homes
says:

“28 ....Taking a single hay crop from a meadow is a low level agricultural activity compatible
with recreational use for the late summer and from then until next spring. Fitch v Fitch
(1797) 2 Esp 543 is venerable authority for that. That is not to say that Laing Homes was
wrongly decided, although | see it as finely — balanced...”

And at paragraph 36:

“36...1 have no difficulty in accepting that Lord Hoffman was absolutely right, in Sunningwell
[2000] 1 AC 335 to say that the English theory of prescription is concerned with “how the
matter would have appeared to the owner of the land” (or if there was an absentee owner,
tfo a reasonable owner who was on the spot). But | have great difficulty in seeing how a
reasonable owner would have concluded that the residents were not asserting a right to
take recreation on the disputed land, simply because they normally showed civility (or, in
the inspector’s word, deference) towards members of the golf club who were out playing
golf. It is not as if the residents took to their heels and vacated the land whenever they saw
a golfer. They simply acted (as all members of the Court agree, in much the same terms)
with courtesy and common sense.....”

Lewis v Redcar makes it clear that actions of deference and acting in a courteous manner
are no bar to use being ‘as of right’ and do not amount to an interruption to use. At
Hilperton the users of the public footpaths must have deferred to the agricultural use at the
time the silage was being cut or baled and it is logical to accept that their use of the greater

Page 26 of 29
Page 66



15.27

15.28

15.29

15.30

15.31

16.

16.1

16.2

area of land would have been similarly directed for those relatively brief and infrequent
times that the crop was being cut and taken.

Unlike in the Laing Homes case where a hay crop was taken, the land at Hilperton was
used only for silage. Mr Fyfe says in his statement that “As far as | can recall, in each year
throughout the 27 years or so in which | had Grasskeep Arrangements for Church Field, |
first mowed the land for silage in around June, and after that | would graze livestock,
primarily cattle, on the whole of Church Field.”

Additionally. In Laing Homes there were other potentially disruptive processes associated
with the hay crop. There was harrowing, rolling with a three ton roller and fertilising; none
of which are activities described by Mr Fyfe. Hay crops require considerably more drying
and turning than silage crops where moisture levels can be much higher. If silage is
collected and clamped it can be off the field very rapidly after cutting. If silage is baled it will
still be taken off the field much quicker than hay. In Laing Homes the judge considered the
level of agricultural activity associated with the hay crop (including the growing and cutting
of the grass) to be an interruption to lawful sports and pastimes. In this case however,
many of the activities are compatible with long or cut grass, for instance it is still possible to
play with a ball, to play Frisbee or to promenade over long or cut grass. It is a matter of fact
and degree.

At least 20 years

The application is made under s.15(2) where use continues up to the date of application. In
this case therefore the twenty year period is from April 1997 to April 2017.

Any evidence referring to events after this date (for example many of the applicant’s
photographs adduced after the application was submitted) must be disregarded for the
purposes of this application.

The application adduces evidence extending back to the 1970s and covers the 20 year
period 1997 to 2017.

Reasons for recommendation

The council has a duty to determine the application. The council has the power to accept
the evidence adduced with the application and register the land as a town or village green
or it may refuse the application and not register the land. The landowner has raised a
number of points in objection to the application which the council has a duty to consider in
a reasonable manner. The council must remain impartial throughout the determination
process.

In summary the matters highlighted by the objectors are as follows:

i) Can the evidence of multiple family members be taken?

i) Is the evidence from a significant number of the inhabitants?

iii) Was use by permission?

iv) Was use by right owing to the presence of the rights of way?

V) Are socialising, creating dance routines and creating memories lawful sports and
pastimes?

vi) Is use of the land for grazing cattle and taking a silage crop a bar to registration?

vii)  How were the witnesses motivated?

Page 27 of 29
Page 67



16.3

16.4

16.5

viii)  How credible is some of the evidence?

Officers have considered the evidence and the objections and consider that the opinion of

an expert in this area of law would greatly assist the Council in coming to a decision on the

application. In particular a non-statutory public inquiry where witnesses could give their

evidence verbally and possibly under cross examination would expand and elucidate the

following points especially:

a) Is there sufficient evidence from a significant number of inhabitants?

b) Has use been by permission?

C) Have the agricultural activities prevented registration?

d) Is the evidence sufficient to demonstrate use of the whole field and not just the public
rights of way?

Where matters of evidential interpretation are not clear the Council is bound by the Court of
Appeal judgement in R(Christopher John Whitmey) and The Commons Commissioners
[2004] EWCA Civ. 951

In considering the duty of the Commons Commissioners to determine disputed applications
for registration of town or village greens under s.13 of the Commons Registration Act 1965
Lady Justice Arden at paragraphs 26 onwards:

“26. In my judgement, there are three ways in which disputes as whether land should be
registered as a green under section 13 can be determined. First, there can be an
application to the court at any time for a declaration that a property is or is not a
village green for the purposes of the Act. Second the registration authority could
itself determine the matter. Third, following registration a dissatisfied party can apply
to the court for rectification of the register under section 14(b) of the 1965 Act.

27....

28.  As to the second option, the registration authority is not empowered by statute to
hold a hearing and make findings which are binding on the parties by a judicial
process. There is no power to take evidence on oath or to require the disclosure of
documents or to make orders as to costs (as the Commons Commissioners are able
to do: section 17(4) of the 1965 act). However, the registration authority must act
reasonably. It also has power under section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972
to do acts which are calculated to facilitate, or are incidental or conducive, as to the
discharge of their functions. This power would cover the institution of an inquiry in
an appropriate case.

29. In order to act reasonably, the registration authority must bear in mind that its
decision carries legal consequences. If it accepts the application, amendment of the
register may have a significant effect on the owner of the land or indeed on any
person who might be held to have caused damage to a green and thus to have
incurred a penalty under section 12 of the Inclosure Act 1857. (There may be other
similar provisions imposing liability to offence or penalties). Likewise if it wrongly
rejects the application, the rights of the applicant will not receive the protection
intended by Parliament. In cases where it is clear to the registration authority that
the application or any objection to it has no substance, the course it should take will
be plain. If however, that is not the case, the authority may well properly decide,
pursuant to its powers under section 111 of The 1972 Act, to hold an inquiry. We are
told that it is the practice for local authorities so to do either by appointing an
independent inspector or by holding a hearing in front of a committee. If the dispute

Page 28 of 29
Page 68



is serious in nature, | agree with Waller LJ that if the registration authority itself has
to make a decision on the application (c.f. paragraphs 30 and 31 below), it should
proceed only after receiving the report of an independent expert (by which | mean a
legal expert) who has at the registration authority’s request held a non-statutory
public inquiry.

30. One advantage of such an inquiry is that the proceedings can take place with some
degree of informality and utilising a flexible approach to procedure..... The authority
may indeed consider that it owes an obligation to have an inquiry if the matter is of
great local interest....”

16.6 Waller L J agreed and at paragraph 66 said:

“66. | make these points because the registration authority has to consider both the
interests of the landowner and the possible interest of the local inhabitants. That means
that there should not be any presumption in favour of registration or any presumption
against registration. It will mean that, in any case where there is a serious dispute, a
registration authority will almost invariably need to appoint an independent expert to hold a
public inquiry, and find the requisite facts, in order to obtain the proper advice before
registration.”

17. RECOMMENDATION

That a non-statutory public inquiry is held before an expert in this area of law to test
all evidence and to make a recommendation to assist the Council make a decision
on the application.

Sally Madgwick
Definitive Map and Highway Records Team Leader
Wiltshire Council

05 February 2019

Page 29 of 29
Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2A.1 to WAPC report 20.01.2021

Summary of User Evidence from Exhibit D- relevant period 1997 — 2017 APPENDIX 1
No | Name Period of | Years of use | Nature of own use Nature of observed use Notes
use in in rel. period
years
1 S Kotevska 26 20 With pupils looking at insects and | Flying kites, walking dogs St Michael’s Pre-School
nature. Access route. and jogging Manager

Never questioned about
being in the field. No signs
saying the field is private.
Includes photos of children
in field (undated)

Bed

Wi

2 G Kehily 1998 — 19 Walking dog (1999 — 2013) Dog walkers Includes photos taken in
2017 Flying kites with children 2002 of his son and dog in
) Running the field
Walking for relaxation
| 3 K Lacey No more Not known Playing rounders and other ball No comments No signs
\ than 25 games (as a child) Never sought permission
years Picnics (as a child)
Having fun (as a child)
With own children and dog all of
whom can run free here
4 R Huggins 19 19 Walking dogs (at least 5 times Socialises with other dog Never challenged or
per week) owners prevented. No signs that
Play area for children land is private and never
taking exercise sought permission
Safe route to and from school
5 | A Sawyer 1974 — 20 As a short cut Other dog walkers No signs and has not been

2017 Since 1998 walked dogs told use was not
permissible




walking footpaths

Picnics

Own children played there
Puppy training

Snowman building
Photography

build a snowman....whole
community came together.
Hot toddies shared,
snowmen and igloos built,
snow ball fights..at lunch
time many dispersed and
some retired to the (pub)”

No | Name Period of | Years of use | Nature of own use Nature of observed use Notes
use in in rel. period
years
6 C Barker Not more Not more than | Rounders Other children playing Witness is a minor
than 14 14 Football with friends rounders and football
Walking dog
Treasure Hunt at Easter
Built snowmen and an igloo
7 | J Goodwin 30 20 Walking the perimeter, down the | Dog walkers Lives in bungalow next to
side and across the middle Children playing applicant land
Kicking a ball
Flying a kite
Family walks
0 Keep fit circuit
Q Runners
«
8 T Clark 1995 — 20 With friends kicking footballs Activities with friends as Use reduced to dog
Rf 2017 Throwing rugby balls own use walking in about 2009
Picking blackberries
Playing paintball
Picnics
Building snowmen
Walking dogs
9 Revd Clark 1992 — 20 Wild flower spotting “...it snowed...many phone
2017 Playing ball or Frisbee while calls...to meet in field to




walk dog and daughter, ball
games, meet friends, watch
sunset.

No | Name Period of | Years of use | Nature of own use Nature of observed use Notes
use in in rel. period
years

10 | R Coles 1978 — 19 Children’s play, flying kites, Dog walking often large Had a gate leading directly
2016 building snowmen, dog walking groups into field. Walked dogs

and other activities. daily 1990 to 2015.

11 | W Coles Born 1984. | 4 Played there as a child with Parents house had a gate
As a friends, pretending to ride leading directly into field.
young horses, make up dance routines,
child and design obstacle courses for
teenager dogs, running round and making
(c.1989 — dens.

2000)
ay) 12 | J Davies 1998 — 18 Walks, playing football and Especially popular with Used regularly but did
% 2017 rugby. Dog walking. people walking dogs degree at Portsmouth Uni.
YW'13 | C Davies 1998 — 18 Walks, ball games with children Invariably sees many other | Have used the field
a! 2017 who also ran around the field. local people using the field | “hundreds of times”
Walking route into Trowbridge.
Dog walking (2007 — 2015)

14 | T Davies 1998 — 18 Weekend walks around the field. | Typically would see 3 or 4 Used the field on hundreds

2017 1998 — 2010 kite flying and ball groups of people in the field | of occasions and regularly
games. 2008 — 2015 dog often more
walking. Walking route to
Trowbridge.

15 | S Kenich 1987 — 20 As a child for walking and playing | Meets new and old friends
2017 with family and dog. Now uses to




) abed

and Guide badges. Walked dogs
most days.

No | Name Period of | Years of use | Nature of own use Nature of observed use Notes
use in in rel. period
years
16 | Kand C Warr 2007 - 10 Walking. Cross the field as a Mrs Warr lived for 20yrs Notes that a few houses
2017 short cut to church. elsewhere in Hilperton and | have gates onto the field.
saw many people access
the field. Current house
overlooks the field and they
see many people walking
and running in the field.
17 | land A Moore 1997 — 20 Dog walking. Children playing Walkers and joggers, His mother walked dogs in
2017 football. games, kite flying etc the field in the 1960s
) 18 | N Walker 2008 — 9 Dog walking twice a day around | Dog walking and sun Recalls cows in the field.
2017 the circumference and on FPs. bathing. Also that Hilperton Parish
Council planted trees in
l the field
19 | L, Mand S Wilcox | 1996 — 20 Dog walking, Children’s activities, flying Some dog walkers drive
2017 kites and model there from elsewhere
aeroplanes. Brownies,
Scouths and cubs nature
activities and camping.
Exercise, games, walking
and running.
20 | H Davies 1998 — 19 Walking and dog walking 2007 — | Many other people enjoying
2017 2015 walking around the field
21 | J A SWaring 1983 - 18 Her children made daisy chains, | Kite flying, model
2015 camps and practised for Brownie | aeroplanes.




) abed

Almost daily use.

No | Name Period of | Years of use | Nature of own use Nature of observed use Notes
use in in rel. period
years
22 | K J Waring 1983 - 18 Almost daily dog walking and Seemed like a public space.
2015 training Other dog walkers.
23 | C Hart 2007 — 10 French cricket, rounders, kite Brownies bug hunts, nature | The entire field is in use
2017 flying, wild flower collecting. Dog | trails and map reading. not just the footpath
walking from 2009.
24 | P hart 2007 — 10 but as a Walking dog (roughly 1716 Plays football, French
2017 (born | child times). Built snowmen and cricket and Frisbee with
2003) igloos. Football, French cricket, | friend
Frisbee. Watching sunsets.
) 25 | H Hart 2007 - 10 Walking with dog and family. Local schools and clubs for | Children used to watch
2017 Two children building snowmen, | treasure hunts and trails by | planes coming and going
playing rounders, football, flying running club. in 1944
l kites and playing with friends.
' 26 | | Hart 2007 — 10 Walking, cartwheeling and Can see field from her
2017 cycling. Helicopters and a hot air | bedroom. Perhaps 100
balloon have landed there. people come and go during
the day. Often in groups.
27 | S Lacey 1992 — 20 Walked dogs and children. Regularly sees everyone
2017 Played rounders, cricket, flown having a lovely time in the
kites and had fun with snow. field when she visits the
cemetery
28 | H Whitehead 2008 — 9 Walks with children, to town, dog | People use it as open
2017 walking, socialising and running. | space.




9/ abed

No | Name Period of | Years of use | Nature of own use Nature of observed use Notes
use in in rel. period
years
29 | E Clark 1993 - 20 Annual blackberry picking, Meet others for socialising
2017 wandered at will with young son, | when snowing
dog walked almost daily from
2002. Played football, kite flying,
snowball fights etc with sons.
30 | D Harvey 1993 - 20 Picnics and rounders. Model planes. Air
2017 Blackberry picking in autumn, Ambulance practices here.
birdwatching in spring and Dog walking, flying kites
snowman building in winter. Has | and children chasing each
used all parts of the field. other.
1
31 | S Harvey 1993 — 20 Dog walking, kite flying and The field is busy with dog
2017 occasional picnic. walkers and very rarely is
| there no one in the field
32 | N Harvey 1996 — c.16 Playing, building snowmen, kite
2017 born flying and rounders. Walking
1996 dogs. Building dens and playing
hide and seek.
33 | KWalker 1987 — 20 Dog walking Other dog walkers, children
2017 playing

No users report seeing any signs or having any challenges to their use.




APPENDIX 2A.2 to WAOC 20.01.2021 report
APPENDIX 2

Notice of Objection to application for the registration of Church Field, Hilperton, as a
Town or Village Green

This Objection is made on behalf of Mr Roger Pike of Fairfield House, Nursery Close,
Church Street, Hilperton, Trowbridge, Wiltshire, BA14 7RP (“Mr Pike”) in response to an
application dated 20 April 2017 by ‘Church Field Friends' for the registration of an area of
land known as Church Field, Hilperton, as a Town or Village Green under section 15 of the
Commons Act 2006 (“the Act”) (“the Application”). Mr Pike is the owner of the land at
Church Field, having acquired title to it pursuant to a Deed of Gift from his late father,
Norman Pike, dated 15 September 1959. A copy of that Deed of Gift, together with the
Assent dated 10 July 1953 that is referred to in the Deed (which contains a plan identifying
Church Field as Pt 140 on the Ordnance Survey Map (1936 and 1939 Revisions)) is
attached to this Notice of Objection and marked “RP1”".

The purpose of this Notice of Objection is to set out the grounds on which Mr Pike’s
objection is based. Mr Pike, through his solicitors, has reached an agreement with the
registration authority, Wiltshire Council, that his evidence in support of the grounds stated
herein is to be submitted to the Council within 28 days of this Notice, so by no later than 2
October 2017.

Before setting out the grounds of Mr Pike's objection, it is important to note that ‘Church
Field Friends' have specified that subsection (2) of section 15 of the Act applies to this

Application. Section 15(2) provides as follows;
(2) This subsection applies where—

(@ a significant number of the inhabitants of any tocality, or of any neighbourhood
within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the
land for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.
Grounds of objection
Mr Pike objects to the Application on the following grounds:

1. 33 statements have been provided in support of the Application, and in some
instances (Clark, Coles, Davies, Waring, Hart and Harvey) statements have been
provided by multiple members of the same family, presumably in an attempt to show
that the Application has the support of a greater number of people, notwithstanding
that the family members’ evidence in those instances is essentially the same. In any

Page 77



event, 33 people do not represent a significant number of the inhabitants of any
locality, or neighbourhood within a locality, for the purposes of section 15 of the Act;

It is a requirement of section 15 of the Act that the sports/pastimes in question must
have been indulged in “as of right'. On several occasions throughout the 20-year
period prior to the Application, Mr Pike has been asked for permission by potential
users of Church Field to carry out certain activities there. For example, Mr Pike
remembers being contacted by members of staff at Hilperton School (when it was at
the Knap, Hilperton), who requested permission for the School's pupils to camp/pitch
tents on Church Field;

. There are at least three common law rights of way across Church Field. They are
represented by the black dotted/broken lines on the plan attached to the Application
as Exhibit A. Mr Pike accepts that some inhabitants of the local area regularly use
these rights of way while, for example, walking their dogs. Their use of Church Field
is consistent with their right to walk across it. In other words, their usage of Church
Field has been “by right”, not “as of right” (for an analysis of the differences between
the two, see Naylor v Essex County Council [2014] EWHC 2560 (Admin));

Exhibit B to the Application contains a so-called ‘Summary of uses of the land from
withess statements’. That list contains several spurious alleged uses, including
“Socialising”, “Creating dance routines’, “Creating memories’ and “Air ambulance
landing". To the extent that those alleged uses are capable of amounting to sports or
pastimes (and, for the avoidance of any doubt, it is not accepted that they do), it is
unlikely that those activities have been indulged in with sufficient regularity/frequency
such that they could reasonably be said to count towards the sports/pastimes that
are alleged to have been carried on at Church Field throughout the relevant period,

. For several significant periods of time during the 20 years prior to the Application, Mr
Pike has granted licenses to local farmers for them to graze livestock on Church
Field. It is improbable that the activities alleged in the Application to have been
carried on at Church Field could have done so uninterrupted during the 20-year
period because they were incompatible with the use of the land for grazing livestock
(for a discussion of the impact of such an interruption on what might otherwise be
continuous use for sporis/pastimes, see the Naylor case referred to above),

In light of: (a) other uses of the land during the relevant 20-year period (such as
grazing; and the use of parts of Church Field as an overflow car park for St Michael
and All Angels Church); and (b) it being used primarily in accordance with the

Page 78



common law rights of way which make up only a small part of the land; it cannot
sensibly be said that the whole of Church Field has been used for the alleged
sports/pastimes during the relevant period (see R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South
Gloucestershire Council [2003} EWHC 2803 (Admin));

. Most of the statements made in support of the Application are by persons who can
each attest only to parts of the relevant 20-year period (Thomas Clark, Robert Coles,
Wendy Coles, James Davies, Catharina Davies, Tim Davies, Helen Davies, Kenneth
Warr, Nicola Walker, J.A.S. Waring, K.J. Waring, Chris Hart, Phoebe Hart, Heidi
Hart, Isabelle Hart, Helen Whitehead, Steve Harvey). Accordingly, their evidence is
of limited value in establishing that Church Field has (or, as the case may be, has
not) been used as of right for indulgence in the alleged sports/pastimes throughout

the 20 years;

. With particular reference to the statement by Sonja Kotevska, Mr Pike is surprised by
the assertion that, during the last 26 years or so, children who attend St Michael's
Pre-School “have accessed the whole of Church field on a regular basis, exploring
nature and using it for recreational purposes ... As far as Mr Pike is aware, St
Michael's Pre-School has, for a considerable period of the last 26 years, been based
in the Village Hall, Whaddon Lane. In the grounds of the Village Hall is a large
playing field. It seems improbable that the staff and children at St Michael's Pre-
School would not simply use their own playing field for field trips/nature walks rather
than using Church Field, which is much further away. As for Ms Kotevska's assertion
that “children from Trowbridge utilize the field as safe access to the pre-schoof, that
is simply a reference to the common law rights of way which are dealt with at
paragraph/ground number 3 above;

It is quite clear from a number of the statements from members of the ‘Church Field
Friends' group that many of them are at least partially motivated to support the
Application on account of their desire not to see the land developed on in the future.
That is not one of the criteria for a successful application under section 15 of the Act,
nor is it a factor to be taking into account by the registration authority which
determines the application. The following are some examples of the Church Field
Friends' expressions of their motivations/desires that there should be no
development work on Church Field or further development in Hilperton generally:

(a) Wendy Coles: “/ remember when I first heard the mention of a road being built
across the fields and the possibility of houses. My friends and | devised a
plan to stop the opening of the road (not a particularly solid plan!) and luckily

Page 79



for me it was never built during my time there so we never put our strategy

into action!”;

(b) Kenneth and Catherine Warr: “...if houses were to be built on part of The Gap
in the future, the preservation of Church Field as a continuing venue for
wildlife would become even more important.”,

(c) Ivan and Ayesha Moore: “There are very few such areas remaining in the
districts and it is essential that places of long established leisure and amenity
such as this, combined with its historic farming use, are preserved and
protected from change or future developments.”;

(d) Lucy, Martin & Sian Wilcox: “Villages are a quintessential part of the British
countryside. With village green status for Church Field we will uphold these
traditions and ensure that future generations can enjoy this beautiful part of
the country side.”;

(e) Chris Hart: “Church Field is a place that the residence [sic] of Hilperton go to
socialise, exercise and relax and | believe if it isn't already, should be

preserved for future residence [sic] to use.”,

(f) Sally Lacey: “I think it is very important to keep this field as it will give a gap
between Trowbridge and Hilperton. If this field is not saved the people in
Hilperton will struggle to find somewhere close to go to walk the dog or for
other recreational reasons.”; and

10. Mr Pike is understandably concerned by the letter from Mr Kenneth Warr to Chris
and Heidi Hart dated 28 March 2017 (included within Exhibit D to the Application), in
which Mr Warr suggests that he would remove anything prejudicial to the success of
the application if prompted to do so by Mr and Mrs Hart. Arguably this suggests that
some of the evidence may have been tailored/contrived so that, ostensibly, it meets
the criteria for a successful application under section 15 of the Act rather than simply
representing the facts about the local inhabitants’ use of Church Field during the
relevant period.

Goughs Solicitors
(For and on behalf of Roger Pike)

Dated: 4 September 2017

Page 80



o
E w _
= & g g on
o o \#
S'g ! y
: o B g x
e W L
E'gm i
BeE . § ¥ :
2 ‘.H - : A -
kg u
e " ,_.
3
1
MEMORANDUM:

BY a Deed of Covenant made the 14th day of Jeptembar 1979 between the within
named Roger Plke and Erich Schonfeld and Mary Schonfeld the within named Reger Pike
covenanted not to plant erect or construct eny item on the area hatched Black on the
plan attached to the Deed and to restrict the growth of plents trees and shrubs-on
the land in all respects so as not to interfere with the clear visibility required
from an access way to be built on the Covenanteas' adjoining property

MEMPRAA I g o C"""U"" Lot B Lyl bo 1988 « s-l-'r %
ﬂ_, 0 Iug ool onclgteimin gy 191 Jarzey Rowol Hilperon

-t Comagied i e S-ple 4o Vet Ouprdp, ool Bq,-.r..] Tn.' Ol
(Depreate” ok Aeols) : R

Page 81



o~

A AN 23574
A — 3
SR
ﬁ\_‘_*t.;;-___—_’a\ﬁ Ijl-, N NDEED OF GIPFT is made the
=" Mv";“;,_f,.e‘f \ B ”) / aey ot S S—

and fifty-nine BET W E E N NORMAN PIKE of "Highfield" Trovbridge

in the County of Wilts Farmer (hereinafter called "the Gramtor") of the
one part and ROGER FIKE of Monkton Broughton Gifford in the paid County
of Wilts Farmer (hereinafter called "the Dones®) of the other part
WHEREAS the Grantor i1s seiged of the property hereinafter
described for an estate in fee sgimple in Poseession free from incumbrances
end ig’ desirous of conveying the paid property to the Donee by way of
girt

NOW THIS DEED WITNESSETE that in considerstion of his natural love and
affection for the Donee the Grantor hereby conveys unto the Donee ALIL
TEOSE pieees or parcels of land situste in the parish of Hilperton in the
County of Wilta TOGETHER with the farmhouse and buildings erected thereon
or on some part or paries thereof and known as Church Farnm Hilperton
aforesaid TOGETHER ALSO with the five cottages kmown as KNumbers oy

105, 106, 107 eand 108 High Btreet Hilperton aforesaid All which satd
rremises are more particularly deseribed in the Schedule hereto AND
TOGBTHER ALSO with the benefit of the restrictions stipuletions and
covenants referred to in the Third Schedule to a certain Assent dated
the tenth day of July One thousand nine hundred and fifty-three and

mads by the Grarntor and Harcld Preedy in favour of the Grantop TO HOLD
the same unto the Donee in fee simple Subject to the restrictive
stipulatione covenants amd conditians referred to in the Second Bchedule
to the said Assent.

IR WITNESS whersof the parties hereto have hereunto get their
hends and seals the day ama year first hereinbefors written.
THE BOHEDULE above referred to,.

118 a
s 5-;3;
119e 2-898
1197 1.238
1ll9g o725
Pt izzg 12,071 est.
«619
127 1,311
Pt. ﬁg 14,925 est,
- «953
« 148 5.400 est.
148a 431
Pt. 198 20,500 est,
iRevislon of 1.39;,
T agg o —3e8U5 ’
71.68Y4

Page 82



THE SCHEDULE sbove referred to {contd).

FNo, on 0,8, Map. Ares,
[Revision of _1_'-1-_ 490

71.68L

183 10,821

253 g

21 84060

215 1.754

216 «905

217 7570

LLs 2,619

Total 123,250 Acres

SIGNED SEALED and DELIVERED

ypresence oft-—

- |



| (pntingi ot RN’ ) \ o) M_Jll_lqgg e
@D 1) fuk DNe ko aligus W
LJDJ}G UM L J P\ 'C, M}M A -
“‘WW"@‘ {,{ i, SIRIYIE oy U s

O-

5.

BY a Conveyance dated the- B4 day of February 41970 made betwean
the within named Roger Pike (1) and Tlllle Brad{oni &bneéksm Ran..ci. ia)

t 0. (ber coutain rchee or thereeboute adjoinin
%ﬁ: 12113'2213\,:;,;1&20 the R.I?.)g.lsnyp: Conveyance fated 29th Apr ‘I966g
on the 3est side thereof wee conveyed unto the R,D.C.in fee simple and
its right to production of the within written Dsed was thereby
soknowledged.

MEMORANDUM: BY a Deed of Grant made the 3lst day of December 1971
between the within named Roger Pike (1) and the Southern Blectricity
Board (2) the said Roger Pike granted to the Southern Electricity Board
a right to lay and maintain underground electric lines under the within
described land being paxt of Chuxch Famm Hilperton in the €ounty of
Wilts in fee simple and the Board's right to production of the within
written Deed was thereby acknowledged '

HEMORANDUM; BY a Conveyance dated the 28th doy of hugust 1975 made

between  the ws.'(rhm named Roger Pike (1) and Phyllis Pike (2) Number 108
Church Street (formerly Number 108 High Street) Hilperton in the County
of Wilts and the garden thereto belonging was copveyed unto Phyllis Pike

in fee simple and her right to the production of the within—
Deed was thereby scimowledged =0 written

HIHORANIIIB: BY a Conveyance made the 11th day of August 1976 between the within mamed
Roger Pike andl the Parish Council of Hilperton the said Roger Pike conveyed tc the

Parish Council of Hilperton the Blind Fouse, Hilperton, in fee simple apd acknowledged
their right to the production of the within written Deed of Gift.

MEMORANDUM: BY a Deed of Gift dated the 20th day of March 19?3 and made
between the within named Roger FPike iﬂ and Pamela Joan Pike (2) Numbers
104 and 105 Church Street Hilpaxton in the County of Wilts were ceonveyed
to the saild Pamela Joan Pike in fee simple and her right to the
production of the within written Deed was' thereby acknowledged

MEMORANDUM: BY a Conveyance made the 25th day of 11 1980 between the
within nemed Roger Pike (1) and Stephen Merritt (2) Number 106 Church
Street was conveyed by the said Roger Pike to Stephen Merritt in fse
simple and the right to the producgion of the within written Deed of
Gift was thereby acknowledged

MEMORANDUM: BY a Corveysnce mads the 159th day of February 1962 between
Pamela Joan Plke and the within named Roger Plke (1) and Victor John Crapnell and
Patricla Ann Crapnell (2) the lend formerly forming pert of the gerden land at the

rear of Numbers 106 and 108 Church Street Milperton edged red and hatched green on the
plan snnexed to the sald Corweyance was corweyed by Roger Plke to Victor John Crapnell
and Patrlcla Ann Crapnell and the sald Conveyance contalned an acknowledge for
praduction and underteking for safe keeplng of the within written Deed of Gift

MEM!’RM}MM &.l Py Ce_vlv._q_ Lote 1LYy qu.u;.-..‘l'alelo (L\-Pl:tqk whe
‘hu.J.,] A drodr Blfw loneed, ke part 4 05 0TO6 (don., Iy o) at it
A Sfo/+ S Mickaels Clme H_?I'M\_‘?w MMUE i,:’ V.wz... Lemared
S | Y e Bﬂu'l RS T fre Sf\...rfe- ==

Page 84



. *poBpoTAMOWOY £qoXsYs URA JUOEEY

UelTAM UFYITER 043 3o uorsonpoxd o3 jyuBta ©IY poe oTdwye o8I UF ©NT4 A6H0g PTEE BYY

03 pefoAuco ewam fiaxedoad xeyjo E“l ioygedo] e@eiow §/T°LT Bupuysyuoo duy "g°0 eyl o GLT
‘O)f 5B poqTaossp urysra fjaodoxd eyy g 2240 539 Jo eXjd xeSoy pue 4asd epo "'3 Jo0
S3Fd USHION POmSU-UTYJTA €f4 uosMjeq opEw puw JGET ednp ygpe Blf Pejep SomeABAUO) ¥ X

. o
o e . g
N o £ 3.
o_. ~ ] o 7—'«
Ny UET- 1 = 28 .
e B -é ui 2] E g- ~
T\.‘ .é ] ) (%] v P 0
x| o f S 1 T T
N §§ 2 < s-s 1 ,\ n
| .: » 4 2 \
L7 +» H
A e %
v - )

Page 85



o

-fl
Y

'XFOW ALL MEN BY THIE ASSENT which is made the “éns%  aamy of
Ons thousend nine hundred end fifty three that NORMAN PIKE of Highfield
Hilperton Road Trowbridge in the County of wilts Farmer and HAROLD .
FREEDY of 19 Fore 8treet Trowbridge aforesaid Auctioneer (hereinafter
called "the Representatives”) hereby declare as follows:
1. ’lII[ thils Assent the following sxpreseions shall have the following
meanings that is to say :-
(a) "The Deceased" shall mean Amor Mulline Pike late of Church Farm
Hilperton in the said County of Wilta Retired Farmer deceased who
died on the Fourth day of April One thousand nine hundred end fifty
two and Probate of whose Will was granted to the Representatives out
of the Winchesmter Distriet Probate Reglstry on the Fifth day of _
Auguet One thousand nine hundred and fifty two ... .~ .
(v) "The Owner" shall mean the said Normen Pike — - pe—
2, THE Docessed was at his death entitled at law and in equity and the
Orner is now entitled in equity to the property specified or referred
to in the First Behedule hereto for an estate in fee simple in
possesnion subject as etated in the Second Sohedule hereto but otherwise
free from incumbrances . -
3. THE Representativesas Personal Representativesof the deceased
have not given or made an sssent or conveyance in respect of a legal
Estato in oy affeoting all or any part of the property specified or
referred to in the First Schedule hereto __ e S
h._ﬂ_ﬂigﬂmumtﬂius ap Personal Representatives of the deceased
hereby :-
(&) ABBENT to the vesting in the Owner of ALL the property specifiea
or referrsed {0 .in the Firet Schedule hereta TQ HOLD unto the Owner
in fee simple and for his cen sbsolute use and benefit but subject
ee stated in the second Schedule hereto _ .
(b) ASBIGNS to the Owner sbeolutely the benefit of the rights and
'benet'iilz specified or referred to in the Third Schedule herstio
5. THE Representatives hereby acknowledge the frisht of the Owner to
production of the Probate so granted to the Representatives as .
aforesald (the possession whereof is retained by the Representatives)
and to delivery of coples thereof

IN WITNESS vwhereof the sald parties to these prepents have hereunto

get their hands and meale the day and year first before written.

TEE FIRBT 'BU.HBD a referred to
Psrunulara of the langd to which the above written

Assent relates.

ALL THOSE peveral closes or pleces of land which ere known as Church

Page 86



Parm and are situate in the Pariehes of Hilperton and Trowbridge in
the Oounty of Wilts and comprise in the whole 138.423 ecres or
theresbouts and sre more particvlarly desoridsd hereunder and with the
respeetive boundaries or. ebuttale thereof are (by way of further .. ..
identification but not by way of restriction) delineated on the plan
annexed hereto and are thereon coloured over with the colour pink such
plan being taken rrom the Ordnance Burvey Maps dated in the years One
thousand nine hundred and thirty six and One thousand nine hundred and
thirty nine of the saild Perishes of Hilperton and Trowbridge and the
numbers set out hereunder referring to the corresponding nunibers in Bl
plan Together with the messusge or farmhouse known as Church Farmhouse
and other builainge on the aforegaid pleces or percels of land

No _on Ordnance Survey

Map (1936 and 1939 Deseription. Quantity,
‘Revigions). s
118 Rickyard and skilling « 385
Pt 119 Pasture 6 . 383
Pt 119 e Pasturs 1. 923
119 ¢ Pagture - 1. 238
119 g Pasture « 725
Pt 122 Pasture 12 « 071
126 Pasture . 619
127 Pexrmhouse garden yard 1. 311
Pt 148 ena gibarioines 5. 40O .
148 a Pasture o 431
Pt 198 Pasture 20 . 500
Pt 140 *  Pagture 14 , 850
179 Fasture 17 . 176
.182 Pasture 3. 845
183 Pamture 10 . 821
184 ; Pasture 12 . 685
213 Pasture 7 » 152
214 Pasture 8 . 060
215 - Pasture end shed 1. 754
216 Pasture . 905
217 Papturs 7. 570
4n3 Pasture 2, 619
138 . 423

THE SEOOND SCHEDULE Before referred to.
The lande specified in the First BSohedule before
written are by the above written Assent ‘vested in
the Owner subject eo far as thereby respectively
affected to-the matters following that le to say:
1. As to Ordnence Numbers 179 182 183 and 214 to the restriotions and
stipulatione on the part of the deceased contained in a Conveyance dat
the Sixteenth day of July Ome thousaend nine hundred and twenty three
mede between the decemsed of tha one part end Edgar Leonard H1ll of th

other part

Page 87



2. As to allthe land subject to eny tithe redemption anpuity and all
sapements. a.ftect:lngl the seme

3. The burden of all covenants (whether positive or negative) on the part
of the deceased a.the Representatives and provisions binding on him or
them given or entered into by him or them and ef all rights granted by
him or them on or in with the salee of any lande

THE THIRD SCHEDULE Before referred to

Particulars of richts specifically espigmed by_the
above written Apsent

1. The benefii of the restriotions and stipulations on the part of the
said EAgar Leonard Hill contained in the said Conveyance dated the
Sixteenth day of July One thousand nine hundred and twenty three being

a Conveyance on Saleto the sald Eager Leonara Hill of certain lands at
Hilperton aforesald

2. The benefit of the covenante on the part of the Trowbridge Water
Conmpaeny cidntaitied in two several Conveyances dated respeotively the
Thirty First dey of Deoenber One thousand nine hundrs@ and twenty five
and the Twelfth day of Noveuber One thousand nine hundred and twenty seven
and eaoh made between the deceased of the one part and the Trowbridge
Water Company of the other part being Conveyances on Sales to the
Trowbridge Weter Company of certain lands pituste near to the Devizes
Road at Hllperton aforessid _ _ .
3» The benefit of all covenantes and agreements (whether poeitive or

'negativg) end reservations and other proviemicne im favour af the deceased
or the Representatives obtained by him or them aon or in comneation with
seles of lands fronting the Devizes Road at Ellperton aforesald

4. The benefit of all payments under part VI of the Town and Country
Flanning Act 1947 in respeot of intereste in the lsnds specified in the
First Schedule before written whioch are deprecisted in value by virtue

of the provielone of that Act
SIGNED B and DELIVERED by the .
before named NORMAN PIKE in the

[+}

= presen

BIGNED &1l by the
before nemed HAROLD PREEDY in the
pregence Of ae ap. a4 sr es s

Guktae. Sl "

atr

Page 88



-

lllltl =
e e 2225



In the matter of the Commons Act 2006: Section 156
Application by ‘Church Field Friends’ for registration of Church Field, Hllperton

as a Town or Village Green

e

STATEMENT OF RICHARD VIGAR

1. My name is Richard Vigar. | am a local farmer and have been an active
working partner in our family farming business at Pomeroy Farm, Wingfield,
BA14 9LJ, for many years.

2, | have known Mr Roger Plke, the owner of Church Field in Hilperton, for
approximately 30 years. For a long time, we were both local farmers and have
operated in the same circles.

3. On 13 March 2017, the Vigar family farming partnership, J H Vigar & Son,
entered into a Grazing Licence Agreement with Mr Pike so that we could use
the land at Church Field for agricultural purposes. Attached to this statement
and marked “RV1" is a copy of our Grazing Licence Agreement with Mr Pike. |
am aware that prior to our licence to use Church Field, Mr Richard Fyfe of
Lower Paxcroft Farm, Hilperton, used the field for many years for various
agricultural purposes, including grazing livestock.

4 In June of this year, we cut grass from the entire acreage of Church Field and
used it to make hay. We intend to take another cut of grass from Church Field
quite soon (depending on the weather) to use as silage.

Signed I .. Dated: 3 bm?’“f 7

R Vigar

Page 90



/Ivan

GRAZING LICENCE

AGRICULTURAL TENANCIES ACT 1995

THIS AGREEMENT is made the thirteenth day of March two thousand and seventeen between
Roger Pike, Fairfield House, Nursery Close, Hilperton, Trowbridge BA14 7RP (hereinafter
called the Landlord) and-Riehard Migar, Pomeroy Farm, Wingfield, BA14 9LJ (hereinafter called
the tenant) of the other part. 3 M Vidaa + San

WHEREBY it is mutually agreed as follows:

1. The Landlord agrees to let and the Tenant agrees to take on the land known as 12.7 acres
Hilperton for the period 1st March 2017 to 30th November 2017 in the sum of £1000.

Such rent payable on the commencement of this Agreement.

2. It has been agreed between the Landlord and the Tenant that the land shall be used for
agricultural purposes only and at all times and the Tenant shall be entitled during the
above period to graze with all classes of livestock except pigs.

3 The Tenant shall keep all fences, walls, gates, ditches and water courses in no worse
condition that at the commencement of this Agreement and shall at his own expense put
up all necessary fencing to prevent the escape of stock from said land and to insure for
the escape of any stock from the land onto adjoining land.

4. The Tenant shall keep the pasture land in no worse condition than at the commencement
of the tenancy

5. The Tenant shall not allow the said lands to be injured by excessive treading or pounding
of stock.

6. The Tenant shall not assign the benefit of this Agreement nor give or grant any licence to

any other person or persons for any use of the said land or any part thereof for any
purpose whatsoever.

7 On the termination of this Agreement the Tenant shall leave all walls and hedges in a
condition similar to that in which the same are in at the date thereof.

8. If any dispute shall arise out of this Agreement such a dispute shall be referred to an
Arbitrator to be appointed by the President of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors, whose findings and costs of reference shall be binding on both parties. Such
application will be under the Arbitration Act 1950 and 1996

9. The Tenant will comply with Section 10 of the Agriculture Act 1947 in respect of the

Page 91




rules of good husbandry.

Page 92



In the matter of the Commons Act 2006: Section 15
Application by ‘Church Field Friends’ for registration of Church Field, Hilperton

as a Town or Village Green

STATEMENT OF RICHARD FYFE

My name is Richard Fyfe. | am retired now, but before that | was a farmer at
Lower Paxcroft Farm in Hilperton, which is where I still live with my wife.

For many years, about 27 as far as | can recall, | had agreements in place with
Roger Pike, the owner of Church Field in Hilperton, which were described as
‘Grasskeep Agreements’. Those agreements allowed me to graze livestock on
Church Field and to mow the land for silage and/or hay. | also entered into
‘Deeds of Profit & Prendre’ with Mr Pike and his daughters in respect of other
parts of their land in Hilperton, on what was called Pound Farm.

Copies of some of the Grasskeep Agreements | had in place with Mr Pike, in
particular the agreements for the years 2011, 2012 and 2014, are attached to
this statement and marked “RF1”, “RF2" and “RF3" respectively. As explained
above, these are just some of the agreements that we had — | gather that
copies of the earlier agreements have not been readily available, but | can
confirm that | used the land at Church Field since the 1990s. During the
earlier years, | recall that Mr Pike and | put the agreements together ourselves.
More recently, we have used the services of Davis Meade land agents. Also
attached to this statement are letters that Mr Barry Meade of Davis Meade
sent to me in February 2011, March 2012, February 2013 and March 2013,
about my agreements with Mr Pike (marked "RF4", "RF5", "RF6" and “RF7"
respectively).

As far as | can recall, in each year throughout the 27 years or so in which | had
Grasskeep Agreements for Church Field, | first mowed the land for silage in
around June, and after that | would graze livestock, primarily cattle, on the
whole of Church Field. In around 2014, Elizabeth Way was built next to
Church Field, and that effectively cut across the land that | used for grazing
livestock. From that time onwards, it was no longer suitable for me to graze
livestock on Church Field because my loading pens, which are situated near
Albany Close, became too difficult to access. However, | would still take a cut
of silage from Church Field in June of the years between 2014 and 2017,
which is when | had my last agreement with Mr Pike before | retired.

Dated: 2’01 7




"RF1

GRASSKEEP AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMLNT is made the =~ of two thousand and eleven between
Roger Pike, Failield Ttouse, Nursery Close, Hilperton

(hereinafter called the ‘Vendor’) of the one part and Mr I'yfe, Paxcroft I'arm, Trowbridge
(hereinafter called the Purchaser) of the other part.

WIIEREBY It is mutually agreed as follows:-

The Vendors agree to sell and the Purchascr agrees to purchase the Grasskeep on the
enclosurc known as approximately 12,87 acres of land at Hilperton in the county of
Wiltshire, in the sum of £772.20 (seven hundred and seventy two pounds and twenty

pcnce).

The Purchaser shall be allowed to graze the field with all classes of animals from the 1%
day of March 2010, to 31* day December of 2010,

However, taking into respect that if the land becomes wel the Purchaser shall remove his
stock so as not to poach the land.

The purchase price of £772.20 (seven hundred and seventy two pounds and lwenty
pence)-shall be paid on the signing hereof and this agreement shall be void in the event of

non-payment.

The Purchaser shall be responsible for the straying of his stock and for any damage
caused Lo adjoining lands and will insure his stock [or this purpose.

The Purchaser shall be permilted to mow the land for silage and/or hay.

(1) The Vendors hereby agree that should any quota (especially milk quota) become
attached to the above land through statutory instrument, legislation or by any other means
during the term of the Grasskecp, he will not take any action to secure such quota without
the express consent of the purchaser insofar as such quota relates to the lerms of the
Grasskeep agrecment,

(i1) And if, notwithstanding (i) above, such quota becomes attached to the land by the
process of law, then the Vendor agrees to pay for such quota at open market value or at a
value being the difference in value between the land with the quota and the value of the
land without the quota, whichever shall be the greater.

Page 94



7 If any dispute shall arise out of this sale, such dispute shall be referred to an Arbitrator
under the Arbitration Act 1996 to be mutually appointed by the parties of this agreement
and whose findings and costs of reference shall be binding on both parties (to be
appointed by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors).

Fairfield House
Nursery Close
Hilperton

.............

Richard F
Paxcroft Farm
Trowbridge

bvin/ef/gka Pike 09

Page 95




THIS AGREEMENT is made the of

‘RE2L:

DavisVleade

GRASSKEEP AGREEMENT

two thousand and twelve between

Roger Pike, Faifield House, Nursery Close, Hilperton
(hereinalier called the ‘Vendor®) of the one part and Mr Fyfe, Paxcroft Farm, Trowbridge
(hereinafter called the Purchaser) of the other part.

L

WHEREBY It is mutually agreed as follows:-

The Vendors agree to sell and the Purchaser agrees to purchase the Grasskeep on the
enclosure known as approximatcly 12.87 acres of land at Hilperton in the county of
Wiltshire, in the sum of £900.90 (nine hundred pounds and nincty pence).

The Purchaser shall be allowed to graze the field with all classes of animals from the 1%
day of March 2012, to 51* day December of 2012,

However, taking into respect that if the land becomes wet the Purchaser shall remove his
stock so as not to poach the land.

The purchase price of £900.90 (nine hundred pounds and ninety pencc) shall be paid on
the signing hereof and this agreement shall be void in the event of non-payment.

The Purchaser shall be responsible for the straying of his stock and for any damage
caused to adjoining lands and will insure his stock for this purpose.

The Purchaser shall be permitted to mow the land for silage and/or hay.

D The Vendors hereby agree that should any quota (especially milk quota) become
attached to the above land through statutory instrumcnt, legislation or by any other means
during the term of the Grasskecp, he will not take any action to secure such quota without
the express consent of the purchaser insofar as such quota relatcs to the terms of the
Grasskeep agreement.

(i)  And if, notwithstanding (i) above, such quota becomes attached to the land by the
process of law, then the Vendor agrees to pay for such quota at open market value or at a
value being the difference in value between the land with the quota and the value of the

land without the quota, whichever shall be the greater.

Page 96



-2

7 If any dispute shall arise out of this sale, such dispute shall be referred 1o an Arbitraior
under the Atbitration Act 1996 to be mutually appointed by the parties of this agreement
and whose findings and cosis of reforence shall be binding on both parties (to be
appointed by the Royal [nstitution of Chartered Surveyors).

Signed

Raper Pika
Fairfield I louse
Nursery Close
Hilperton

..............

Trowbridge

Page 97




‘RF3"

GRASSKEEP AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made the of two thousand gud fourteen betwecn
Roger Pike, Fairfield House, Nursery Close, Hilperion, Ms Llizabeth Pike and Mrs Carolyn
Parkinson ¢/o 37 Balmoral Close, Chippenham SN14 0UT (hereinatter called the ‘Owners’) of
the onc part and Richard Fyle, Paxeroll Farm, Trowbridge (hereinafier called the Purchaser) of
the olher part,

WHERLDBY It is mutually agreed as follows:-

l. The Vendors agree to sell and the Purchaser agrees to purchase the Grasskeep on the
cnclosure shown in the schedule attached hereto of approximately 23.56 hectares of land
at lilperton in the county of Wiltshire, in the sum ol £6,000 (six thousand pounds).

2. The Purchasgr shall be allowed io graze the ficld with all cluasses of animals from the 1™
day of March 2014, to 31% day December of 2014,

However, taking into respect that if the land becomes wetl the Purchaser shall remove his
slock so as not to poach the land.

3. The purchase price of £6,000 (six thousand pounds) shall be paid on the signing hereol’
and this agreement shall be void in the evenl ol non-payment.

4, The Purchaser shall be responsible for the straying of his stock and for any damage
caused Lo adjoining lands and will insure his siock for this purpose.

3. The Purchaser shall be permitled to mew the land for silage and/or hay,

6. (i) The Owners hereby agree that should any quota (especially milk guota} become

attached to the above fand through statutory instrument, legislation or by any other means
during the term of the Grasskesp, he will nol take any action to secure such guota withow
the cxpress consent ol the purchaser insofar as such quota relates to the terms of the
Grasskeep agrcement,

(i) And il] notwilhstanding (i) above, such quota becomes attuched to the land by the
process of law, then the Ownees agree to pay for such quota al open market value or at a
value being the difference in value between the land with the quota and the value of the
land wilhout the quota, whichever shall be the greater.

Page 98



7 If any dispute shall arise out of this sale, such disputc shall be referred io an Arbitrator
ander the Arbitration Act 1996 to be mutually appointed by the paitics of this agreement
and whose findings and costs of reference shall be binding on both partics (to be
appointed by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors).

Signed

Roger Pik

[airfield |
* Nursel'y {hose

Hilperton

Signed
Richard Fyfe
Paxoroil Farm
‘Trowbridge

by relipkalMtikess 3

Page 99




‘RF4* '
/,,.u:
DavisMeade

_ g AGRICULTURAL
E ! 3 Market Place
Marsnfeld
Wiltshire
SN14 8NP

Mr Richard Fyfe
Paxerolt Favm
Trowbridge
Wilts. BAl4 6JB RYMIET Pike

7 February 2611

+  Dear Richard
Profit 4 Prendre

Cun [ presume that you are interested in taking Roger Pike's land agajn ar the same rate as

= last year, partly on a Profit a Prendre and partly on prass keep? Assuming this 1o be the cuse ]
enclosc herewith agresments for your signature. Could you kindly return them with your
cheque il you are happy to continue?

Yours sincetely

Barry Meade
DAVIS MEADE Agricultural

cnes,

- o
(s R l cs DIRECTOR: BARRY MEADE FRICS FAsy - CONSLIITANT: PHILIP MEADE MRICS

Davis trade Agicul.uml is 5 7290y name ar Smins ul Neweat a¢ iarshield Fegistered Ir England. Cempary ha,SC78E77

LAND & ESTATE AGENTS : CHARTERED SURVEYOR

T NG TTIONEERS - VALUERS - FINE ART SALES




‘RFS”

Mr Richard Fyfe
Paxcrofl Farm

Trowhridge
Wilts. BAl4 6JB BYMIREPike

6 March 201 2
Desar Richard

Deed of Profit & Prendre and Grasskeep

[ presume that you are inierested in laking Roger Pike’s land again at the same rate as last
year, partly on a Profit 2 Prendre and partly on grass keep. | therefore enclose agreements for
your signalure. Could you kindly retum them with your cheque, for a total of £6990.90, il
you are happy to continue? This price includes an increase in the grasskeep from £60 an acre
to £70 an acre.

Yours sincerely

Burry Meade
DAVIS MEADE Agricultural

encs.

Page 101



"RF6* -
DavisMeade

AGRICULTURAL
3 Market Place
Mmarshfield
Wiltshire
SN14 BNP
Mr Richard Fyfe
Pauxeroft Darm
Trowbridge

Wilts. BA146JB

19 t'ebtuary 2013

Dear Mr Fyte,
Deed of Profit & Prendre and Grasskeep

I enclose herewith the usurl agrecments for Grasskeep and Profit 4 Prendre, could [ please
Bave your cheques made out to Davis Meade Agricultural.

arry

DAVIS MEADE

Apriciitural

ClHLS.

% vis Pluande Avvivy, el iy 2odg g harie for 4niiLks of heaxl al Marshiml Regis e in Zoygland Cmmpary ML SE73577

o i
-
& R' CS DIFECTG 3 BARRY MEAL 2 RIS FARY - COMSULTAHT, PHAF MEADE KIS

T AND RESTATE AGENTS SCHARTERED SURVEYORS - AUCTIONEERS ALUERS FINERRTSRLESE 15 1 =L

age 10




RET DavisMeade

AGRICULTURAL

3 mMarket Place
Mzrshfield
Wiltshire

SN14 8NP

Mr Richard Fyfe
Paxcroft Farm
Trowbridge
Wilts. BA14 6J13

10 March 2013

Dear Mr Fyfc,
Land a1 Hilperton
| enclose havewith the Grasskeep agreements concerning land at [Tilperton on behalf of Roger

Pike, Flizabeth Pike and Mrs Parkinson, T have lcft the price the same as last year. Could I
please have your cheque, made out to Davis Meade Agricultural, if you wish io go ahead.

Yours simgerely

Rarry Meade
DAVIS MEADR Agriculiural

CNes.

Daviz Muade Agriraltural 1s a fradmg name Fer Smiths af Newerd ol Marshlied. Reglsteted n Enaland, £ ampary NeSE/EE/7

L)
v
& R l cs DIRECTOH: BAHAY MEADE FRICS Faay - CONSULTANT: PHILIP MEADE mMHic 5

LAND R ESTATE AGENTS - CHARTERED SURVEYORS - AUCTIONEERS - VALUERS - FINE ART SALES

Page 103




In the matter of the Commons Act 2006: Section 15
Application by ‘Church Field Friends’ for registration of Church Field, Hilperton

as a Town or Village Green

STATEMENT OF ROGER PIKE

My name is Roger Pike. | own the land at Church Field, Hilperton, which is the
subject of the application by ‘Church Field Friends’ for registration of the land
as a Town or Village Green under the Commons Act 2006 (which | will refer to
in this statement as “the Act”). | am retired now, but for all of my working life |
was a dairy farmer.

| provided input to the Notice of Objection dated 4 September 2017 submitted
on my behalf in this matter. Some parts of that Notice are legal arguments
about whether the relevant criteria under the Act have been met. | have
received advice from my solicitors about those arguments, and | understand
them. | also feel that | can provide some helpful evidence to the registration
authority, Wiltshire Council, in support of some of those arguments.

| have read the statements provided by Richard Fyfe and Richard Vigar. To
the extent that those statements cover factual matters within my knowledge, |
confirm that they are true. In particular, | confirm that Mr Fyfe used Church
Field every year between about 1990 and 2017 for his farming business. For
the vast majority of that time, Mr Fyfe grazed livestock on Church Field
between the summer and autumn of each year. It was only in the later years,
after the construction of Elizabeth Way, that Mr Fyfe used the land only for
silage and no longer grazed livestock on it. | know this, not only because |
have had agreements in place with Mr Fyfe for him to use the land for those
purposes, but also because | live just around the corner from Church Field, in
Nursery Close. Hilperton is not a big place and it is easy to keep up with what
is going on in the village.

A significant part of the evidence submitted in support of Church Field Friends’
application comes from local dog owners/walkers. For several years now, |
have been aware that local people walk their dogs on Church Field. | do not
dispute that this has been going on. However, and without wishing to insult
the intelligence of those at the Council who are determining this application, |
feel that | should offer some of the benefit of my experience as a farmer.
Cattle and dogs do not mix very well. Given that Mr Fyfe was grazing his
cattle on Church Field between June and October of each year between the
1990s and about 2014, there would be about a four-month period each year
where dogs were not being walked across Church Field. If dog walkers were
using Church Field during the times that cattle were grazing there, it is almost

Page 104



certainly the case that the dogs and their owners would not be able to walk
wherever they liked on Church Field — the cattle would not tolerate that, and
neither would Mr Fyfe — particularly given that he was paying a fee to use the
land each year. The reality is that, depending on the time of year, the local
community members’ use of Church Field has always been restricted by the
farming taking place on the land.

5. | must say that | was surprised by some of the statements provided in support
of the Church Field Friends’ application. For example, it is explained in my
Notice of Objection as to why | find the statement provided by Sonja Kotevska
difficult to accept (the children at St Michael’'s Pre-School have access to a
large playing field at the Pre-School and | find it hard to believe that Church
Field would offer them anything for their Field Trips that their own playing field
does not).

6. Although | cannot remember specific dates, | remember that on several
occasions over the years | was contacted by members of staff at Hilperton
School while it was in The Knapp (right next to Church Field). The reason they
contacted me was to request permission for the school pupils to camp on
Church Field and have other extracurricular activities there. | was only too
happy for them to use it on those special occasions — and | still am — but it is
certainly not the case that local schools have used Church Field whenever
they like without running it past me first.

7. Another example of me allowing others to exercise rights over Church Field is
provided by my arrangement with English Landscapes. | have always allowed
their grave diggers access, via Middle Lane, to the cemetery at St Michaels
Church so that they can bring their diggers onto the site. | have provided them
with a key to the gate for that very purpose — as a goodwill gesture to the
church and the village.

8. In summary, | have been happy to allow members of the local community to
use Church Field for various purposes, but within the confines of what | am
comfortable with and so long as those purposes have not interfered with my
contractual obligations to Mr Fyfe (and now J H Vigar & Son). In other words,
members of the local community have not used Church Field because they are
entitled to do so — they do so because | have allowed them to. As far as | am
concerned, that is the case regardless of whether | have installed any physical
barriers to entry of Church Field. | think it would be artificial and unrealistic to
conclude that simply because | have not prevented the local community from
accessing Church Field, they have somehow acquired rights to do so. In any
case, they have not enjoyed an unrestricted freedom to do so given the
agricultural purposes for which the land has been used for the last 25 years or
so.

Signed: .............
R Pike

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2A.3 to WAPC report 20.01.2021

Church Field Friends
c/o 2 Nursery Close

Hilperton
BA14 7RP
Ms S Madgwick
Rights of Way Officer
Wiltshire Council
County Hall
Trowbridge
BA14 8JN 26th February 2018

Dear Ms Madgwick

Thank you for your letter of 25th October 2017 and attachments which we read with
interest and would like to use this letter to formally respond.

In response to the objections we have grouped objections for clarity so as not to
necessitate repetition.

Goughs point 1: 33 Statements and some from the same family do not represent a
significant number of inhabitants of the locality.

Point 4: Activities have not been Indulged with sufficient regularity to count as sport
and pastimes.

Point 7: Not enough People with over 20 years use.

The number of people using the land in question has to be sufficient to indicate that their
use of the land signifies that it is in general use by the local community for informal
recreation, rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers.

We believe the evidenced through numerous personal witness statements and
photographs, evidences fully 20 years use, not only pertaining to themselves and seeing
others use the area in question on a regular and daily basis but also by other users such
as the local Scouts, Brownies, pre school, school, running club and church.

We are providing an additional 5 statements covering a 20 year period giving evidence of
use of Church Field as Village Green and that some of the people mentioned by name in
paragraph 7 have now completed 20 years and we are willing to ask them to reissue their
letters.

On any day of the week from as early as 6.30am until well after dark, the area can be seen
to have a number of users enjoying the space for different forms both recreational and for
socialising.

We also note that there is an objection to statements being made from members of the
same family but we believe that all members of a family are valid as different individuals,
who use the area on different occasions for different uses, as well as together.

Goughs Point 8a: The Pre School children use the field at the Village Hall.

Pike point 4: Why would the children use Church field when they use the Village Hall
Green?

Sims point 1: There is already a Village Green Space used for Fetes and Football.
The Village Hall green area is very different in nature to that of Church Field and has been
used in very different ways. It is clear from the evidence provided in statements that the
Village Hall area is restrictive in what you are able to use it for, for example you are not
allowed to allow your dog off the lead there. There are overhead cables which make it

Page 107



difficult to fly a kite and there are often football and Cricket matches going on which
prevent you from walking freely with you dogs, jog, cycle, or meet friends.

Church field is, as stated by Sonja Kotevska used by St Micheal’s Pre School to explore
nature, wildlife and insect hunts.

Goughs Point 2: Asking for permission to use the field for sports and pastimes
Goughs solicitors (on behalf of Mr Pike) state that on several occasions throughout the 20
year period prior to the Application Mr Pike was asked for permission to carry out
activities. For example Hilperton school when it was in the Knap. (Hilperton school
relocated from the Knap in1970).

We believe that this is a rare example as from the land registry evidence we provided in
our application the land is unregistered and therefore how could people ask for permission
to use the land if they did not know who owned it.

Goughs point 2 and 3 Pike points 3, 5, 6, 7: Use of Church Field ‘as of right’

Use of the official footpaths on Church Field is sporadic and as can be shown by aerial
photos in new evidence provided ref 1a, 1b, 1¢, 2a, 2b and 3, there are well trodden paths
away from the footpaths that have been used over time by many people using the field.
The term “as of right” means that use must have been without force, without secrecy and
withbut permission. We have provided signed statements that these users of Church field
were never asked nor did they seek permission to use the area in its entirety, they used
the field openly and without secrecy.

Ref Goughs case study - Richard Naylor v Essex County Council v Silverbrook
Estates Ltd, Diana Humphreys, Tendering District Council

We are of the firm opinion that the case cited is not applicable to our application as the
public have used Church Field ‘as of right’ and not ‘by right’ and that the above case is
not relevant as Church Field has always been used for ‘grasskeep’ or cattle and has not
been maintained by the Council. We have evidence letters from users of Church Field
over a continuous 20 year period to support our opinion.

Pike point 8: People have not enjoyed unrestricted freedom

We do not believe and have never heard of an occasion where any person was asked to
refrain from entering and using Church Field as they saw fit. Nearly all the witness
statements state that they have always openly used the field without challenge nor having
seen a notice stating the field is private property.

Goughs points 5, 6a, Pike points 1, 2: Livestock grazing on Church Field
incompatible with land use.

We agree with Mr Pike that the land was used for grazing during summer and autumn
intermittently over some of the years but we strongly disagree that local people did not use
the field during this time. (See new photographic evidence provided, number 9) During
grazing time the field seemed to be busier than ever as an attraction to see the calves.
The cattle would congregate in corners or block the footpaths and therefore local people
would make alternative routes through Church Field to avoid the cattle. Denise Harvey can
personally can remember walking through the field when a cow had just given birth to a
calf and the herd was gathered around, stating: “It was necessary to walk well into the
middle of the field, away from the footpath, in order to give the mother cow and the herd
plenty of space.”

Page 108



Goughs point 6 There have been other uses of Church Field
If Church Field has been used as an overflow car park for St Michael’s Church it has been
very rarely and never enough cars to interrupt the continued general use by the public.

Ref Goughs case law - The Queen on the application of Cheltenham Builders
Limited v South Gloucestershire District Council

We are firmly of the opinion that the case cited is not applicable to our application as the
whole of Church Field is accessible to the public there are no significant areas of trees or
brambles which would prevent lawful sports and pastimes. We have evidence in the form
of 44 letters from users of the field to support our opinion that continued and full use was
never interrupted.

Goughs points 9, 10 and Sims point 4: Motivation from some to not see the land
developed, and that the letters have somehow been tampered with

We did not tailor or edit any of the letters that we received, Goughs Solicitors (on behalf of
Mr Pike) reference the letter from Mr Kenneth Warr (date 28 March 2017). If we had
edited or asked people to re-submit their letters we would not have let this statement
remain or any that may have personal feelings about future development. We realise these
opinions are not valid in terms of a village green application but we left all letters, however
emotive, intact. As it is, this un-edited letter proves that we did not tailor or contrive
evidence.

Simms point 2: That there is no wildlife to speak of on the field.

We have included a number of photographs of the wildlife currently within Church Field
see new photographic evidence provided 4a,4b,4c, 7,10, 15a and 15b.

Within the Hilperton Neighbourhood Development Plan Scoping Report for the Parish of
Hilperton 2016-2026 in its Biodiversity section 6.6 it states that:

‘In Wiltshire, the Wiltshire Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) sets out Habitat Action Plans for a
range of habitats. The BAP will soon be complimented by a new Wiltshire and Swindon
Landscape Conservation Framework. To deliver conservation and enhancement of
biodiversity, a number of Landscape Biodiversity Areas have been identified. These are
shown on the Lnk2Nature website. In terms of the Landscape Map of the latter, Hilperton
lies within the ‘Bristol Avon Vale’ area.’

It goes on to state in section 6.7 Biodiversity in Hilperton parish that:

‘there are several categories of what the Wiltshire BAP identifies as ‘Priority Habitats’
present.’

One category they include is:

6.13 Farmland habitat

‘Much of the land in the Parish is farmed— mainly arable. This land is home to a range of
species from plants, fungi, butterflies, mice, birds, hares and rabbits. There are many
species of birds on the red danger list (published by the RSPB) that seem to be surviving
on the untouched fields and many on their amber list too but in lesser numbers than 10
years ago. Lost in the las t 2 years is the Skylark (which was in fields adjacent to Middle
Lane) and this year Crickets and Grasshoppers. On the original survey it was shown that
the very rare Bechstein Bats were present but since then no survey has been done to see
if they still visit these fields. During the winter months the fields and the banks of the River
Avon at Whaddon provide an ideal habitat for visiting migratory birds.’

Page 109




We also provide the written statements as evidence of using the field for exploring all the
wildlife from: Chris Hart, Denise Harvey, Heidi Hart, Helen Whitehead, Jacqui Clark,
Katherine Warr, Ken Warr, Martin Wilcox, Lucy Wilcox, Sonja Kotevska, Lesley House,
Sheila Sawyer and Emma Herlinger.

Simms point 3: The field will not be cultivated to Village Green standards and left
and used as it is now.

We believe that the field being less cultivated is why it is being used so much now and feel
that most of the village would prefer it that way. The Brownies, Scouts, Runners, Schools
and ramblers have expressed this as a reason that they visit it because as it is an open
and relaxed area full of nature, with no overhead cables or restrictions.

Cradock point 1and 2: Church Field has been farmed for 3 generations as part of a
commercial business.

We believe that there is evidence to prove that no ploughed agriculture has occurred
within the chosen qualification period of 20 years, in Church Field, as it appeared to have
always been permanent pasture. We believe the witness reports we have provided offer
additional evidence of no interruption of use.

As Mr Cradock points out himself, the land has been farmed on a grass keep basis.

We believe this does not constitute agricultural use within the terms that prohibit the
granting of Village Green status.

In R(Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire County Council [2004] 1 P & CR 573 it was
held in the High Court that the annual gathering of a hay crop was incompatible with the
use of the land as a village green but The Open Space Society note Lord Hoffman has
commented on that decision by saying “I do not agree that the low level agricultural
activities must be regarded as having been inconsistent with use for sports and
pastimes...if in practice they were not" (Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City council
[2006] 2 AC 674 para 57)

Cradock point 3

Mr Cradock suggests that there has been no “lawful sports or pastimes on this
land” and that any suggestions to the contrary are untrue

We believe that there is significant evidence from users of Church Field over a 20 year
period to prove that there has been lawful sports and pastimes on Church Field and that
local people have used the whole field as of right . We have provided additional evidence
from an aerial photographs (1a, 1b, 1c, 2a, 2b and 3) to show that there are marked
walking paths on Church Field which do not follow footpaths HILP1, HILP2, HILP3 or
HILP4 , in particular there is a well trodden path which skirts around the graveyard and
runs parallel to Middle Lane. Additionally the google maps satellite photograph of the field
shows a well trodden path around the circumference of the field in addition to the footpaths
above.

Cradock point 5: That Mr Pike has donated land for the village allotments and is
being forced to defend his property at his age.

We did not know who owned all of land and on investigation discovered that it was
unregistered apart from a tiny part owned by Mr Pike next to the cemetery.

Yours sincerely-

Denise Harvey'

Secretary on behalf of Church Field Friends
Page 110




Summary Of Time and Usage Of Church Field

Name Years Use
used/
since
1. Andy Sewyer 1974/ Walked Dogs, Bikes, Flying Kites.
44yrs
2. Catherine Davis 1998/ Walks, Ball Games, Enjoying Green Space
20yrs
3. Charlie Barker 2003/ Playing Games with Friends and Family, Rounders, Football,
15yrs . Walking Dog, Treasure Hunt, Built Snowmen and IgToos
4. Chris Hart 2007/ French Cricket with wider family, Rounders, Kite Flying, W|Id
11yrs  Flower Collecting to press with children. Dog Walking,
Socialising whilst walking.
5. Graham Kehily 1998/  Running, Kite Flying, Walking Dog, Relaxing
20yrs
6. Denise Harvey 1993/ Sports, Picnics, Rounders, Blackberry Picking, Birdwatching,
25yrs  Building Snowmen, Model Plane Flying, Dog Walking,
Children Playing.
7. Ernie Clark 1992/ Blackberry Collecting, Exercising, Dog Walking, Football,
' - 26yrs  Kite Flying, Snowball Fights, Social Gatherings.
8. Heidi Hart 2007/  Snow Play, Dog Walking, Rounders, Football, Flying Kites,
11yrs  Schools and Clubs Use it for Nature Trails and Treasure
Hunts, Running Club use It, Social Walks.
9. Helen Davies 1998/  Family Walks, Dog Walks
: 20yrs
10. Helen Whitehead. 2008/  Took the children in her care as a childminder on Nature
i 10yrs  Walks. Dog Walks, Socialises there, Running for Exercise.
11. Isabelle Hart i 2007/ . Sees nearly 100 people a day use it mostly in groups
11yrs  socialising. Cartwheels, Cycling, Walking Dog, Watch Sunset
E ‘ there, Balloon landing, Helicopter use.
12. lvan Moore 1 1960's Dog Walks, Football, Say it is always in use by locals,
/35yrs  Walking, Jogging, Games, Kite Flying.
13. Ayesha Moore | 1960's ' Dog Walks, Football, Say it is always in use by locals,
/35yrs = Walking, Jogging, Games, Kite Flying.
14. J Clark 1992/  Frisbee, Walking, Spotting Wildflowers and Nature, Running
26yrs  and playing with a ball, Hiding in Bushes, Playing Chase,
Paintball Fights, Picnics, Dog Walking, Building Snowmen
and playing Snowball fights with the whole community
gathered drinking hot toddies. Built igloos.
15. J Waring 1983/  Children Playing with the neighbours children, Making Daisy
35yrs  Chains, Making Camps, Practising Brownie and Guide Skills
for badges, Dog Walking, Meeting friends for chats
16. James Davies 1998/ | Football, Walks, Rugby, Dog Walks, Witnessed many peop|e
20yrs | use the fneld
17. Julia Goodwin 1988/ | Walklng, Sees the fleld used extenswely throughout the day,
30yrs | Dog Walking, Socialising, Children Playing, Kicking a Ball,

| Kite Flying, Running and Keeping Fit.

Page 111



Summary Of Time and Usage Of Church Field

Name Years Use
used/
since
18. K Waring 1983/ | Children Played with the neighbours children, Walked dogs.
35yrs
19. Katherine Warr 1980’s | Walking for leisure, Seen many villagers use the field for
/33yrs | Exercise, Running, Socialy and for the Wildlife.
g Cemetery visitors use the field for a bit of peace.
20. Kenn Warr 1980’s | Walking for leisure, Seen many villagers use the field for
/33yrs  Exercise, Running, Socialy and for the Wildlife.
Cemetery visitors use the field for a bit of peace.
21. Kathi Walker 1987/  Recreation, Dog Walking, Used by families as a safe area to
31yrs  play.
22. Kathryn Lacy 1992/  Walked Dog with the family, Rounders, Ball Games, Picnics,
26yrs  For Fun.
23. Martin Wiicox 1996/ Dog Walks, Witnessed the community use the field daily. Kite
22yrs  Flying, Model Aeroplanes, Brownies, Scouts and Cubs for
Nature Activities and Camping, Exercising, Games, Running
. and Socialising.
24. Lucy Wilcox 1996/ Dog Walks, Witnessed the community use the field daily. Kite
22yrs  Flying, Model Aeroplanes, Brownies, Scouts and Cubs for
Nature Activities and Camping, Exercising, Games, Running
and Socialising.
25. Nicola Walker 2008/  Walking dog twice a day, Playing Games, Badminton, French
10yrs  Cricket, Cricket matches, Sunbathing, Meditation.
26. Phoebe Hart 2007/ Dog Walks, Building Snowmen and Igloos, Football, French
11yrs  Cricket, Frisbee with Friends. Watching the Sunset with
friends and family. Always full of visitors.
27. Rob Coles 1978/ | Play Area, Flying Kites, Build Snowmen, Dog Walking, Large
- 40yrs : Groups Of People Socialising.
28. Maggie Coles 1978/  Play Area, Flying Kites, Build Snowmen, Dog Walking, Large
40yrs  Groups Of People Socialising.
29. Ros Huggins 11998/  Walking Dogs, Playing with their Children, Exercise,
- 20yrs  Socialising with Friends.
30. Sally Lacey 1993/  Walking the Dogs off the Lead, Playing Games, Rounders,
25yrs - Cricket, Kite Flying, Playing in the Snow.
31. Sarah Kenich 1988/  Dog Walking with them running free, Walking for Leisure,
30yrs  Playing Catching a Ball, Feeling Happy and Safe and
Socialising.
32. Sonja Kotevska 1992/  Exploring nature and Wildlife with the Pre School, Looking
26yrs  For Insects. Seen people Flying Kites, Dog Walking, Jogging.
33. Steven Harvey 11993/  Picnics, *Used Field even when the Cows were in there. Dog
- 25yrs  Walking, Kite Flying,
34. Thomas Clark 1995/ | Blackberry Picking, Football, Rugby, Playing Paint Ball,
23yrs | Picnics, Snowmen Building.

Page 112




Summary Of Time and Usage Of Church Field

Name Years Use
used/
since
35. Tasha Harvey 1996/  Building Snowmen, Social Gatherings, Kite Flying,
22yrs  Rounders, Walking Dogs, Building Dens, Playing Hide and
Seek with friends.
36. Tim Davies 1998/  Recreation, Walks, Kite Flying, Ball Games, Dog Walking.
20yrs
37. Wendy Coles 1980’s - Playing Imaginative Games, Running, Exploring, Walking
/30yrs  Dog, Pretending to Ride Horses, Dance Routines, Built
Obstacle Courses for the dogs, *Trying to Stroke The Cows,
Making Dens.
38. Alison Hoskins 2011/ Exercised the Dogs off the lead and frequently sees people
6yrs use the field similarly.
39. Kate Hayes 1988/ - Dog Walking, Socialising, Exercising and always sees others
30yrs  using the field.
40. John Bowden 1977/  Walked Daily, Built Friendships, Walked Dogs.
41yrs
41. Lesley House 1987/ ' Walked Dog Twice Daily, Played, Flying Kites, Picking
31yrs  Buttercups, Blackberrys and Sloes, Building Dens, Paint
- Balling, Snow Ball Fights with Friends, Learning about
Nature, Meeting Friends Socially, Kite Boarding, Drones,
- Radio Controlled Aircraft.
42. Edward Clark 1997  Walking, Blackberry Picking, Playing Football, Building
/21yrs  Snowmen, Paint Balling in the Hedgerow, Dog Walking.
43. Sheila Sawyer 1974/  Play, Exercise, Learn about the Countryside, Flying Kites as
44yrs  there are no overhead lines, Dog Walking, Camping,
Brownies, Guides and Scoutes use it for Tracking, Artists.
44. Emma Herlinger 2016/  Dog Walking, Running, Children Play Safely, Saw People
2yrs Flying Kites, Scooting, Blackberry Picking, Socialising and

Making Friends, Spotting Wildlife including Muntjac Deer and
Identifying Wildflowers.

Page 113



Church Field Additional Photographs - Key For Evidence Of Use

1a
1b
1c

2a
2b

4a
4b
4c

5a
5b
5c

6a
6b

10
11

12

13
14

15a
15b

16

17a
17b

Church Field Northern Corner siding St Michaels Church Cemetery showing a well trodden wide
area of track marks from regular pedestrian use. These marks continue following the northern
edge of the field where there are no public footpaths. (photographs by Graham Kehily 4th Feb 2018)

Church Field North west corner showing a well defined track mark from pedestrian use continuing
where there are no public footpaths.Also some members of the public clearly using the field
indiscriminately. (photographs by Graham Kehily 4th Feb 2018)

The west side of Church Field showing the continuing track marks where no public footpaths exist.
(photograph by Graham Kehily 4th Feb 2018)

Church Fields vast array of meadow grasses, a butterfly on the grasses in the foreground.
(photographs by Heidi Hart 3rd July 2017)

Church Field users playing frisby and dog walking, Elizabeth way in the background.
(photographs by Heidi Hart 19th July 2017)

Walkers and dog walkers using Church Field and Socialising in groups.

(photographs by Heidi Hart 8th July 2017)

Wildflowers on Church Field. (photograph by Heidi Hart 3th July 2017)

Runner on Church Field. (photograph by Heidi Hart 20th July 2017)

Brownies socialising and trying to pet the cows in Church Field. (Photograph by Rob Coles Spring 1992)
Butterfly in Church Field/closer view (photograph by Heidi Hart 3rd July 2017)

Someone flying a remote controlled aircraft on Church Field. (photographs by Heidi Hart 31st Oct 2017)

Runner on Church Field from further away to show more of the field. (photographs by Heidi Hart 20th July
2017)

Duplicate of image 5
Frisby playing on Church Field. (photographs by Heidi Hart 30th May 2016)
Flocks of Rooks and pigeons on Church Field. (photographs by Heidi Hart 20th Feb 2018)

A selection photographs of her family using Church Field from Mrs Lesley House to accompany an
additional evidence letter provided.

Children Playing in the snow in Church Field. (photographs by Ernie Clark 2009/10)

Page 114



e Lfl:(-‘ i
e g Y e.u,

Y




oLy Fem QoYK




- wpned

T




il et

...v.-...-). .

.y g

s T

ot by e
e







Q_+ Fe® 2018










T K100 b



i — el

m-—‘-.u'—uv—-‘: _'-\ -—— =T

—p




ke Juy 201+




t o e T
-

Ty 4 &
™~ L Ly

i

TEIOZ Lne S0




Sl ocT 2e (7 1




H”Urv_nu weels




Tl
!Io»—-—nrh- #-':h::— i)

;;m?{qfn#

',_I‘ WX gu'!'. 5
48 L“‘ s %




)

~
Hou




L Hou SE

Ibb

Page 131



Page 132



Page 133






(b L. HovsE

Page 135




()
4
b
o)
=T
|




e

~
3

&
=

7

el PR




{

¢

Ll e

Page 138



Page 139



Emma Herlinger

.Nursery Close
Hilperton

BA14 7RP

18 February 2018

I am writing in regards to the application for Church Field to gain Village Green
status,

We moved to Hilperton 2 years ago and in that two years I have used Church Field
most days and every time without permission or challenge.

When we moved here we wanted somewhere to walk our dog, a place to go
running/jogging and for our children to safely play, I could always see people using
church field and had no idea it was privately owned as there were no signs up and
people were using it in its entirety. We therefore started using church field to walk our
dog and exercise ourselves and the children, I found it a very sociable place and have
met lots of people from the village by using this field for recreational activities. We
moved to Wiltshire in the summer and out of our window we could see people flying
kites, children playing and groups of people meeting up to walk their dogs, I knew
instantly that we had made the right decision to move here as I could see this village
had a heart and could picture my boys using this field as they grow, playing ball and
running around playing with their friends.

I still feel the same about this field two years down the line and feel it is a great
candidate for village green status. I have had the pleasure on early morning dog walks
of seeing Monjack and Deer in this field and in the summer I have seen teenagers
sitting down with friends and chatting or eating. My children run around the field and
have even used their scooter in the dryer summer months. We have picked
blackberries and my eldest son loves trying to identity the wild flowers.

We are aware that there is another village green in Hilperton however it is a very
different space to Church Field my children love to use the park there, however for
unbridled and unrestricted fun they love to run around Church Field with other
children and being animal lovers having numerous dogs also running around with
them just adds to the magic.

Yours sincerely,

Emma Herlinger

Page 140



Qece}wc»( (4 Ag« RO+ @
A‘Ck‘__ /.!SA(_/ 20/1
<
.\/estmoreland Avenue
Hornchurch
Essex
RM11 2EF

/
‘-/Wiltshire Council
Church Field Friends

Dear Sirs,

| have seen the Wiltshire Council notice dated 21 July regarding a village green application
for Church Field.

I wish to add my support to the application.

| have used the field, and others in Hilperton Gap, for twenty-one years. My first use was
simply when | was taken there for walks by my parents. Over the years | have since used
the field for many uses including blackberrying, playing football, building snowmen,
paintballing in the hedgerow, and dog walking. | still use the field for dog walking when | am
in Hilperton.

I did not, and do not, remain on either the ‘public’ or ‘other’ footpaths but used/use the
whole of the field and its hedges. At no time have | ever been asked to leave by the owner

or anyone else and my use of the field has been in broad daylight.

Yours faithfully,

Edward Clark.

Page 141



Hi,

Kind regards

———

Andy X

Sent from my iPad

Also during this period people have walked this area flying kites and with their
children and bikes etc.

I have been using the church field to walk across as a short cut on my regular
trips to Trowbridge since 1974, at no time has anyone ever told me not to use
this route and | have never seen any signs telling me not to use this route.

This is a very loved and utilised dog walking area which | have personally used
since 1987,at no time has anyone ever told me not to use this route or | have
never seen any signs telling me to not use this route.

Page 142

| have known people use the church field from Paxcroft Mead and the adjoining
area of Trowbridge as well as the ever expanding village of Hilperton.



Hi,

| have been using the church field to walk across as a short cut on my regular
trips to Trowbridge since 1974, at no time has anyone ever told me not to use
this route and | have never seen any signs telling me not to use this route.

This is a very loved and utilised dog walking area which | have personally used
since 1987 at no time has anyone ever told me not to use this route or | have
never seen any signs telling me to not use this route.

Also during this period people have walked this area flying kites and with their
children and bikes etc.

| have known people use the church field from Paxcroft Mead and the adjoining
area of Trowbridge as well as the ever expanding village of Hilperton.

Kind regards

I

Sent from my iPad

Page 143



-rowbridge Road

Hilperton
Wilts

BA14 70Q
11™ September 2017

Dear Sir or Madam

| am writing in support of the application to give Church Field, Hilperton, ‘Village Green’
status.

We bought our house on Trowbridge Road, Hilperton in August 1987, in part, because it is
situated opposite the Church fields. We had a dog which we exercised there twice daily,
until her death almost ten years later. We have since had two more dogs, and both have
been walked regularly in Church Fields.

During the thirty years we have lived in our home, we have brought up three daughters. The
field was a wonderful place for them to play. They enjoyed walking with the dogs, flying
kites, picking buttercups, blackberries and sloes and as they grew a little older, playing
games with their friends, building hide-outs and paintballing. In the winter snows, they
would join the crowd of local children who gathered to build snowmen and have snowball
fights. We used the footpaths on their walks to and from Hilperton Primary School. It has
been a wonderful place to teach them to love and appreciate nature; they have learned to
identify plants, butterflies and birds.

We meet many people using the fields each day. Some we see almost daily, also walking
their dogs, others , we see less regularly, playing with their children or simply enjoying
walking in the fresh air. Looking out of my window as | write this letter | can see three
groups of people walking with their dogs.

In the past, a group of teenagers practised kite boarding in the field. Others have flown
radio controlled aircraft and more recently drones. Many use the footpaths to walk into the
village or, in the opposite direction, to go to Trowbridge or Paxcroft Mead, but we have
always used the entire field not just the foot paths and have never been challenged or told
to stop. The only time we have been unable to use the fields was during the last foot and
mouth crises, when most fields in the country were closed to walkers.

Page 144



| feel that Church Field is a valuable resource for Hilperton Village, one that | and my family
have cherished for the last 30 years. | hope that the Church Field will be given ‘Village
Green’ status and will provide a natural space for future generations to enjoy.

| enclose some photographs of my family enjoying using Church Field.

rs faithfull

Mrs Lesley House

(Female, in my mid fifties)

Page 145



Church Field, Hilperton e B
Village Green Status A% ’%"’%47 2o/ 7

1 Teel that 1t 1S essential that Lnurch Field, Hilperton be
designated Village Green Status.

I have walked over these fields, daily, since 1977, being now
well over 80 years, and can name quite a few triends who have
also walked there daily. And still do!. Over the years we have
become almost a family, talking of our families and “putting the
world to rights”

My own children have accompanied me, and then my
grandchildren also, as well as a succession of dogs, from
. puppies to old age. Ilook forward to taking my great
grandchildren 1n a tew years!

No one has ever challenged me for walking on the fields and

apart from cows from time to time, nothing else happens to the
field.

In these days of change and impermanence it is essential for
some things to remain the same. Church Field is one such -
streets and houses cannot replace the calm memories of the
Church Field and the bridleway - just ask the young children
who have walked with parents, grandparents and a variety of
dogs.

= Green SV

SROWB RIDE &

Page 146



t Mary’s Close,
ilperton Marsh,
Trowbridge,
BA14 7PW

17" August 2017

For almost 6 years now I've been using Church
Field approximately once a week to exercise my
dog. We have made full use of the entire field for off-
lead running & playing, rather than simply following
the footpaths. Never, at any time, have | been
challenged, seen a notice stating that the land is
private nor been prevented from entering the field.
No-one has given me permission to use Church
Field in this way. It never occurred to me ask
because my late mother-in-law used Church Field to
exercise her dogs in the 1970s and 80s and |
frequently see up to six people using the field
similarly.

| do hope that Church Field can be preserved for
future generations to enjoy.

Yours truly,

Alison Hoskins (Mrs)

Page 147



Statement regarding use of Church Field, Hilperton Parish

| have been using Church Field in Hilperton Parish since | moved into the area in 1988.

I have used the whole of this field for recreation, dog walker & exercising and socialising
with other users.

When | had a dog | used the field almost daily but now not so frequently.
There are always other people using this field.

I have never been challenged on using the field nor prevented from use. | have never seen a
sign to say the land was private.

I have never sought permission to use the field.

[ fully support the application for a village green for this field.

Kate Hayes

-Horse Road, Hilperton

Page 148



I e STREET P Juﬁu( 1017

HILPERTON
TROWBRIDGE
WILTSHIRE
BAi14 7RS

f/_'_.--
ey

POAVIVG J\’\Nu,wg C W CRAVN -

J ey Concly weouad Lo Hilpadort v Lo 1270

‘ Ul
J e\l K)u?-LJ Sl o Ulu/_)\— H oo Sledich

A O botle e\ ol culs wto Tooby Jﬁ
O/f ewre mﬂdaﬂ A Q*

\ Lo act
to Wb daren P\GJV\ (o AH\SL ww\ ‘;"

W Lk e e R 0 pedideys
) \ \—-_ \ .-tl~€_l:: c( L 'H—Q gc“\k UC’( ( Y
Cﬂ/\\oan \*LQ, C P~ \;‘*—-Lf\ a | &'QA—{A/L (/I |

‘ e @it & gocio AT g
L\- o CC B K LA (oA L(,i -/E L,.(

0 . Cdi
g [ oy O o\ e §
\xW\A/\.L\“

0 e [ &\ o\ ¢

M\Q b\ec;\é E@/Mﬂ,c/ et A AT

Loellwe d v doqs

Ho e . o L ﬂch/

\‘ o, ¢ Lo gw—Q
o> w4

wJZ ét,(: -‘ug_,'—'i.’_:._-vI (S
\ 9,
F_WLQA)‘ o ObﬁDouu\‘ gm—lm

oju.e, oo @ &gen O

Qe) Lo CQ/vpt)S A 4 e (’&JJ AL i3 V\/\«M%U»/'ijg
WL~ )

L\/(\/\EAAL '\-/)Q)/l,L)\J@\ \/\a/tl &LBMJ)QL/ CC/VLLPVILLﬁ ca/bk/(l %w\

» : .
< . Y L b rrmore” ) Qrt o
Seve wWhou 'vms C_M.Magec‘dﬁww@ w S T |
' e nearlobrelbaac \w ol poo a P ol

I B
' oo - A waore

V\JLQ_I,Q_ % P\)\QJ&-QI/L,\’

C/W\/>/9 / Scg b\_,[':,') LW



i Hie STrREET
HiLpERTON
TROWBRIDGE
WILTSHIRE

BA14 7RS
- 2ol i ¥ L/L'ub\ d )
W) v-dfu\ wimed the Quld V- Ereee o &

| e
o (D> Q& gevxcuwuu\ P Q/u‘c/\JLA- oV

(ﬁ onwe.  loeondd
chool  demad iy He cdwacle fane Phel anale -
"{?Mu(,t(([q/ /

cirtOel YW LI

Jh /"{L \Qgi\jws <j /bwu/ Ct-f(" He
L\ G\,UL/LC\\ Lcjﬂr LQlc‘ i Cet e

u( @i L

He O

Q/WB e 1\\12 el \xM

'11»&_5 ?\o\"L

Hevon ke onlleeege

S [,2 Cflj >

ZUhed @ C ALOE .

. '_'f L9 -\.o"_‘l\;-K-«\-— LS R -
oo« ) \ | pleae ("{A/S‘
= ! % L Cv( <
Cm\k'w vl ¢

Page 150



APPENDIX 2A.4 to WAPC 20.01.2021 report

Response on behalf of the estate of the late Roger Pike to the response to objections
dated 26 February 2018

This is a response on to the various points/assertions made in the applicants’ response
document dated 26 February 2018 (“the Applicants’ Response”) on behalf of the estate of
the late Mr Roger Pike, who passed away on 6 December 2017.

No responses are provided in relation to those parts of the Applicants’ Response which
relate to submissions made by RH & IR Craddock Ltd and Mrs Rosemary Sims. However, it
should not be taken from the absence of any response to those parts of the Applicants’
Response that those parts are accepted by Mr Pike’s personal representatives.

Response to “Goughs point 1 ... Point 4 ... Point 7’

1.

To the extent that the applicants wish to rely on evidence provided by people who
have allegedly “now completed 20 years”, i.e. where 20 years of usage as of right for
lawful sports and pastimes could not be established from their evidence at the time the
application was made, any such reliance is misguided. Under section 15 of the Act,
the relevant date for establishing 20 years of usage is the date of the application (see
Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council [2006] UKHL 25 for confirmation of
this). So it is irrelevant as to whether the applicants/local residents have used Church
Field for sports or pastimes since the application was made.

“[S]ocialising” cannot reasonably be described as a sport or pastime and the
applicants have not been able to point to any case law in support of their suggestion
that socialising falls within the ambit of section 15 of the Act. It is submitted that the
applicants’ reliance on something as tenuous as “socialising” speaks volumes about
the merits (or otherwise) of the application.

The applicants’ reference to their belief that “all members of a family are valid as
different individuals” is missing the point and is nothing more than a self serving
statement. The points raised on behalf of Mr Pike are that if the evidence provided by
additional family members does not establish 20 years of usage for lawful sports or
pastimes then it adds very little, if anything, to the evidence provided by the primary
evidence provider / family member. Moreover, if the evidence provided by the
additional family members is essentially the same as that provided by the primary
evidence provider / family member then arguably it should not be factored into an
assessment of whether a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes
for the purposes of section 15 of the Act.

Response to “Goughs Point 8a ... Pike Point 4 ...”

4.

Evidence of the differences between Church Field and the Village Hall green area
does not amount to evidence that lawful sports or pastimes were in fact taking place
on Church Field throughout the requisite period.

Response to “Goughs Point 2 ...”

Page 151



5. The fact that the land is unregistered does not mean that local residents and
organisations would not have known that Mr Pike owned Church Field. Hilperton is a
small place in which local knowledge is easily transmitted by word of mouth.

Response to “Goughs point 2 and Pike points 3, 5, 6, 7 ...”

6. There is a suggestion in this part of the Applicants’ Response that the applicants have
used Church Field “in its entirety’. The evidence produced in support of the
application does not establish that the applicants have used Church Field in its
entirety.

Response to “Goughs case study — Richard Naylor v Essex County Council v
Silverbrook Estates Ltd ...”

7. Although it is helpful that the applicants have confirmed that Church Field has been
used throughout the relevant period for, as they put it, “grasskeep or cattle”, this is a
confusing paragraph in the Applicants’ Response. It is incorrect to say that the “by
right” principle established in the Naylor case does not apply to this case. Naylor was
cited in support of Mr Pike’s objection to the application because the applicants’/local
residents’ usage of parts of Church Field has been by right (not as of right) due to the
existence of the rights of way across Church Field. In other words, the fact that
Church Field has not been maintained by the Council is not determinative of the issue
as to whether the applicants’/local residents’ usage has been by right or as of right.
The facts of this case do not need to be on all fours with those of the Naylor case in
order for the same principles to apply.

Response to “Pike Point 8 ...”

8.  The salient point here is that the applicants/local residents cannot have enjoyed an
unrestricted and uninterrupted freedom to use all of Church Field given that the land
was also used for grazing livestock, primarily cattle, throughout the relevant period.

Response to “Goughs points 5, 6a, Pike points 1, 2 ...”

9. The applicants have confirmed that “local people would make alternative routes
through Church Field to avoid the cattle.” Firstly, this seems to support the submission
made in opposition to the application that, to the extent that Church Field has been
used by local people, it has been primarily as a way of getting from A to B (note the
reference to routes through Church Field) rather than for sports or pastimes.
Secondly, it also contradicts the applicants’ suggestion that they have used Church
Field “in its entirety” (they acknowledge that they have understood the need to avoid
the cattle).

Response to “Ref Goughs case law — The Queen on the application of Cheltenham
Builders Limited v South Gloucestershire District Council”’

10. The contents of paragraphs 8 and 9 above are repeated here in response to this part
of the Applicants’ Response. For the avoidance of any doubt, it is not accepted that
the contents of the 44 letters referred to adequately address the argument that the
grasskeep and grazing arrangements in place for Church Field were interruptions of
any uses for lawful sports and/or pastimes.

Page 152



11.

Again, the facts of the Cheltenham Builders Ltd case do not need to be on all fours
with the facts of this case for the same principles to apply. The absence of any
“significant areas of trees or brambles which would prevent lawful sports and
pastimes” can hardly be said to amount to evidence that the whole of Church Field has
been used for lawful sports or pastimes throughout the 20-year period.

Response to “Goughs points 9, 10 ...”

12.

Putting to one side the concerns previously raised about the possibility that some of
the evidence in support of the application might have been tailored/contrived, the most
pertinent point here is that a significant amount of that evidence has been influenced
by the real motivation behind it — that the applicants do not want Church Field to be
developed/built on. The applicants have now accepted in the Applicants’ Response
that these motivations/opinions “are not valid in terms of a village green application.”

Response to applicants’ references to R (Laing Homes Ltd) v Buckinghamshire
County Council [2004] and Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council [2008] 2
AC 674 para 57)

13.

14.

In R (Laing Homes Ltd) it was held that village green rights could not be established
where land was being used for the growing, cutting, drying, baling etc. of a hay crop.
The Court found that the activities involved in gathering a hay crop interrupted the
recreational use or enjoyment of a field since people had to avoid the machinery when
it was in use and avoid disturbing the mown hay whilst it was drying. Messrs Fyfe and
Vigar both provided evidence in their statements dated 2 October and 30 September
2017 respectively that they have entered into Grasskeep Agreements and Grazing
Licence Agreements that allow them to mow the grass on Church Field for use as
silage. In Mr Fyfe’s case, these agreements were in place with Mr Pike for a 27-year
period (so throughout the 20-year period that is relevant to the application). Any usage
of Church Field by the applicants/local residents for sports or pastimes would have
been interrupted by the mowing that was being carried out there. As per paragraph 9
above, it is also submitted that grazing livestock on Church Field would have been an
interruption to any sports or pastimes indulged in thereon during the relevant period.

The applicants appear to argue that the reasoning applied in R (Laing Homes Ltd) is
flawed and they point to the comments of Lord Hoffman in Oxfordshire County Council
v Oxford City Council [2006] in support of that argument. The relevant passage from
Lord Hoffman’s judgment is as follows:

“In that case the land was used for “low-level agricultural activities” such as taking a
hay crop at the same time as it was being used by the inhabitants for sports and
pastimes. No doubt the use of the land by the owner may be relevant to the question
of whether he would have regarded persons using it for sports and pastimes as doing
so “as of right”. But, with respect to the judge, | do not agree that the low-level
agricultural activities must be regarded as having been inconsistent with use for sports
and pastimes for the purposes of section 22 [of the Commons Registration Act 1965] if
in practice they were not.”

Lord Hoffman’s comments in Oxfordshire County Council were obiter dicta and not,
therefore, legally binding as a precedent. R (Laing Homes Ltd) remains good law. In
any event, Lord Hoffman’s comments should not alter the outcome in this case — His

Page 153



Lordship was careful to use the words “if in practice they were not’. In other words, His
Lordship took the view that each case would need to be determined on its own facts,
and that whether or not the low-level agricultural activities in question are inconsistent
with use for sports and pastimes has to be decided on a case-by-case basis. Based on
the evidence provided in this case, not only in support of Mr Pike’s objection to the
application, but also by members of Church Field Friends themselves (see, for
example, Denise Harvey's statement about having to give a mother cow and herd
plenty of space), it is submitted that the agricultural activities which have taken place
on Church Field were in practice inconsistent with use for sports and pastimes on the
whole of the site throughout the 20-year period.

Signed: ......
Goughs Solicitors”
(For and on behalf of the estate of Roger Pike)

Dated: 27 April 2018

Page 154




WILTSHIRE COUNCIL APPENDIX 3

COMMONS ACT 2006

IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND

KNOWN AS ‘CHURCH FIELD’ AT HILPERTON AS A NEW TOWN OR

VILLAGE GREEN
Application number: 2017/01

Dated 19 November 2020

INSPECTOR’S REPORT

Preliminary matters

1.

| am instructed by Wiltshire Council (WC’) acting in its capacity as commons
registration authority (‘CRA’) which is the responsible authority for determining
applications to register land known as Church Field in the village of Hilperton
(which will, as the context permits, be referred to in this report as either the

‘application land’ or the ‘land’ or ‘the field’) as a town or village green (‘TVG’).

The application was made by a local action group known as ‘Church Field
Friends’ (‘the applicants’ or ‘As’) on an undated Form 44 delivered to WC on
24 April 2017. The application was returned and after correction of minor
matters was accepted by WC and a notice in Form 45 was circulated on 21

July 2017 and objections were received from the landowner and others.

On 6 March 2019 WC’s Western Area Planning Committee (which exercises
the function of CRA within WC) resolved to appoint an independent inspector
to hold a non-statutory public inquiry (‘NSPI’) to hear evidence and to provide

an advisory report on the application to register to the CRA.

Page 155



4. A NSPI was initially fixed for 23-25 June 2020 but had to be postponed
because of the pandemic. It was tentatively re-scheduled for 29-30
September 2020 when the prospect of a face-to-face hearing at a local venue
was still zero in view of government regulations placing restrictions on public

gatherings for the protection of the public.

5. At my suggestion the CRA agreed that an inquiry could proceed on the basis
that oral evidence was heard remotely with the remainder of the inquiry
process being determined by way of written representations. There followed
consultation with the parties at two pre-inquiry meetings on my Chambers
Zoom platform (at the second of which counsel appeared for both parties —
Horatio Waller for the applicant and James Marwick for the objectors (or ‘Os’),
namely Carolyn Parkinson and her sister Elizabeth Pike who inherited the
land from their father, the late Roger Pike) after which | issued directions for
the NSPI on 21 July 2020. Although there were other objectors the eventual
defence to the application coalesced in the case advanced by Os as owners

of the application land.

6. The NSPI took place and oral evidence was heard remotely on 29-30
September 2020. The process was much assisted by the skill and ingenuity of
both counsel who ensured that the inquiry (which is likely to have been the
first of its kind where oral evidence was heard remotely) ran as well as might
have been expected if it been held at a local venue, not least in relation to the
inquiry bundles which were uniformly well prepared and informative. | am also
indebted to counsel for their helpful and conscientious written submissions
which | received on 14 October 2020. Last, but not least, | am grateful for the
administrative support provided by officers of WC (Sally Madgwick and Sarah
Marshall) which was indispensable to the smooth-running of the process in

what were clearly testing and unique circumstances.
Legal framework

7. Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 (‘CA 2006’) (under which subsection
the application to register is made) enables any person to apply to register

land as a TVG in a case where -

Page 356



(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood within
a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a
period of at least 20 years; and

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.

One then has to look at the various elements of the statute all of which have

to be made out to justify registration.

‘a significant number’

9.

10.

‘Significant’ does not mean considerable or substantial. What matters is that
the number of people using the land has to be sufficient to indicate that their
use of the land signifies that it is in general use by the local community for
informal recreation rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers
(R v Staffordshire County Council, ex parte McAlpine Homes Ltd [2002]
EWHC 76 at [64] (Admin) (Sullivan J)). In most cases, where recreational use
is more than trivial or sporadic it will be sufficient to put a landowner on notice
that a right is being asserted by local inhabitants over his land. See Leeds
Group Plc v Leeds City Council [2010] EWCA Civ 1438 at [31] (Sullivan L.J)
and R (Allaway) v Oxfordshire CC [2016] EWHC 2677 (Admin) where the
court found that an inspector had properly concluded that the starting point
had to be whether the recreational use relied was such as to suggest to the
reasonable landowner the exercise of a right to indulge in lawful sports and

pastimes across the whole of his land.

As this is not an application based on a ‘neighbourhood within a locality’ Mr
Marwick is right when he says that the CRA need only be concerned with the
sufficiency of use on the part of those living within the singular locality. Put
another way, any use by individuals living outside the claimed locality will not
count. The position is otherwise on a neighbourhood application (Leeds
Group Plc v Leeds City Council [2010] EWCA Civ 1438).

‘of the inhabitants of any locality’

11.

The term ‘locality’ is taken to mean a single administrative district or an area
within legally significant boundaries. On this application the objector agrees

that the relevant qualifying locality is the village and civil parish of Hilperton

3
Page 157



(which, as the context permits, will be referred to in this report as ‘Hilperton’,
‘Hilperton village’, or ‘the village’) which is only separated by a few fields from
the north-eastern edge of Trowbridge. The population of the village was a little
under 5,000 at the time of the 2011 census.

‘have indulged as of right’

12.

The traditional formulation of the requirement that user must be ‘as of right’ is
that the user must be without force, secrecy or permission (the so-called
‘tripartite test’). The rationale behind as of right is acquiescence. The
landowner must be in a position to know that a right is being asserted and he
must acquiesce in the assertion of the right. In other words, he must not resist
or permit the use. The nature of the inquiry is the use itself and how it would,
assessed objectively, have appeared to the landowner. One first has to
examine the use relied upon and then, once the use had passed the threshold
of being of sufficient quantity and suitable quality, to assess whether any of
the elements of the tripartite test applied, judging these questions objectively
from how the use would have appeared to the landowner. Judging from Mr
Marwick’s closing submissions the issue of an implicit licence is not pursued,

nor does he suggest that the claimed use was, at any time, non-peaceable.

‘lawful sports and pastimes’

13.

14.

The expression ‘lawful sports and pastimes’ (‘LSP’) form a composite
expression which includes informal recreation such as walking, with or without

dogs, and children’s play.

Difficulties arise where the predominant recreational use is that involving the
use of paths (typically tracks crossing or running around the perimeter of a
field) such as would have appeared to a reasonable landowner to be referable
to the exercise of existing, or the potential acquisition of new, public rights of
way rather than rights sufficient to support a TVG registration. The matter has
been addressed in Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council [2004]
EWHC 12 (Ch) at [102]-[103] and in Laing Homes Ltd v Buckinghamshire
County Council [2004] 1 P&CR 36 at [102]-[110]. The guidance in these cases
was approved by Lord Hoffmann in the Oxfordshire case at [2006] 2 AC 674

Page i58



15.

16.

17

at [68] and was also followed more recently in R (Allaway) v Oxfordshire
County Council [2016] EWHC 2677 (Admin).

A helpful overview of the pre-Allaway cases is to be found in the village green
report of Vivian Chapman QC in Radley Lakes (13/10/2007) at [304]-[305]
who said that the main issue in such cases is whether the use would appear
to a reasonable landowner as referable to the exercise of a right of way along
a defined route or to a right to enjoy recreation over the whole of a wider area
of land. If the appearance is ambiguous, then it shall be ascribed to a lesser

right, i.e. a right of way.

Dyfed County Council v Secretary of State for Wales (1989) 59 P&CR 275)
should also be noted. Here it was held that the use of a path for purposes
ancillary to the recreational use of a lake did not give rise to a presumption

of a public right of way. The principle appears to be that the use of paths
cannot be excluded for TVG purposes where it is ancillary to LSP taking place

on the land as a whole.

It is now tolerably clear in law that where a path or paths are merely being
used for walking it would not normally count as it could not then be said that
walkers were mainly using the land as a whole for general recreation. Such a
state of affairs might arise, for instance, where, although some walkers were
simply using the paths as part of a route from a point outside the land to
another, the great majority were using the land for general recreation by
walking on the paths whilst say their dogs ran all over the land and where
others indulged in other forms of qualifying recreation elsewhere. The
guestion at the end of the day is what a reasonable landowner would think
from the totality of the walking and other recreation taking place on the land
as a whole. If the position is ambiguous then it is correct in law that an
inference should be drawn in favour of use which would indicate only an
emergent right of way in which case it should be discounted. It would though
be quite wrong to say that the use of paths should always be excluded and
and especially where such use happens to be integral to a pattern of much

wider recreational use taking place across the land as a whole.

Page 159



Use of a public right of way

18.

The foregoing legal position is normally applicable to the treatment of
emergent rights of way rather than to tracks which are already shown as
public rights of way (‘PROWS’) in the Definitive Map and Statement for the
area (‘DMS’). The question is whether highway land is registrable as a matter
of law? | consider this to be unlikely as qualifying use on highway land

would be markedly constrained by the right of the public to use the land as a
highway. This arises from DPP v Jones [1999] 2 WLR 625 which determined
that the public can lawfully do anything reasonable on highway land provided
it does not interfere with the public’s right to pass and repass. In practice,
most activities on highway land would not be qualifying LSP and what is left
may either be too trivial to justify registration or else may amount to an
interference with the highway and be unlawful and thus non-qualifying in

any event. In my view, it would be legally correct for the CRA to proceed on
the basis that the public’s use of a PROW should be discounted as it cannot
be classified as use which is ‘as of right’ but ‘by right’. In this case the

application land is crossed by four PROWSs. | shall deal with this later.

‘on the land’

19.

The expression ‘on the land’ does not mean that the CRA has to look for
evidence that every square foot of the land has been used for LSP. Rather it
needs to be satisfied that, for all practical purposes, it can sensibly be said
that the whole of the land has been used for LSP for the relevant period,
always bearing in mind that qualifying use will be heavier in some areas than
in others (Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council [2004] Ch 253 at
[92]-[95]). Where areas of the land are shown not to have been used for LSP
(and the whole of the land is, in this instance, accessible to walkers) the
guestion is whether the whole of the land is still registrable. The answer to
this, in my view, is whether the unused areas can be said to be integral to the
enjoyment of the land as a whole although it is clearly a question of fact and
degree whether the existence of large tracts of unused land would justify

registration. On the other hand, the registration authority does have a power

Page (:SLGO



to sever from the application those parts of the land where qualifying use may
not have taken place, either at all or not for the full period.

‘for at least 20 years’

20.

21.

22.

23.

The relevant period in this case is 24 April 1997 to 24 April 2017 (i.e. the date
when the application to register was delivered to the CRA).

Qualifying use has to be continuous throughout the 20 year period (Hollins v
Verney (1884) 13 QBD 304). However temporary interruptions in use are not
to be equated with a lack of continuity. It is essentially a matter of fact and
degree for the decision-maker to determine whether the whole of the land has
been available for LSP throughout the 20 year period. In Taylor v Betterment
Properties (Weymouth) Ltd [2012] EWCA Civ 250 at [70] Patten L.J said that
where competing uses can accommodate one another then time does not
cease to run. In that case substantial drainage works meant that the public

were wholly excluded from part of the land for some 4 months.

On this application there is an issue of competing uses arising from the use of
the land for agricultural purposes. As say that the pattern of use when
agricultural use took place was a classic example of where public recreation

and low-level agricultural uses co-existed happily side-by-side.

The law is now clear about this, namely that where the recreational uses are
not displaced or excluded by, or incompatible with, the owner’s use in the
qualifying period they would generally still be regarded as qualifying for TVG.
The question posed in R (Lewis) v Redcar & Cleveland BC (No.2) [2010] 2 AC
(in the context of rights after registration) was whether it was possible for the
respective rights of the owner and of the local inhabitants to co-exist with give
and take on both sides. If the two uses could not sensibly co-exist at all then it
may very well give rise to a material interruption in the LSP. In TW Logistics
Ltd v Essex CC [2018] EWCA Civ 2172 (again in the context of an argument
on continuing use after registration) the court accepted the finding at first
instance that the competing uses had co-existed during the qualifying period

which it was found was essentially a question of factual evaluation.

7
Page 161



Procedural issues

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

The regulations which deal with the making and disposal of applications by
registration authorities outside the pilot areas make no mention of the
machinery for considering the application where there are objections. In
particular no provision is made for an oral hearing. A practice has, however,
arisen whereby an expert in the field is instructed by the CRA to hold a non-
statutory inquiry and to provide an advisory report and recommendation on

how it should deal with the application.

In Regina (Whitmey) v Commons Commissioners [2004] EWCA Civ 951
Waller L.J suggested at [62] that where there is a serious dispute, the

procedure of

conducting a non-statutory public inquiry through an independent expert should be followed

almost invariably.

However, the registration authority is not empowered by statute to hold a
hearing and make findings which are binding on the parties. There is no
power to take evidence on oath or to require the disclosure of documents or to
make orders as to costs. However, the registration authority must act

impartially and fairly and with an open mind.

The only question for the registration authority is whether the statutory
conditions for registration are satisfied. In its determination there is no scope
for the application of any administrative discretion or any balancing of
competing interests. In other words, it is irrelevant that it may be a good thing
to register the application land as a TVG on account of the fact that it has
been long enjoyed by locals as a public open space of which there may be an

acute shortage in the area.

The onus lies on the applicant for registration and there is no reason why the
standard of proof should not be the usual civil standard of proof on the

balance of probabilities.

The procedure in this instance is governed by the Commons (Registration of

Town or Village Greens) (Interim Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007.

8
Page 162



29.

30.

The prescribed procedure is very simple: (a) anyone can apply; (b) unless the
registration authority rejects the application on the basis that it is not ‘duly
made’, it proceeds to publicise the application inviting objections; (c) anyone
can submit a statement in objection to the application; and (d) the registration
authority then proceeds to consider the application and any objections and
decides whether to grant or to reject the application.

It is clearly no trivial matter for a landowner to have land registered as a TVG
and all the elements required to establish a new green must be ‘properly and
strictly proved’ (R v Suffolk CC ex p Steed (1996) 75 P&CR 102 at p.111 (Pill
L.J) and approved in R (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2003] UKHL 60
at [2] (Lord Bingham)).

Consequences of registration

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

Registration gives rise to rights for the relevant inhabitants to indulge in LSP

on the application land.

Upon registration the land becomes subject to (a) s.12 of the Inclosure Act
1857, and (b) s.29 of the Commons Act 1876.

Under s.12 of the Inclosure Act 1857 it is an offence for any person to cause

damage to a green or to impede
the use or enjoyment thereof as a place for exercise and recreation.

Under s.29 of the Commons Act 1876 it is deemed to be a public nuisance
(and an offence under the 1857 Act) to encroach or build upon or to enclose a

green. This extends to causing any

disturbance or interference with or occupation of the soil thereof which is made otherwise

than with a view to the better enjoyment of such town or village green.

Under both Acts development is therefore prevented.

Inquiry bundles and appendices

36.

For the avoidance of doubt, references to documents within the bundles will

be to A/1 and so on in the case of the applicants’ documents, OBJ/1 and so

9
Page 163



37.

38.

39.

40.

on in the case of the objector’s documents and CRA/1 and so on in the case

of documents within the CRA’s bundle.

Accompanying this report are four appendices. Appendix 1 (‘App/1’) is a map
of Hilperton village. The application land is edged black and forms the gap
between the settlement and Elizabeth Way and Trowbridge Road. The land
covers 12.8 acres and is crossed by the PROWSs identified on Appendix 2
(‘App/2’). App/2 pre-dates App/1l as Elizabeth Way is not shown on App/2.
Building work on the road began sometime in 2014 and the work was
evidently completed on 21 October 2015 (A/190). Having scrutinised the
aerial images it seems plain enough that none of the application land was
needed for the new road which cut through the north-east sides of the two
fields shown on A/189 with roadside fencing introduced on either side of the

new road.

The PROWs identified on App/2 (coloured blue) are classified on the DMS as
() HILP1 (which runs along the north-east edge of the land ; (ii) HILP2 (which
crosses the land from north to south); (iii) HILP3 (which runs from the north to
mid-way along the road boundary and is described as having a width of 0.6m
or 1.96 feet) and (iv) HILP4 (which crosses the land in the south-east corner
to the same mid-way point along the road boundary as HILP3). HILP33 is
coloured green on App/2 and is a bridleway. This track is known as Middle

Lane.

The PROWSs are described as having a width in each case of 0.6m or 1.96
feet. HILP1, HILP2 and HILP3 were added to the DMS in 1952 as footpaths
and have remained unaltered since that time. The bridleway, HILP33, was

added to the DMS at the same time and is also unaltered.

Appendix 3 (‘App/3’) comprises a very helpful list and accompanying plan
provided by As which tells us where the 13 access points are around the
perimeter of the land which are described under the list of gates. In this report
it will be convenient if | refer to the various access points by the numbering

shown on the plan in App/3.

10
Page 164



4].

Appendix 4 (‘App/4’) comprises another very useful batch of documents
provided by As which tells us where their witnesses (44) live (in a handful of
streets close to the application land) within the 24 households identified on the
plan. The list also includes the number of years which each witness claims to
have used the application land.

Description of the application land and surrounding area

42.

43.

44,

| carried out an unaccompanied inspection of the application land (which is
classified as Grade 1 agricultural land in the local development plan) on 21
August 2020. The weather was overcast and damp but with good visibility. |
spent time walking around and across the land and within the two fields on the
south-west side of Elizabeth Way. | also visited Middle Lane and the
recreation ground which sits alongside the village hall which is a formal open
space. | also took a large number of photos which has helped me to recall the
site as | come to my report. | also drove around the village and am satisfied

that | saw enough of the application land and the surrounding area.

| think | should begin by speaking about Hilperton village which is separated
by a few fields (known as the Hilperton Gap) from the north-eastern edge of
Trowbridge (see plan at App/2). South of Hilperton village are large areas of
housing constructed in the late 1990s (or even later) including the housing
estate known as Paxcroft Mead within which there are amenity spaces for
public recreation. The most prominent landmark in the village is the parish
church of St Michael and All Angels which can be seen (as ‘PW’) just off the
Knapp on the plan at App/1 beyond which is an enclosed graveyard which
adjoins the application land. If one refers to the plan at App/2 one sees that
HILP1 runs along a narrow path along the southern side of the churchyard
until you eventually arrive at small gate leading into the application land which
is a rectangular-shaped meadow which runs in a south-westerly direction up a

gentle slope to the Elizabeth Road boundary.

The location is an extremely tranquil one with a strong sense of openness. |
can readily understand that those who support the case for registration are

likely to have a strong desire for Hilperton village to retain its own identity and

11
Page 165



45.

46.

47.

48.

separation from its larger urban neighbour. However these are matters of

town planning with which | have no concern.

When inside the field | walked in a clockwise (or south-easterly) direction
alongside the boundary where there is a worn track in the grass in the position
shown on App/2, some 5m or thereabouts inside the boundary. The ground
itself was flat and seemed to me to be an ideal place for recreational walking.
| also observed a cross-field track following the alignment of HILP2 shown on
App/2 which follows a gentle upslope gradient towards Elizabeth Way at its
junction with what is known as the Fieldways roundabout. The eastern
boundary comprises a field hedge until one comes upon various dwellings
with prominent gates where shown on the plan at App/3 between which there
was a mix of boundary features including a brick wall of some age and mesh
fencing. The perimeter path takes you to the made-up track and gate leading
into Trowbridge Road at point 9 on App/3.

At the south-eastern corner of the land the perimeter path continues (again
running clockwise around the field) along its southern boundary with
Trowbridge Road. The path is again some 5 yards out into the field and |
noticed that in places along this boundary some trees had been planted by, |
gather, the parish council which was mentioned in the oral evidence. | might
add that in the south-east corner at point 9 on App/3 | did notice a track in the
grass (which was not particularly worn) running upslope following roughly the
same alignment for HILP4 on App/2 which leads to the access mid-way along

the boundary with Elizabeth Road which | will deal with later.

The track in the grass running alongside the Trowbridge Road boundary was
well worn. It follows the perimeter of the field and there is a well-worn spur off
it near point 11 on App/3 which leads to a 5-bar field gate alongside a smaller
gate for pedestrian use. In the road outside there is a pavement leading back
into the village. Looking back into the field at point 11 on App/3 | could see a

worn cross-field track running along the same alignment for HILP2 with a

cross-field view of the church tower being a notable feature on the landscape.

Alongside the boundary with Elizabeth Way there was more than one

perimeter path. There was a track quite close to the undergrowth at the outer

12
Page 166



49.

50.

51.

52.

edge of the field and another well-worn track further out into the field. There
was a post and rail fence alongside the road although the boundary was
heavily overgrown the nearer one got to the corner of the field at point 11 on
App/3. However, running on clockwise to point 13 there is a pedestrian gate
with an area just outside the field, say 20 yards wide, on which a vehicle may
park alongside the road. In fact, whilst | walking at this point a vehicle did park
just outside the field in this area from which a dog walker emerged who came
into the field whom | observed walked the whole way along HILP4 to point 9
on App/3 and back again to her parked car.

| should perhaps mention that point 12 on App/3 is not a current gate and is
given to mark the location of the field gate which used to exist at this location
before Elizabeth Way was built. This was the point where cattle used to pass
between the adjoining fields and the ground still gently dips away where it had

become worn over decades of previous usage by cattle.

Although beyond point 13 on App/3 a well-worn perimeter path runs on quite
close up to the fencing installed by the road contractors there was another
track, albeit much less worn, running around the perimeter further out into the
field. Both tracks continued around the perimeter, one more worn that the
other running closer into the dense hedgerow, with the other less worn track

running much further out as it rounded the north-west corner of the field.

At point 1 on App/3 there is a somewhat run-down field gate with barbed-wire
threaded along the top rung to prevent people clambering over the gate where
the oral evidence suggested that it could be opened at the latch without too
much difficulty (I did not try this) and was a well used point of access into the
field. The oral evidence suggested that this gate (which leads into Middle
Lane) is used by vehicles gaining access to the graveyard. If one refers to the
plan at App/3 one can see that the outline of the field changes in this corner
where it accommodates the graveyard which is surrounded by a tall planted

hedgerow with a 5-bar gate for vehicular access shown at point 2 on App/3.

Having walked around the perimeter of the field | investigated the inner areas
of the field. In doing this | walked over much of the field and it seemed plain

enough to me that outside the above-mentioned tracks crossing the field

13
Page 167



53.

54.

(which were consistent with the alignment of the PROWSs shown on the plan
at App/2) there was no other obvious wear and tear on the ground other than,
in some places, marks consistent with the passage of vehicles which is

unsurprising as | was told that the grass is normally cut for silage in June/July.

Before | close on my own inspection of the field | should mention that in the
time | was there | must have seen in the region of say half a dozen dog
walkers who, with the exception of the walker who had parked her car outside
the gate at point 13 on App/3, walked around the edge of the field.

My own inspection of the field in August 2020 broadly mirrors the position
shown in the images on Google earth in the years 2006 and 2014-18 where
the predominant activity appears to be that of walking on the PROWSs and
around the perimeter of the field. My impression on my visit was that the
PROWSs were not as readily discernable on the ground as is likely to have
been the case if, say, | had been walking on trodden tracks through longer
grass whereas, at the time of my visit, the grass had only been cut a month or
so before. Although | am unsure whether one can place too much reliance on
the accuracy of the monthly dating shown on the online images, it seems to
me that the aerial images for 2006 and 2018 clearly show tracks on the
ground and my impression is that these images were probably taken when the
grass was much longer than it was on my visit. | might add that | viewed all
the images for the application land online which are very much clearer than
the copies in the applicant’s bundle. In the current context it is, | think,
reasonable to speculate that there are going to be subtle shifts in the actual
locations of the tracks from one year to the next depending upon where, on
the ground, walking resumes once the grass has been cut each year and/or

where muddy areas are bypassed by walkers.

Photographs

55.

The applicant’s bundle contained a number of photographs (the objector
produced no photos). These are set out below along with the withesses who

produced them.

14
Page 168



0] Two undated photographs of pre-school children playing in the field
(Sonja Kotevska at A/62-63).

(i) Three photos taken on same day in 2002 of child, dog and adult in field
(Mr Kehily at A/95).

(i)  Single photo of Hart family taken on date unknown walking on snow in
field (Heidi Hart at A/85).

(iv)  Two photos taken in June 2015 by Chris Hart showing longer grass
and wild flowers at A/87 and enlarged at A/155-156).

(v) Photo of field (assumed to be taken in February 2016) at gateway on
point 9 on App/3 showing muddy start of HILP4 running upslope Andrew Pike
at A/115).

(vi) A batch of photos collected together at A/119-186. Those of interest

include the following:

e Six aerial photos of dog-walkers walking mainly outside the various
tracks on same day in Feb/2018 (A120-125). Even though these
photos post-date the qualifying period (which ended in April 2017) they
are still relevant as they show (i) large sections of the perimeter track
on its north-eastern and north-west sides; (ii) HILP1 running (in this
instance as two tracks running parallel with one other along the field’'s
north-east boundary) between points 3 and 9; (iii) HILP2 and HILP3
running out across the field from point 3 on App/3; (iv) the
convergence of HILP3 and HILP4 at point 13 on App/3; and (v) the

perimeter path where it runs up the boundary with Elizabeth Way.

e A batch of photos taken in July/2017 (at A/126-132). Although these
photos again post-date the qualifying period, they are still helpful in
that they show the length and nature of the uncut meadow grass in
various parts on the field before and after it was mowed. For instance,
the photo at A/126 (4b) shows the worn perimeter path running
alongside what must be Trowbridge Road with the uncut grass on

either side. At A/127 (4c) one can see the length of the grass running

15
Page 169



crossfield in the direction of the church. There is a useful photo at 6b
showing a group of dog-walkers walking through unbaled grass
cuttings towards point 3 on App/3 on what | suspect is roughly the
same alignment as HILP2. At A/131 we have a 1993 photo (which pre-
dates the start of the qualifying period in 1997) showing 6 cows, an
adult and a child on the southern side of the field.

At A/133 we have a couple throwing a frisbee to one another in May
2016. They appear to be standing on a worn track in the approximate
position of HILP1 on App/2.

At A/135-142 we have an undated batch of photos provided by Lesley
House showing a snowbound field, children and their parents on the
field in warmer weather and a particularly interesting photo at A/138
showing the use of worn tracks and uncut meadow grass on either
side. The field is obviously rich in buttercups. This photo can be
viewed alongside the two photos at A/153 which are likely to have

been taken at the same time by Rob Coles in March 2013.

At A/145-146 we have children playing in the snow in Feb/2009. At
A/146 (bottom) we have a walker using a section of worn grass and at
A/147-152 we have photos of adults and children in the snow in 2009
and 2010.

At A/154 there is a photo of Maggie Coles with her two dogs on the
north-eastern boundary of the field in 2012 in the approximate position
of HILP1 shown on App/2.

At A/157-174 we have photos of children and adults again playing in
the snow in 2009-2010. Within this batch are photos of J Clark’s dogs
(A/163 & 166).

The batch of photos at A/175 onwards includes photos taken in 2018,
2019 and 2020 which again post-date the end of the qualifying period

and are no doubt intended to be indicative of previous use. Of some

16
Page 170



56.

interest, however, is (i) at A/178 a photo of a group of walkers taken
sometime in 2017 by Heidi Hart stood on the perimeter path alongside
Elizabeth Way; (ii) at A/177 a photo of a model aeroplane also taken
by Heidi Hart in March 2017 showing, in the foreground, a worn path
running across the field in the approximate position of HILP1 and is
consistent with the alignment of the same worn path | saw on my own
viewing which is still a few yards out from the boundary (the inner path
close to the boundary shown on A/121 was barely noticeable on my
visit); (iii) at A/186 there is a photo of a group of people with dogs
taken by Chris Hart on 15 June 2020 which, in the foreground, shows
a worn track in what could well be the approximate position on the
ground of HILP1; and (iv) at A/183 there is another photo taken by
Chris Hart on 21 June 2020 showing what looks like a child on a
miniature motor bike riding across the field within a worn section of

grass with unmown and much taller grass on either side.

The photos are helpful when it comes to the length of the unmown grass at
the height of the growing season which can, | suspect, grow somewhere in
the region 1-2 feet and would generally be too long to walk through in
comfort (especially when there were trodden tracks nearby) although a dog
could certainly chase through it (see A/126-127, A/130-131,A/138, A/140,
A/142, A/153, A/155-156 and 183). | also accept that the height of the grass
in the growing season would not be consistent across the whole of the field
and would probably be lower on the periphery of the field (see A/126, A/138,
A/154 and A/163). Judging from the photos, where the grass is long and unfit
for walking users very probably stick to the established tracks where the
grass is more convenient for walking (see A/126 (photo 4b), A/138, A/153,
A/183 or even the picture of J Clark’s dog in 2015 at A/163 which is walking
quite close to App/3 where one can see that even where the grass is not
especially long there is still a worn track curving around the corner of the field
in a north-easterly direction along the Trowbridge Road boundary). It is
undoubtedly true, however, that there are photos of instances of recreational
use taking place outside the established tracks such as during the snow or

before the start of the growing season when the height of the grass makes

17
Page 171



walking much easier across the whole of the field although it is to be
expected that where the established tracks become muddy pedestrians will

normally walk outside them.

The objectors evidence

The written evidence

S7.

58.

59.

60.

61.

| shall begin with the evidence of the late Roger Pike who died in December
2017. Mr Pike used to own the application land (in fact the Pike family owned
around 500 acres in and around Hilperton village, including the land on which
the Paxcroft Mead development was built) which is now vested in his two
daughters, Elizabeth Pike and Mrs Carolyn Parkinson, both of whom gave

oral and written evidence objecting to the application.

The late Mr Pike’s statement is at OBJ/26 and is dated 2 October 2017. Until
he retired Mr Pike was a local dairy farmer. He confirms that in the period
1990-2014 the application land was being used by the late Richard Fyfe for
grazing livestock during the summer and autumn seasons. Following the
construction of Elizabeth Way he says that Mr Fyfe (who | understand died in

2018) used the land only for silage.

Mr Pike accepts that dog-walkers have been using the land. He makes the
point that ‘cattle and dogs do not mix very well’ such that there would have
been around four months each year where dogs were not being walked on
the land. He says that even if dog walkers were using the land at the same
time as cattle were in the field they would not have been able to roam where

they wanted.

Mr Pike agrees that he allowed grave diggers access to the graveyard with
their equipment via the gate on Middle Lane (point 1 on App/3) and for
camping and ‘other extracurricular activities’ by school pupils at Hilperton
School on special occasions although he denies that the school would have

gone onto the land ‘whenever they like without running it past me first’.

The late Richard Fyfe’s statement is dated 2 October 2017 and will be found

at OBJ/15. Mr Fyfe deals with the arrangements which enabled him to graze

18
Page 172



62.

the land and to mow it for silage or a hay crop. He produces the grass keep
agreements for the seasons in 2011-2014 which he says are just some of the
agreements which he had with Mr Pike over the years in ‘the 27 years or so’
he used the land. He says that he mowed the land for silage in around June
and grazed livestock there for the rest of the time (in the case of the
agreements between 2011-2014, the right to graze endured between 1
March and the 31 December which is likely to have been the norm whilst Mr
Fyfe used the land until the end of 2014. The last of the three grass keep
agreements produced was made with Mr Pike and his two daughters who by
then were joint owners of the land — in fact the 2014 agreement was more
costly and extended to 23.56 hectares whereas the earlier agreements had
involved only the application land which extended to 12.87 acres. Mr Fyfe
says that with Elizabeth Way splitting the land it was no longer convenient to
use the land for grazing although he continued to take a cut of silage up to
2017 when he retired from farming.

There follows at OBJ/121 a statement from a Richard Vigar who farmed
locally and whose firm J.H Vigar & Son took a grazing licence from the late
Mr Pike for a period of 9 months ending on 30 November 2017. Itis to be
observed that he also took a hay crop and a cut of silage in the 2017 growing

season.

The oral evidence

63.

Richard Vigar’s daughter, Jacqui Browne, gave oral and written evidence.
Her statement is dated 10 September 2020 and will be found at OBJ/11. She
confirmed that the Vigar family took over the land under an agreement which
lasted between 1 May to 30 November 2017 and which has continued to
date. The grass is cut for hay and silage in June/July and is not used for
grazing. Mrs Browne says that she only visits the field a few times a year
before it is cut. In her statement she says that she observed people walking
on the paths through the field rather than through the longer grass. She says
that the grass ‘is far from ideal’ and one of the reasons for this is that the field

is used by ‘a lot of dog walkers’.

19
Page 173



64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

In her oral evidence Mrs Browne said (and she was, | think, speaking in
general terms) that dog-walkers follow paths, where there may be no grass,
even though their dogs may be off the lead. In the case of the application
land she said that the paths would have been ‘permanently obvious to
walkers any day in the year as the grass is flattened by frequent walking’.
She said that you could not avoid seeing ‘trodden footpaths around the field’.
The crop (be it hay or silage) would have been ‘between’ the paths was not
of good quality and it was not as if it was a ‘new ley’ (i.e. land put down to
grass for one or more years as opposed to permanent pasture). She said
that there was no grass to cut on the tracks within the field.

Mrs Browne said that there were always dog walkers in the field on her
infrequent visits. Dog-mess had also been a concern (although she herself
had not seen any) with the result that none of the silage cut in the field is fed
to their cattle within 6 months of being baled.

| accept the evidence of Mrs Browne who was a conscientious witness,
although her own observations of people using the land were necessarily
limited as her visits were only occasional. The thrust of her evidence,
however, was that the tracks within and circling the field were flattened

ground indicating where regular walking must have been taking place.

The firm of R.H & I.R Craddock Ltd were also initial objectors to the
application to register. A letter of objection from this dated 31 August 2017
will be found at OBJ/28. In the event Mr I.H Craddock (who was born in the
village in 1961) gave oral evidence (R.H Craddock is his father). The
Craddock’s have a farm in Hilperton and Mr Craddock is familiar with the
application land. The Craddock objection is based on the fact that any use of

the application land by local inhabitants is limited to the four PROWS.

The Craddock land is extensive and includes the arable and pasture beyond
Middle Lane along with other land on the south-east side of Hilperton to the
north of Devizes Road. Mr Craddock said that he only walked with his own
dog on the application land ‘once or twice’. Indeed since 1997 he has lived in

Hill Street which is not especially close to the land.

20
Page 174



69.

70.

71.

72.

73.

Mr Craddock accepted that a lot of (as he put it) ‘dog activity’ takes place on
the application land although he also said that there are ‘also a lot of
footpaths, so it's a good place to walk a dog’. Mr Craddock is aware of the
importance of footpaths as he says that he marks out the paths on the
Craddock land once a crop has been sown. One can see from the plan at
App/2 that HILP5 and HILP54 crosses arable land belonging to the
Craddocks (see also the 2014 image from Google earth at A/189). He also

says that he is ‘very quick to jump on anybody not walking in the right place’.

In dealing in chief with what he observed taking place on the application land,
Mr Craddock accepted that he had seen dog walkers walking between the
PROWSs. When cross-examined about this he said that the dogs he had seen
‘were wandering freely across the land’. In terms of cattle on the land, he
said that after the silage has been cut there may be a batch of up to 30 cattle
on the land.

| find that Mr Craddock was a genuine witness. What | think he probably
meant when he gave evidence in chief about dog walkers walking between
the PROWSs was that he saw dogs wandering all over the field. This is what
he claimed in cross-examination. | doubt this matters very much as | find that
Mr Craddock was not a regular visitor to the application land and that his
observations of dog-walking were limited to what he saw on his occasional
visits to the land. He is, | think, unlikely to have gathered very much about
where, precisely, people were walking on the land if he was relying solely on

his view of the application land when looking across from the Craddock land.

Elizabeth Pike gave oral and written evidence. Her statement will be found at
OBJ/10.

Ms Pike told the inquiry that she was brought up in Hilperton. She and her
sister left the village in the 1990s. In her case she returned home to visit her
parents on a very regular basis (I think she lived firstly in Melksham before
moving to Chippenham). In their retirement in the 1990s her parents, having
farmed in the village at Church Farm, moved to live in Nursery Close which is
very close to the application land. Ms Pike said that she visited her parents

most weeks. Although her mother died in 1999 she continued seeing her

21
Page 175



74.

75.

father regularly, certainly after 2012-13 when he became more infirm, until
his death in December 2017.

Ms Pike has always had a dog and regularly took it for walk on the
application land when she visited her parents. She says that she saw dog
walkers in the field having accessed the land at any one of points marked 1,
3 and 9 on the plan at App/3. She says that she used the perimeter path.
She says that in general people walked on the paths within the field. She
says there were more dog walkers on the field after the development of the
Paxcroft Mead estate (see location plan at App/4 — she said that walkers
from the estate entered the field at point 11 on the plan at App/3 whereas

villagers whom she knew would usually enter the field at points 3 and 9).

Ms Pike says that her father paid for, as | understand it, a number of the
pedestrian swing gates and 5-bar gates which were kept locked. She
particularly mentioned the 5-bar gates off Middle Lane and into the graveyard
where a key/keys was/were kept by the Parish Council and/or the contractors
in order to facilitate the digging of graves. She also mentioned instances of
overflow parking (involving as many as 100 cars) permitted by her father
within the field at times near to the gate at point 1 on App/3 when there was
what she described as ‘Open House’ at Hilperton House which is located just
in front of the church. | doubt whether this happened very often as she
mentioned such events occurring only in June 2015/June 2016. | also gather
from her oral evidence that pre-arranged parking within the field also took
place from time to time in the case of weddings and funerals although in view
of her cross-examination replies it seems probable that this would have
occurred, as she put it, ‘back in the day’ or in the 1980s/90s rather than in
recent years. She says that her father was, as she again puts it, ‘a very
giving person to the village’ and he always gave his consent to his field being
used for these purposes. (It is worth noting that Ernest Clark, as Chair of the
Parish Council, said that he had no recollection of the field being used for car
parking at the time of weddings or funerals during the qualifying period from
which it may be reasonable to infer that when she said ‘back in the day’ Ms
Pike probably meant before 1997.)

22
Page 176



76.

77.

78.

79.

80.

81.

Ms Pike says that her father was a quietly-spoken man who did not look for
trouble. She doubted whether he would ever ask someone to stick to the
PROWS crossing his land if they were walking outside these paths. She said

that he just ‘let things go — he was liked in the village’.

In relation to the grazing cattle, Ms Pike said that before Elizabeth Road
came (and, as already indicated, the road works severed the application land
from the two fields which adjoined it on its south-western side (A/187)) cattle
would move around between these fields once the silage had been cut.

Ms Pike was a conscientious witness. She not only visited the field regularly
but also had a very clear recollection of what she observed when in the field

and generally gave her evidence with great care.

Carolyn Parkinson also gave written and oral evidence. Her statement is at
A/9. Mrs Parkinson left Hilperton more than 30 years ago. Mrs Parkinson
lived locally for a while before moving to the Isle of Wight in 2001 where she
still lives. She said that she visited her father once a month and would
generally stay for a couple of days. On her visits home she often walked her
dog in the field if he had accompanied her on the trip. If she met up with her
sister they would walk the land together. She said that unless on a lead the
dogs in the field would run off with their owners following them. She also said
that most people walked around the outside of the field unless they wanted to
walk further in which case they walked across the field. Mrs Parkinson gave
clear evidence that ‘most people stuck to the tracks’, meaning on the

PROWSs or the perimeter path.

Although not as regular a visitor to the field as her sister | find that Mrs
Parkinson was, like her sister, a genuine withess who was clear in her

evidence that walkers in the field kept mainly to the established tracks.

Before leaving the objectors’ evidence | also take into account the letter of
objection dated 30 August 2017 which was sent in by Mrs Rosemary Sims of
Hilperton Marsh who complains (in effect) (i) there is already adequate
amenity space in the village; (ii) the field is not of high value in ecological

terms; (iii) the field will not be maintained as well as it is at the present time

23
Page 177



(presumably she means if it is registered as a TVG); and (iv) the only reason
the land has been selected for possible registration is that it will at least limit
any development taking place within the Hilperton Gap.

The applicant’s evidence

The oral evidence

82.

83.

84.

85.

Nicola Walker was the applicant’s first witness. Mrs Walker’s statements will
be found at A/29 (17 August 2020) and A/89 (undated). Mrs Walker lives at
16 Church Street, Hilperton. This address is at number 16 on the plan at
App/4. Mrs Walker has lived in the village since 2007 and has been a dog
walker in the field daily since 2008.

In her 2020 statement she says that she has walked her ‘dog daily around
the field for his health and mine’. She mentions ‘a well trodden track around
the field, at a distance of five or more meters from the edge in places’. When
cross-examined she said that most walkers used this path. She says that
there are a significant number of dog walkers using the field even when cattle
have been kept there. She thought that there was usually only around a
‘dozen or so’ cattle in the field at any one time and that cattle would have
been in the field (and | understood her to mean annually — no doubt after the
silage had been cut in June/July) for some ‘8-12 weeks’. She said that the
cattle were not particularly intrusive and that they moved around ‘as a herd’
and it was easy to walk around them or to change direction as necessary to
avoid encountering them. However whenever cattle were in the field she said

that she kept her dog on the lead.

Mrs Walker said that she mainly accessed the field via the gate at point 3 on
App/3. Only rarely would she walk through into the adjoining fields before
Elizabeth Way was built. When on the field with her dog she says that she
followed the path going round the field and that she rarely used the cross-
field paths. She says she has made many new friends on the field over the

years and meets up with other dog-walkers using the field at the same time.

Mrs Walker’s step-son was only 6 when she moved to Hilperton and, usually

in the summer, they played ball games on the field. In the winter when it

24
Page 178



86.

87.

88.

snowed they built snowmen (I have no precise details as to when the field
would have been covered in snow although there are photos of snow in
2009-10 although Mrs Walker conceded that it would not have been possible
to build a snowman every year). The playing of games would have taken
place outside the tracks mainly at the northern end of the field.

Mrs Walker stated that the length of the grass did not affect her use of the
field as there was always ‘a very defined track around the perimeter of the
field’. There were also people ‘crossing or walking a direct path across the
field without dogs’ (and she agreed that there are a number of PROWSs within
Hilperton Gap — for instance, one can see from the plan at App/2 that HILP3
continues right into Trowbridge via TROW47). She considers the use of the
PROWSs to have reduced since Elizabeth Way was built which, as |
understand her evidence, means that most people using the field are using it

as a destination for recreation.

In chief Mrs Walker dealt with other activities observed by her on the field
such as people picnicking, sunbathing or just sitting on the field, frisbee
throwing and ball games. The clear impression | got from Mrs Walker’s
evidence is that none of these activities took place with any frequency and
even then occurred only in small pockets of the field, usually around the
periphery when the grass was growing or in the central areas after it had
been cut. Indeed, when cross-examined she accepted that whereas the
PROWSs were used regularly by walkers (with or without dogs) it was only
occasionally that other recreational activities take place on the field. She
noted that organised sports took place at the recreation ground (as a
member of the Village Hall Committee until 2010 Mrs Walker would have

been aware of what took place at the recreation ground and how it was run).

Mrs Walker was a genuine witness and | accept her evidence. Her evidence
was clearly to the effect that the field is mainly used by dog walkers who walk
on the established path running around the outside of the field. It was also
her evidence that other recreational activity outside the various paths would

have taken place only occasionally.

25
Page 179



89.

90.

91.

92.

The next oral withness was Tasha Harvey who, until a couple of years ago,
lived at 3 Nursery Close which backs onto the field to which access is
obtained via its own gate (see point 6 on the plan at App/4). She now lives at
Victoria Road in Trowbridge which appears to be only a short walk from
Middle Lane. Her statements are at A/33-36.

Ms Harvey was born in Hilperton in 1996 (at a time when the family were
living at an address at Hill Street in Hilperton). She says that the application
land ‘has been part of my life for as long as | can remember’. She mentions
playing in the snow with her sister and friends, flying kites, games of
rounders or playing hide and seek with friends who lived locally. One can
imagine how simple it would have been for Ms. Harvey, when only a small
child, to play in the field within such a short distance of the back gate to her
home. She says that as she became more independent she would use the
entire field, wandering off the paths picking flowers, flying her kite, playing in
the snow or taking the dogs of neighbours for a walk (she walked a number
of dogs belonging to various people on the field — she said that she walked
on and off the paths). When she was old enough she says she walked into

Trowbridge across the fields before Elizabeth Way was built.

In her oral evidence she recalls playing rounders in the field between the
ages of 5/6 until she was 16 although when asked about this it never
occurred more than around 7-8 times a year and would have been less often
after the age of 14 when her main playmates would have been her friends at
her secondary school in Bradford-on-Avon. It seems that the area in which
she played rounders would have been outside her home although her flower-
picking took her further into the field. She says that she gave cattle a wide
berth whenever they were in the field. They never prevented her from being
able to use the field for whatever reason she wanted, nor did the grass-

cutting in the summer.

Ms Harvey said that she used the field for walks with or without her
neighbours’ dogs. She did though observe a number of dog-walkers using
the field either on the paths or walking outside of them for different reasons

such as the presence of grazing cattle which she says numbered between

26
Page 180



93.

94.

95.

15-20 max. She said that the field was mainly used by dog-walkers in her
time at Nursery Close. Of some significance she said that any other activity
taking place in the field would have depended on the grass by which, |

understand, she meant the length of the grass.

Although I find that Ms Harvey was a genuine witness | consider it to have
been more likely than not that her use of the field would only have been
regular in the period when she was old enough to play unsupervised (such
as when she was playing rounders near her back gate) at a time when she
was living in Nursery Close and only then when she was still attending the
local primary school. At other times, | suspect that the frequency of her use
of the field would have been limited mainly to those occasions when she
walked dogs belonging to others around the circular path although | do not
doubt that the dogs she was walking ran off the lead to various parts of the
field and that she would have run after them if she felt inclined to play with
them. In my view, it is probable that when walking in the field she kept mainly
to the paths. Nor am | suggesting that she did not roam around the whole of
the field when picking flowers. It is just that | find that this activity probably
happened only occasionally when she was a small child, rather like her kite-
flying, building dens and playing hide and seek or even playing in the snow at
those times in the qualifying period when there was enough snow on the

ground.

Robert Coles lived at 4 Nursery Close between 1978 and April 2016 when
the property was sold to the Hart family. This is the charming property shown
in the remarkable photo at A/148 showing a perfect rainbow overhead. One
can see the gate into the field in this photo. His statement is at A/37. Itis
worthy of note that until Nursery Close was developed this property (which
used to have a Church Road address) enjoyed no vehicular access for which
he had to obtain consent from Mr Pike to use the access off Trowbridge
Road at point 10 on the plan at App/3 (which has fallen into disuse but still

affords access to 4 Nursery Close if required).

Mr Coles and his wife have two children who were aged 15 (boy) and 13

(girl) in 1997. Mr Coles frankly admitted that his children probably stopped

27
Page 181



96.

97.

98.

using the field as a play area when they were aged around 14. In the period
1990-2015 the family had two dogs who were walked daily in the field. He
was asked about his regular walking route and he said that it would have
been around the perimeter of the field (they walked further afield when the
dogs were younger). The dogs were usually off the lead unless there was
cattle in the field in which case they would walk around them. Sometimes he
would see someone he knew and would walk over to speak to them.

Mr Coles said that most people walked around the field although there were
times when this was not the case and he cited the photo at A/148 which was
taken further into the field or when kicking a ball about with his son Michael
who was 15 in 1997 and which | doubt would have been a regular
occurrence in the qualifying period. Mr Coles also mentioned sunbathing or
people kicking a ball around in the summer before the grass got too long.
There is also the photo of Mrs Coles sitting on the ground with her dogs in
2012 which shows them in the field just outside HILP1. The second photo is
another ‘in the field’ photo showing a local mother and Mr Coles’s daughter
playing with a cow not far from their back gate but still further into the field
than HILP1.

Although Mr Coles accepted that there was more walking in the field with the
expansion of the Paxcroft Mead development he said that people (and | took
him to mean dog walkers) ‘always walked around the field’. He said that the
field was mainly used by dog walkers. He also mentioned kite flying, in which
his own children indulged, which he observed several times a year although
he did not give any further details about this. Although in his statement Mr
Coles mentioned watching visiting hot air balloons, helicopter landings and

kiteboarding these are most unlikely to count as qualifying activities.

| accept the evidence given by Mr Coles who did his utmost to assist the
inquiry. It is plain from his evidence that the field was mainly used by dog
walkers who walked around the field. Whilst it is true that parts of the field
would have been used for other recreational activities, the impression |
gained from his evidence is that the field was mainly used by dog walkers. It

was obviously a great blessing for the Coles’ family to have had such ready

28
Page 182



99.

100.

101.

access to this field. It was obviously a safe haven for the Coles’ children but,
as Mr Coles recognised, by the start of the qualifying period (1997) his
children were of an age when they were, or were soon to become, interested
in other things rather than playing around in a field with the limited attractions
which this field has for young children.

Sonja Kotevska currently lives in the property at point 19 on App/4 (4 Copper
Beeches) which is close to the Trowbridge Road entry at point 9 on the plan
at App/3. She has lived in the village since 1990. Her statements will be
found at A/43-49. From around 2008 Ms Kotevska has been the Lead
Practitioner/Manager of St Michael’s Pre-School which is based at the Village
Hall at Whadden Lane. She produced the photos of children running around
the field at A/46-47.

Ms Kotevska said that from sometime in the 1990s (and continuing) children
from the Pre-School (mainly in the warmer weather) visited the field in small
groups for nature studies/recreation (up to around 20 times max each year
and involving groups of 14 max with 4 accompanying adults). She said that
the children (3/4 year olds) would have been on the field for around half an
hour at a time. She said that she had accompanied the children to the field
on these nature/recreation trips even before she became Lead
Practitioner/Manager of the Pre-School although she doubted whether she
would have accompanied the children to the field as early as 1997 although

her predecessor would have done so.

Ms Kotevska also gave evidence of her own walking on the field (after 1998),
once or twice a day, with dogs (sometimes four at a time) belonging to others
depending on whose dog she was walking. She says that she usually walked
across the field and did not stick to the paths. Sometimes she had to walk
outside a path in order to bypass waterlogged areas (this was a reference to
the south-east side of the field). She says that she also walked in the centre
of the field to avoid groups walking around the outside path. She also said
that other dog-walkers walked outside the paths. She also said this in chief:
‘When I'm walking | see people walking off the outside path most of the time’.

| have not overlooked her written evidence that when using the field she has

29
Page 183



102.

103.

104.

also seen (as she puts it) ‘villagers using the whole field to take exercise,

flying kites, dog walkers and joggers using the whole field’.

When cross-examined Ms Kotevska said that the Pre-School had not asked
for permission to use the field although there were risk assessments in place
(which she did not produce). Although Ms Kotevska accepted that she had
met the late Roger Pike in the village she denied that she had ever sought
permission from him in relation to the Pre-School’s use of the field for the
purposes of their nature/recreation trips.

| was concerned by elements of Ms Kotevska’s evidence. Firstly, | find it hard
to accept that permission was not obtained by the Pre-School at some point
for children as young as this to be allowed to use the field whilst attending
Pre-School. A risk assessment would be the norm in a situation such as this
which, as it seems to me, is bound to have raised the question of landowner
consent. It might also have asked whether the landowner had insurance
cover in place for normal accidental risks. It seems to me that a visit to a field
used for agricultural purposes (albeit only occasionally) by upwards of
around 14 children aged between say 3-4 along with 4 supervising adults (a
trip of some distance for such young children and along busy roads), would
not have been a stroll in the park but an undertaking of some magnitude for a
Pre-School and doubtless took a great deal of organisation and very
probably also required parental consent. Ms Kotevska did not say that she
had looked through the available papers or had spoken to her predecessor to
ask whether there had in fact been an initial permission (which I am sure Mr
Pike would have given) which | think she ought to have done in view of the
importance of this evidence. All she said was that she had never asked Mr
Pike for permission (even though she accepts that she had met him in the
village). In my view, this is not a satisfactory answer. Of course, if he had
ever given permission then the use of this field by these children and the

accompanying adults who lived in the village would not be qualifying use.

The second concern | have about Ms Kotevska’s evidence is that she said
that whenever she was on the field she saw ‘people walking off the outside

path most of the time’. This was said by her in the context of her other

30
Page 184



105.

106.

evidence that she had seen other dog-walkers walking outside the paths.
This is important evidence. What she was saying was that dog-walkers did
not stick to the paths which is not consistent with the weight of the evidence
from other witnesses which is to the effect that they usually did. In the
circumstances, and especially in light of her evidence on the permission
point, it is, with regret, that | am bound to advise the CRA that it should not
attach great weight to the evidence of Ms Kotevska.

Ernest Clark is Chair of Hilperton Parish Council. He lives close to the field at
point 7 on the plan at App/4. Mr Clark is also a District and County Councillor
for the Hilperton ward. His written evidence is at A/39-42 and at 81 (I have
also noted his wife’s statement at A/98). He has lived in the village since
1992 and within a short time he became a regular visitor to the field, initially
(weather permitting) with his children when they were young and, since 2002,
as a dog-walker (he has had two dogs since 2006 which have been walked
by he and his wife). He has three children who were aged under 10 in 1997,
two of whom (now living out of the area) have provided supporting
statements at A/97 and at A/100.

His written evidence is to the effect that he and the children used the whole
of the field for recreation and not just the PROWSs. He also speaks of what it
was like before Elizabeth Way was built when he was a regular user of the
adjoining field to the south-west where his dogs continued to roam. He also
says that the grass cutting does not hinder use of the field as it takes only a
short period of time to cut and bale the grass and he avoids the vehicles
involved in this work if he is using the field at the same time. The position
was similar when cattle were grazing in the field (and they were never there
for extended periods) although he kept his dogs on their leads and kept away
from the cattle. Mr Clark also spoke of children ‘running around the field’,
joggers and others picnicking in the field or sitting around in collapsible
chairs. He concludes his written evidence by saying that on most of his visits
to the field there was usually one other walker (usually with a dog) using the

field but ‘not on any of the public footpaths’.

31
Page 185



107.

108.

109.

110.

111.

In his oral evidence Mr Clark said that his children walked with him around
the perimeter as ‘the hedges were more interesting’. He also said that the
exact route of the circular path ‘would vary’ and he instanced the introduction
of new trees planted in around 2010 which would have affected the location
of the perimeter path alongside Trowbridge Road which is now further into
the field than used to be the case. The position was the same in relation to
what he called the ‘trodden paths around the field’ which he said were not in
the same place every year although he conceded that they were ‘roughly’ in

the same place. He claimed that he was not ‘a great user of the ways’.

It emerged that he took longer walks if (as he put it) he was ‘feeling more
energetic’ (which | took to mean beyond the field into the adjoining fields
before Elizabeth Way was built) although he said that he now walked ‘one or
two laps’ of the field (which he explained in cross-examination meant walking
around the field twice) although he paid ‘no regard’ to the trodden paths. As
previously indicated in the case of Ms Pike’s evidence, Mr Clark could not
recall the field being used for parking during funerals and weddings during

the qualifying period and | accept his evidence about this.

When in chief he was asked where he walked in the field he said that he
walked both on and off the ‘trodden paths’. In the case of others, he
observed that some people used the perimeter path whereas others (like
himself) followed their dogs ‘rather than a track on the ground’. He did though

accept that the PROWSs were ‘being used but not by a lot of people’.

When cross-examined Mr Clark said that children would have played outside
the perimeter path. He also explained that his routine when going for a walk

in the field started with entry at point 9 on App/3. He then let the dogs off the
lead and followed them, aiming to intercept them as and where he could. He
said that he did walk on part of the perimeter path ‘when [he] needed to do

SO.

When asked by me to explain his reference (in chief) about walking ‘laps’ of
the field Mr Clark said that, having entered the field (off Trowbridge Road) at

point 9 he walked on it in (as he put it) a ‘haphazard way following the dogs

32
Page 186



112.

113.

114.

around, sometimes on the permitted path but mostly off it, but where | go is
not governed by the presence of paths or where they take me’.

The evidence of Mr Clark has troubled me as I think that he subconsciously
exaggerated the extent to which he walked outside the trodden paths, not
least the perimeter path, which is where one might reasonably expect him to
walk, or mainly walk, if, as he claimed, he walked ‘one or two laps’ of the
field. It also seems to me that it is inherently unlikely that he regularly walked
all over the field until the grass was cut in June/July as the grass was
probably too long to make it worth the effort when there were trodden tracks
all around the field.

Mrs Hart and her family moved to the village in 2007 living initially at 221
Church Street (between 8/18 on App/4) and, since 2016, alongside the field
at 4 Nursery Close. Her statements are at A/55-57. She and her family have
used the field throughout their time in the village. Her daughter Phoebe
learned to ride her bike on the field. Mrs Hart was happy to allow her children
to play unsupervised in the field with their large group of friends in the village
by the time of their final year at primary school. When living at Church Street
she would normally wander down to the field to check up on them and/or to
get them home for their tea. Mrs Hart says that the children played in most of
the field although, as it seems to me, she cannot really cannot be sure where

her children would have played on the field if she was not with them.

The family have had a dog since 2009 (one following the death of another)
and (weather permitting) she, along with the children when they were
younger, walked with the dog daily on the field with the dog off the lead
unless, that is, there were cattle grazing in the field (she said that she only
used the field occasionally before they got a dog in 2009). She says it was a
case of following close after her dog so that she could scoop up any mess.
She says that if she was meeting friends she might only walk on the trodden
paths. Indeed she said that if she saw people she knew walking on the
perimeter path she would do likewise from which | infer that this is where her
dog walking friends mainly walked when in the field. At other times, when

walking on her own or with the children, she said that they did not stick to the

33
Page 187



115.

116.

117.

paths and (as she put it) walked ‘randomly’. She said that she has never
‘stuck to the track’ which | take to be a reference to the perimeter path. She
says that on a normal day (since 2016) as many as 100 dogs use the field —
‘They all use it differently and randomly’. Mrs Hart described it as a ‘massive
amount of dog-walking’. Although at one time she counted as many as 15
separate families using the field, she agreed that the field was predominantly
used by dog-walkers who, as she said, wandered everywhere although
people do go ‘round the outside’. Mrs Hart also said that the location of the
tracks might shift because of mud.

Mrs Hart did not consider that the length of the grass impeded her use of the
whole of the field. She said that the grass was not long for very much of the
year. Children also used to cycle on the field and she has regularly seen
people flying kites (‘dozens of times’) and on one occasion | think she even

saw someone kite-surfing whose identity is unknown.

Mrs Hart has taken a leading role in the application to register. It was she
who signed the statutory declaration in support. She canvassed support and
asked for statements from people in the village and the application came to
be made in the name of the ‘Church Field Friends’. She also corrected typos
in the helpful online survey usage document (August 2020) at A/193-202
(which generated 93 participants and additional comments from 43
individuals) where we were told Alison Hoskins on A/196 should in fact be 6
and not 20 years use and Adam Ingham on A/195 should be 24 and not 88
years. | am quite satisfied that the application and evidence-gathering
process was undertaken by Mrs Hart and her colleagues with great care and

with all due propriety.

Mrs Hart is undoubtedly very committed to the application to register.
However, it was my impression that she, in common with Mr Clark,
subconsciously exaggerated the extent to which she walked outside the
established paths across and around the field. For instance, she claimed that
her children used the whole of the field even when she was not with them.
Further, her evidence that she might only walk on the trodden paths if she

was meeting up with friends or that if she saw people she knew walking on

34
Page 188



118.

119.

120.

the perimeter path she would join them is not entirely credible. It seems to
me that she probably only gave such evidence in order to stress how little
she used the established paths. | also doubted her evidence that the growing
grass did not restrict her use of the whole field when clearly it must have
done and for months at a time during the growing season. Although her
evidence clearly demonstrates that a large number of people in the village
used the field it is not, in my view, compelling when it comes to the central
issue on this application, namely as to exactly what parts of the field she and
others used when they were there walking with or without dogs.

Graham Kehily has since 1998 lived at 109 Church Street which is at point 5
on App/4. His statement will be found at A/53. He has two children, boys,
who were born in 1999 and in 2002. The family had a dog between 1999-
2013 and in his statement Mr Kehily said that he used the field extensively
for walking the dog and that his sons often came with him. He said they
would walk across the field and that the dog would run around and the
children played ball games. He said cattle (which he put at around 30-40
cows — although he said that cattle had not been there for several years)
would have been in the field for ‘a few weeks’ at a time when the grass would
be trampled down. Mr Kehily said that the tracks are more noticeable now
than they were 10-15 years ago although when cross-examined he said that

he was not ‘conscious’ of the tracks going back to 2000.

Mr Kehily says that he used the field as an ‘open space’ and that he did not
stick to the path, playing ball games with his children (which he said was ‘a
weekend thing’) within, as | understood him, the wider area outside the
tracks. It appears that his sons left the village in 2005 although the dog
stayed with him. This change meant that dog walking reduced to around 2-3
times a week whereas his wife had taken the dog out more often than this.

He also said he jogged around the field in the period 2007-14.

In cross-examination Mr Kehily said that there had been ‘a perimeter track at
most times’. It was, he said, largely where he ran when he was jogging in the
field. When taking the dog out he reiterated that he walked across the middle

of the field, outside the tracks, to get to the other side of the field. He was not

35
Page 189



121.

especially clear what he did once he had walked across the field. As he put

it, ‘It's been let’s go for a walk to the field'.

Although Mr Kehily was a genuine witness his evidence was not as detailed
as it might have been. The impression | get is that for a limited period before
2005 he and his wife walked the dog in the field and for an even shorter time
whilst his sons were old enough to play ball games, quite possibly around the
periphery of the field seeing as this is a very large filed and the boys were
still very small even by 2005 (certainly Shaun who was born in 2002 whereas
his brother was still only 6 in 2005). After 2005 Mr Kehily says he walked the
dog some 2-3 times a week in the field until 2013, or perhaps earlier than this
as the dog would have been getting on in years by the time it no doubt died
in 2013 and the field would have been a longish walk for an old dog. Other
than dog walking after 2005, Mr Kehily jogged around the perimeter path
between 2007-14. It seems to me that, reduced to its essentials, Mr Kehily’s
evidence is probably of some value to the applicant’s case but it does not
greatly help to deal with one of the main issues on this application which is
where local people generally walked when they used the field for informal
recreation. | am also puzzled by Mr Kehily’s assertion, when cross-examined,
that he was not ‘conscious’ of the tracks going back to 2000 whereas it is
probable that there would have been there. One only has to look at the
images on Google earth in 2002 and 2006 to see where established tracks
ran on the ground at this early stage in the application timeline although they
were admittedly less clear on the ground in 2002 than they were in 2006, at
least in the photo but but suspect that they would have been clear enough in

2002 to anyone walking across or around the land.

Applicant’s documents

122.

| have read the documentation which accompanied the application and |
have also read the written evidence contained in the applicant’s inquiry
bundle. | have already dealt with the photos and the appendices speak for
themselves. | have also looked again at the note handed in by Mr Waller
(OBJ/218-227) entitled: ‘Note on Paxcroft Mead Development’ which has a

number of useful documents attached to it. This document is intended to

36
Page 190



123.

124.

show that the new development (which was built out in three phases in the
late 1990s (or even later) following an outline grant obtained in 1995) will
have led to an increase in the use of the application land. There is a plan
showing the Hilperton parish boundary (which was altered in 2017 following a
boundary review) which now aligns with the A361.

In my directions | asked the applicant to provide me with a summary of their
user evidence. In the event, at A/203-211, | was provided with an extremely
helpful schedule containing the names of 41 witnesses with the added
headings: (i) Period of use in years; (ii) Years of use in rel. period; (iii) Nature
of own use; (iv) Nature of observed use; and (v) Notes. | have decided not to
add these additional sheets to the appendices but the applicant may be rest
assured that | have studied them with care. At A/203 there is an explanatory
note which tells us that the applicant’s user evidence summary derives from
a table produced by Sally Madgwick when the matter was first looked at by
the CRA. | gather that her summary was based on the evidence of the 33
statements which accompanied the application. What the applicant has done
is to update Sally Madgwick’s summary by drawing on the evidence
contained in a further 8 statements. At the end of the day the CRA is left with

a very helpful summary of all the applicant’s written evidence.

The applicant also produced the results of an online survey at A/193-201. It
was generated on various dates in August/September 2020 and contains
answers to various questions put to respondees such as number of years
used, frequency of use, how the land has been used and observed use,
along with nearly two pages of further comments which | have read. The
survey is clearly interesting but, in my view, the CRA should not accord a
great deal of weight to it. In the first place, it is singularly lacking in the sort of
detail which the CRA requires in order to be able to make an informed
decision (such as where users actually walked on the land) and, in the
second, it comes well after the end of the qualifying period even though |
accept that a number of those who participated in the survey also claim to
have used the land during the material period. However, although consistent
with it, it nonetheless adds little in practice to the combined weight of the

other written and oral evidence.

37
Page 191



125.

126.

The use of those witnesses who did not give oral evidence is broadly
consistent with the evidence of those who did. The evidence focuses on
walking with or without dogs, children playing (including ball games, flying
kites and model aeroplanes), jogging, camping and people generally
enjoying the land or spending family time in less strenuous ways, including
picking blackberries and playing around in the snow. This is all that one
might have expected in an open space near to a moderately-sized settlement
to which there is unhindered public access and a landowner living locally who
seemingly lets them all get on with it, albeit coupled with periodic and mainly
limited agricultural use taking place from time to time. | should mention that |
have not overlooked the brief flurry of correspondence involving Sadie
Pike/Andrew Pike/Ernest Clark/Andrew House in February/March 2013 about
rubbish and trespass within the ‘Hilperton Gap’ which was not investigated in
the oral evidence and is not relied on by the objector, no doubt as it is not
focused on user within the application land and could apply to other land.

The real difficulty with the written statements is that, with some exceptions,
the evidence does not deal with the precision that is required as to where
these witnesses walked when they were on the land. As | say, in some
instances there are indications of where qualifying witnesses walked but the
guestion begs as to whether even this evidence is strong enough to justify

registration.

(1) Mrs Catharina Davies says, for instance, that she took her young
children ‘for regular walks’ in the field and they ‘played ball games and ran
around the field enjoying the space’ (A/73). In his statement (A/74) her
husband, Tim Davies, speaks of ‘Weekend walks around Church Field when
the children were young’. Mrs Davies also says (as does her husband) that
they ‘also used Church Field as our route to walk into Trowbridge’ (Mr Davies
speaks of using the field ‘for pedestrian access to Trowbridge via Middle
Lane’. There was also walking, with and without a dog, but it is unclear where
exactly they both routinely walked when using the field for their walks. Their
son James also speaks of regular walks on the field when he was young but

when he was older he used the land to walk into Trowbridge (A/76).

38
Page 192



(2)  Sally Lacey says that over the years she has walked ‘the dogs all over
the field, it is so nice to be able to let the dogs off the lead and let them run
free, played games such as rounders and cricket etc ..” (A/83). For instance,
did she walk around the edge of the field whilst her dogs ran off elsewhere
and how often and where was rounders and cricket played (presumably by
her children)?

(3) Phoebe Hart (when aged 14) said in her statement (A/86) that she took
her dog ‘for walks around Church Field about 3 times a week’ (which may not
assist the applicant’s case). She also said that she plays football, French
cricket and with frisbees with her friends but she does not say where or how
often this occurred. Mr. Hart says that ‘the entire field is in use all the time’
which is, I think, far too wide-ranging to carry sufficient weight to justify

registration.

(4) K.JWaring said that he suspected that he has ‘covered every inch of
Church Field chasing after dogs, recovering lost balls and trying to train our
canine pals’. This evidence might very well imply that he normally sticks to
the paths and from time to time will chase after and retrieve his errant dog or
the ball that has not been picked up by the dog (A/88).

(5) Jacqui Clark says that (when they were small) her children ran and
played with a ball ‘whilst | wandered around the footpaths’ (A/98). When they
were older they used the path on their way to and from school avoiding the
then busy Church Street route. When her children were older (i.e. when they
were unsupervised) Mrs Clark says that they played in the field with their
friends for prolonged periods. However, and in all fairness to the objector,
Mrs Clark cannot sensibly be heard to say where her children played when
she was not with them. Her evidence about training her dog in the field is

admittedly stronger but this is unlikely to have been prolonged.

(6) Emma Herlinger speaks (at A/99) of ‘using church field to walk our dog
and exercise ourselves and the children’ but she gives no details as to where
exactly she regularly walked on the field. She also says her children ‘run

around the field and have even used their scooter in the dryer summer

39
Page 193



months’. Does she mean that they ran around the perimeter and was using a

scooter outside the paths even feasible when the grass was longer?

(7) Someone called Andy at A102 says he used the field as a short-cut on
his regular trips to Trowbridge. Although he says that he has used the field

since 1987 he does not say where he walked.

(8) Lesley House speaks of regular usage of a whole of activities across
the entire field and not just the footpaths (A/103). It is also the case that Mrs
House and her children used the land on their way to and from their primary
school. In my view, this is precisely the sort of evidence which needed to be

tested by cross-examination.

(9) Sheila Sawyer’s evidence (A/107) also needed more detail. For
instance, she says she came to the village in 1974 and she and her children
used the field regularly. On the face of it, her children had probably ceased
playing on the field before 1997 and the evidence of her own use is not

sufficiently detailed.

Closing submissions

127. | hope both advocates will forgive me if | merely summarise the main points
within their comprehensive submissions.

Applicant

128. Mr Waller submits as follows:

D) It is common ground that the qualifying period is 1997 to 2017.

(2) Public access to the land has been enjoyed since 1952 which is when HILP1,
HILP2 and HILP3 were added to the DMS.

(3) Elizabeth Way was built in 2015 after which time the land was no longer used
for grazing.

(4) The construction of the road did not interfere with the size, boundaries or the

public’s use of the land.

40
Page 194



)

(6)

(7)
(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

The aerial photos after 2002 show trodden paths throughout the material
period. These paths run around the field perimeter and also correspond with
HILP, 1, HILP2 and HILP3.

The applicant’s evidence in chief evidence suggested that these paths were

renewed after the summer cut.
The perimeter path remained in roughly the same location.

There were other tracks not corresponding with the PROWSs such as the
curved path between Middle Lane (in fact it runs from the circular path and
does not go as far as Middle Lane) and HILP3 (which can be seen on the

aerial photo for 2017.

Paxcroft Mead was built out in phases in the late 1990s. Only that part of
Paxcroft Mead to the north of the A361 lies within the village of Hilperton (see
App/4 plan and OBJ/221 — the boundary with Trowbridge now aligns with the
outer edge of the Hilperton Gap on its south-western side). The rest of

Paxcroft Mead falls within the administrative area of Trowbridge.

It is accepted that some of those who used the land in the period 1997-2017
would have resided in the administrative area of Trowbridge and would have

accessed such land via points 11, 12 or 13 on the App/3 plan.

It is also accepted that some of those using the land would have been using
it as a place of transit from Hilperton to Trowbridge or vice versa. Such use

would not be qualifying.

The use by the inhabitants of more than one locality would be qualifying use
following Leeds Group Plc v Leeds City Council [2010] EWCA Civ 1438. The
multiple localities in this instance are the civil parish of Hilperton and the
administrative area of Trowbridge Town Council. It is also being alleged in
the alternative that the use via the access at 11 was by the inhabitants of
more than one neighbourhood. It is suggested that Paxcroft Mead could be
described either as a single or (with the A361 as a potential dividing line) a
multiple neighbourhood within the town of Trowbridge, perhaps

corresponding with the boundary of Adcroft ward which sits on the eastern

41
Page 195



(13)

(14)

(15)

side of the town. | found all this puzzling as the application is advanced as a
‘locality’ claim (see Box 6 on Form 44 with the accompanying Exhibit F being
a map of the civil parish). It is too late in closing submissions to convert the

claim into one which is based on a neighbourhood claim of some description.

The written and oral evidence provides ‘ample’ evidence of qualifying use
(including observed use) across the entirety of the application land in order to
justify registration (41 written statements, the 2020 online questionnaire and
7 oral witnesses). | am not going to review Mr Waller's submissions on the
applicant’s evidence which | have already covered in detail along with my
findings on that evidence.

Mr Waller comments upon the objectors’ suggestion that there are other
open spaces in the locality, including the recreation ground, the grass
meadows to the west of Elizabeth Way and to the south of Hilperton Marsh,
and in the amenity spaces in and around the new Paxcroft Mead
development. The objectors no doubt wish the CRA to infer from this that as
there was accessible walking space elsewhere the volume and frequency of
use of the application land would necessarily be diminished. Mr Waller points
to the heavy use of the recreation ground for football whereas the application
land is of an entirely different nature, a place for instance where one could do
other things such as fly kites or play rounders or, he might have added, walk
dogs off their leads which would not be allowed on the recreation ground. It is
also some way off from Paxcroft Mead, even allowing for the A361 road
crossing. | might add that | have considered the note on alternative
recreational areas in and around they Paxcroft Mead estate lodged by
Denise Harvey and Ernie Clark which | thought very useful and informative. It
seems obvious that the application land is of an entirely different character to

the amenity spaces found within the new development.

| am invited to discount use which is accepted to be non-qualifying. In this
regard, Mr Waller mentions the use of the land as a cut-through to
Trowbridge and vice versa (the so-called ‘transit use’). Mr Waller dealt with
the use of what he called ‘the trodden paths’ which he analysed as either

qualifying use or PROW use. He also posed the question as to whether use

42
Page 196



(16)

(17)

(18)

in the case of the former involved qualifying use across the whole of the land.
He accepted, however, that most of the withesses mainly stuck to the
‘trodden paths’ although there were others who wandered over the field,

including some of the witnesses.

Mr Waller raised the issue of the use of existing PROWSs or of emergent
rights of way neither of which, he accepts, would be qualifying use. He
placed emphasis on what Lightman J said in the Oxfordshire case at [2004]
Ch 253 at [103] where he instanced a situation where a track lead to an
attractive viewpoint (which might readily be regarded as referable to user as
a public highway alone) or to a case where users of the track veer off the
track and play, or meander leisurely over and enjoy the land on either side
which would usually be referable to use as a green. As the learned judge put
it in full at [103] (and on which Mr Waller no doubt relies): ‘... it is necessary
to look at the user as a whole and decide adopting a common-sense
approach to what (if any claim) it is referable and whether it is sufficiently
substantial and long standing to give rise to such right or rights’. As Mr Waller
puts it at [86]: ‘It is a holistic test rather than a test that engages only with the
evidence of user of the circular / linear tracks taken in isolation’. This must be
right and he cites from R (Allaway) v Oxfordshire CC [2016] EWHC 2677
(Admin). He goes on at [89]: ‘Thus the question is whether, looking at the
entirety of the user evidence holistically, the reasonable landowner would
have interpreted the user of trodden paths as referable to a PROW or LSP’. |
do not overlook either Mr Waller’s reliance on the findings of fact made by
the inspector in Allaway which he says ‘is remarkably similar to the facts’ of
the present application although | think that Mr Waller would have to accept

that TVG applications are highly fact-specific.

At [91] Mr Waller sets out in detail why, in this instance, ‘a reasonable
landowner would have viewed the use of the trodden paths on CF as
referable to use for LSP, not a PROW’.

Mr Waller invites me to reject any suggestion that the late Mr Pike expressly
or impliedly permitted recreational use. He says that there is no evidential

basis for this and the permission afforded to grave-diggers and in relation to

43
Page 197



(19)

the grass keep arrangements had no impact on the public’s use of the land
for recreation. Mr Waller is also right when he refers to the evidence about
overflow parking for weddings and funerals which, if it happened, either pre-

dated the start of the qualifying period or else came after it had ended.

Mr Waller also submits (in effect) that the agricultural activity did not

materially impact on the public’s use of the whole field.

Objectors

129.

(1)

(2)

Mr Marwick invites me to read his lengthy opening case outline (OBJ/32) in
conjunction with his closing submissions (which was accompanied by a
document headed ‘Landscape & Visual Setting Analysis’ dated October 2017
which was prepared for Hilperton Parish Council and contains some very
helpful photos of the Hilperton Gap and plans of the general area — this
document would have been helpful during the oral evidence). Looking at Mr
Marwick’s submissions in the round, it seems to me that the objectors’ main

defences to the application to register are as follows:

It is agreed that Hilperton village is a qualifying ‘locality’ in law. Mr Marwick
submits that as this is a ‘locality’ case, rather than a case involving a
‘neighbourhood within a locality’, any user by those living outside the
boundaries of the village should be discounted (citing Leeds Group Plc
[2010] EWCA Civ 1438 at [27]).

The alignment of the four PROW has remained consistent over the years and
represents the main way in which the application land has been used,
namely by walkers with or without dogs. Any claimed wider use ‘is imprecise
and unclear both temporally and spatially’. Any walking, with or without dogs
(which Mr Marwick accepts is the principal use of the land) should be
discounted ‘because it is objectively referable to right of way user (see
OBJ/33 at para 6) (I believe Mr Marwick to be saying that this is the core
issue on the application). It is claimed that any remaining user was either
permissive or too trivial or sporadic to justify registration and/or would be
incompatible with the use of the field for agriculture. It is also suggested that

the length of the grass and the presence of cattle in the field from time to

44
Page 198



3)

(4)

(5)

time would, in any case, have limited the scope of other, non-dog walking,

recreational use.

The CRA should be slow to assume that all the user taking place on the land
Is necessarily by qualifying local inhabitants. Some discounts need to be
made for, if | may put it, outside of locality use during the qualifying period.
Mr Marwick suggests that the very location of the land in the Hilperton Gap
adjacent to Trowbridge made it more likely that user would also be by
walkers/dog walkers from outside the village. He also points to alternative
open spaces for recreation both within and outside the village both of which, |
understand him to be saying, impact on the sufficiency of qualifying use (he
also suggests incidentally that there are formal areas for more structured
LSP within both the Hilperton Gap and Paxcroft Mead areas). It follows, Mr
Marwick suggests, that the evidence of third party user (by which |

understand him to mean ‘observed use’) should be treated with caution.

Mr Marwick suggests that the use of all the worn paths was such as to
indicate to a reasonable landowner the assertion of emergent rights of way
(in the case of the perimeter path) or the use of actual rights of way (x4) and
should be discounted. He also submits that any user by those straying off the
paths, including by those retrieving their dogs, and any use of the paths in
excess of the width of the PROW identified in the statement accompanying
the definitive map (likewise picnics and kite flying close to the trodden areas
which a reasonable landowner would attribute to right of way user), was such
as to indicate the exercise of emergent or existing rights of way and in both
cases should be discounted. Any use off the paths should be treated as
incidental to these primary uses and would not obviously be referable to LSP.
Mr. Marwick cites from Allaway and Oxfordshire. He also correctly states that
the starting point is how the matter would have appeared to a reasonable

landowner observing the user made of his land?

The CRA should be alive to the risk that the applicant’s withesses have been
motivated by a desire to protect the application land against development.
The written evidence should be accorded less weight as it has not been

subjected to cross examination.

45
Page 199



(6)

(7)

Other smaller points: (i) a finding should be made that the pre-school children
were expressly allowed to use the field at some stage; (ii) heavier use by
families living close to the field would not indicate to the landowner that the
land was in general use by the local community for informal recreation; (iii)
gatherings for snowball fights or building snowmen should be regarded as
brief en masse trespass rather than the assertion of recreational right of user:
(iv) those with gates opening directly onto the land (and an adjacent PROW)
would not indicate to a landowner that a communal right to recreate existed
on the land; and (v) helicopter landing is not LSP and no one knows where

the kite surfer came from.

Once non-qualifying user is discounted the applicant falls short of meeting
the statutory threshold for registration. Mr Marwick suggests that the burden
lies on the applicants to provide convincing evidence that the claim to
register has been made out. In this case he suggests ‘that there has not

been user of such a duration, nature and quality as to support registration’.

Discussion

130.

131.

132.

The application must be tested against the criteria for registration contained in
section 15(2) of the CA 2006, namely whether a significant number of the
inhabitants of (in this instance) any locality had indulged as of right in LSP on

the application land during the relevant 20 year period ending in April 2017.

In the first instance, it is plain that the civil parish of Hilperton is a qualifying
locality. For reasons already explained, this is not a case where the applicants
rely on one or more neighbourhoods straddling more than one locality. The
case advanced is based solely on the qualifying use of those living in the civil
parish of Hilperton. In the result, the applicants are unable to rely on the use
of the land by others living outside the boundaries of the village. The point is
academic anyway as the applicants are relying only on the written and oral

evidence of those who actually live, or have lived, in the village.

The core issue on this application is, as it seems to me, whether, without
more, the use of the land for walking, with or without dogs, children’s play and
general informal recreation suffices to justify registration? This is not,

however, a straight-forward application involving a small parcel of land being

46
Page 200



133.

134.

135.

used for qualifying purposes. On the contrary, it is a very large grass meadow
subject to low-level agricultural uses which happens to be criss-crossed by
four PROW (with gated access points and directional signs) and a circular
path running around the outside of the field which, in my view, in the case of
the latter, is likely to fall within the category of an emergent right of way. |
cannot see how it would have appeared other than this from the perspective
of the landowner in a case where walkers mainly use the path to walk around
the field and only incidentally walk outside it, perhaps to stand around chatting
with other dog walkers or to follow their dog or else cut a corner if they are
pressed for time or even to bypass other walkers ahead of them.

It seems to me that the main issues which need to be addressed by the CRA

on this application are these:
(@)  Where do people mainly walk when they use the land?

(b)  Was that main use sufficient to justify registration — for instance was it
non-qualifying as a matter of law because it was not enough to suggest
to a reasonable landowner that the whole of the land was being used

for informal recreation during the relevant period?

(© Were other incidental uses outside the trodden paths, when looked at

in the round, sufficient to justify registration?

| shall start by dealing with the general pattern of use of the land and its

context.

The land is a grass meadow of long-standing within the Hilperton Gap. The
agricultural use within the relevant period has been limited to an annual hay or
silage crop although prior to the coming of Elizabeth Way in 2015 it had also
been used for the occasional grazing of a small number of cattle (the
evidence is too vague to put a number on it but the grazing herd would have
been small and non-threatening to walkers) none of which activities in
practice, as | find, would have been inconsistent with the use of the land for
TVG purposes. It was not as if the land was ploughed or used extensively for
grazing. In general, the whole of the land was available for informal recreation

during the relevant period although it is important to note that before the grass

47
Page 201



136.

137.

138.

was cut in June/July each year there would have been a number of weeks
when the grass was longer and more difficult to walk upon.

The alignment of the PROW and the main circular path have remained more
or less consistent over the years. The Google earth images after 2002
demonstrate that this has been the case. The landscape changed in around
2015 with the construction of Elizabeth Way which ran through Hilperton Gap
and cut off the land from the two fields which used to adjoin it on its south-
west side. One can, for instance, see how cattle would have been moved
between these fields with ease and how HILP3 ran across these fields right
into the outskirts of Trowbridge. It is also apparent from the rights of way plan
at App/2 that before the new road was built walkers could have traversed
Hilperton Gap unhindered via a network of paths whereas the new road
places limits on the practicalities of this (compare the plans on App/1 and
App/2) despite the new Middle Lane crossing.

| think Mr Marwick is right when he says that the trodden paths crossing and
running around the land represent the principal way in which it has been used
by walkers, with or without dogs, during the relevant period. A number of oral
witnesses on both sides gave evidence to this effect. It seems to me that
whereas, before 2015, there is certain to have been greater use of the land as
a place of transit into the adjoining fields, the position after the advent of the
new road is that most people now stick to the field as a destination in its own
right and use it, as one might expect, by walking mainly on the worn paths or
at least as close to these paths as makes no difference. | also consider that
any use outside the paths should be treated as being incidental to the primary

use of the paths and not referable to LSP.

| think Mr Marwick is right when he says that the use of the trodden paths
would have indicated to a reasonable landowner the assertion of an emergent
right of way, in the case of the main circular path and its offshoots, or the use
of actual rights of way when it comes to the use of the four PROW and that,
as a matter of law, such use should be discounted for TVG purposes. | also
accept his submission (i) that any use by those straying off the paths

(including by those retrieving their dogs), and (ii) that any use in excess of the

48
Page 202



139.

140.

141.

width of the paths identified in the DMS would also have been such as to

indicate the exercise of emergent or actual rights of way.

While | accept that, from time to time, people used the field for other
recreational activities such as ball games, flying kites and model aeroplanes,
jogging, camping and generally enjoying the land, | do not accept that these
uses were, either by themselves or collectively, substantial enough or
occurred with sufficient frequency to justify registration. | find that these other
non-dog walking uses were very probably trivial uses and, as Mr Marwick
rightly says, did not involve user of such a duration, nature or quality as would
support registration. In my view, such uses are likely to have occurred mainly
in the summer months after the grass had been cut when, for a while, the land

is bound to have been much easier to walk on.

The CRA needs to be satisfied that, for all practical purposes, it can sensibly
be said that the whole of the application land had been used for informal
recreation always bearing in mind that qualifying use will be heavier in some
areas than in others. | have already indicated that, in my view, the land is
mainly used by people walking on the trodden paths which, as | find and as |
saw for myself on my inspection in August, soon reappear after the grass has
been cut. However, this still leaves the rest of the field which, as | find, is
largely unused apart from only trivial or occasional uses when the length of
the grass and the condition of the weather is such as to accommodate with far

greater ease other non-dog walking uses.

It is not an uncommon difficulty in what | might call a ‘big field’ case for a CRA
to have to decide whether the whole or part of the land is still registerable
even though large parts of it are unused. In such a case, even if the CRA
were (a) required to discount the use of the trodden paths, yet (b) considered
that other uses taking place outside these paths were still sufficient to justify
registration, an applicant would, in these circumstances, (c) still need to
identify with precision where these other qualifying uses took place on the
land in order that the CRA might then consider whether to exercise its power
to sever from the application those parts of the land where qualifying use may
not have taken place. As Mr Marwick succinctly puts it at OBJ/33 at para 6,

the claimed use in this instance (outside the trodden paths) ‘is imprecise and

49
Page 203



142.

143.

unclear both temporally and spatially’. | agree. This is not a severance case
even if it was arguable that other uses outside the use of the trodden paths
would have supported registration which, | hasten to add, is not the case on
the basis of evidence laid before the CRA. The applicants’ case might have
been a good deal more arguable when it came to uses outside the paths if it
had showed with much greater precision what was happening on the land,
where it was taking place and when but their case under this head had not

been properly or strictly proved.

| am not going to reiterate my findings on the oral evidence (where, it will be
recalled, | expressed concerns about the quality of the evidence of Ms
Katevska, Ernest Clark and Mrs Hart) but there is another matter which |

should address and it concerns the Paxcroft Mead development.

Whilst | accept that this estate resulted in some people who lived outside the
village boundary using the land (and so may have numbered amongst others
observed to be using the land by qualifying local residents), it is, as | find,
unlikely to have been a major component in the overall use of the land
although | accept that some discounting would be necessary to allow for the
use of those living outside the village. However, it still needs to be recognised
that crossing the A361 is likely to have been a major hindrance to those living
outside the village boundary who wished to recreate on the field, especially in
the case of adults with young children in tow. The field was very probably also
too away for unsupervised play in the case of younger children. | am also told
that there are suitable amenity spaces within the new estate although | doubt
whether they are likely to be as desirable for dog walking as the application
land. This issue arose late in the day and in the absence of a proper audit as
to how many people accessed the land for recreation via points 11-13 on
App/3 one can only but speculate on the number of people using the land who
lived outside the village boundary, whether they came from the Paxcroft Mead
estate or elsewhere. At the end of the day, however, there were, in my view,
enough qualifying witnesses who gave oral and written evidence to signify
that the land was likely to have been in general use by the local community for
informal recreation. It is just that the user relied on was, for the reasons

explained, not qualifying use for the purposes of section 15 of the CA 2006.

50
Page 204



Recommendation

144.

145.

146.

In light of the above discussion, | recommend that the application to register
the application land (proceeding under application number 2017/01) should be
rejected on the ground that the criteria for registration laid down in section
15(2) of the CA 2006 have not been satisfied.

Put shortly, the predominant use of the application land during the relevant
period was for walking, with or without dogs, on four PROW and a circular
path (and its offshoots) running around the outside of the application land
which would not have justified registration as a matter of law as it would not
have suggested to a reasonable landowner the exercise of a right to indulge
in LSP across the whole of the application land. Other claimed uses taking
place outside these paths were either incidental to the primary use of the
paths or else were too trivial or occurred only sporadically and, either alone or
collectively, would not have been sufficient in terms of duration, nature or

guality to support registration.

The CRA must give written notice of its reasons for rejecting the application. |
recommend that the reasons are stated to be “the reasons set out in the

Inspector’s report dated 19 November 2020”.

William Webster

3 Paper Buildings

Temple

London EC4Y 7EU

Inspector

51
Page 205



52
Page 206



APPENDIX 3.1 to WAPC 20.01.2021 report

Appendix 1 to Inspector’s report

Page 207



Promapn ootpiostre s

» LAN du - 10900, Paper Soe - Ad

Page 208



Appendix 2

Page 209



Y SRR o
oI e )
S AL A
LRSI G
% = o o

Page 210



Appendix 3

Page 211



Gate

Numbers

The gates of Church Field

1.

2.

8.

Field gate, metal J bar, cannot recall it being secured-well used.

Cemetery gate- Ted gate 5 bar, cannot recall it being secured- lightly used.

. Kissing gate from Church footpath
. Wooden gate from House

. Metal gate from House

. Metal gate from House

. Now wooden from House at the time of application was metal.

Brick surround with pillars and lintel over wooden gate- gateway looks as old

as house-1920’s

9.

Gate in corner- kissing gate

10. Wooden gate- house number 4 Nursery Close has access to this gate in their

Deeds. It is falling apart and not used.

11. Wooden kissing gate -Field Gate

12. Position of field gate prior to construction of Elizabeth Way in 2014. Used for

cattle between fields the ground dips here showing where it used to be

13. Kissing gate which is new, before Elizabeth way it was an old metal gate.

Page 212



} Buy A Plan

;f....c,.. ®%
i+ s fagtént atd Lagiont Flennitg Al U Shait b

Wiy
s

P 3 t ety

~ f TR U e
5.5 2 e
A
"’_f"" Fole
= £ o o)

L 5 * \ o
v 5 - 3,‘-‘, .
. -
b F Ve
H > o,
: - e
.

-1 .

Pian shows baunded by: IDGHGA.TS, J6TIBA.7S, 186208.37 scaie of 1:2500), OSGedRef. STETOS5500, regresantaton of § road, tack ‘ovioence
m--‘:-au‘:--h-hnmd-mm:' “ ™ " - b s
Muted on 13th Avg 2020 rom e Oronance Natooal Dwtabase snd incorponting surveyed sevision avalioble ot s cate. Reproducticn In whake s prohisied without he
t permission of h Ordnance Sureey. © Crown by www biyepien.couk 8 l-uﬁ—“-n:m !

plan reference: PO0S44S85-STE10A
trasemana cf e A
. ruw Ordranca Serwy, the national mepping agency of Greal Baen. Buy A Flan g0, p2f Sasgn and 1 www Duyd pin.co.uk welisle

Page 213




Appendix 4

Page 214



mPvz Ll an———r TPy p— zz_

. < 10000 Paper S - A4

Page 215



Years Number
used/
since

[ 1974/ |

: 1
.......... g s el | B -
2. Catherine Davis 1998/ | 2
3. Charlle Barker 200/ | 3
15yrs |
4. Chris Hart 2007/ 4
1yrs -
5. Graham Kehily 1968/ * 5
e Serr——— O ... A
6. Denise Harvey 1993/ | 6
i 2OV _ :
7. Ermie Clark 1992/ 7
8. Heidi Hart 2007 4
11yrs ‘
8. Helen Davies 1998/ 2
20 | P - e
10. Helen Whitehead. 2008/ 8
10yrs i B )
11. Isabelle Hart 2007/ 4
| tyrs
12. Ivan Moore | 1960's | 9
13. Ayesha Moore 1960's | 9
135yrs i ’ o
14. J Clark 1992/ | 7
T T TRITE s A (T SrEan st At
15. J Waring 1983/ . 10
“m : - PP e B e L L ——
16. James Davies 1998/ 2
- B b v e .
17. Julia Goodwin 1988/ | 1
18. K Waring 11983/ 10
R P TRPLEE STV Ao, sl e e g e
19. Katherine Warr | 1980%s 12
................. L i o 18 2 o
20. Kenn Warr | 1980’ 12
f my’s - ——n S . st v b st S0 44 § 11 At 64404 08 hastm gy se e s o0 - -
21, Kathi Walker | 1987/ i3
Biyrs ) B

Page 216




Witness Location Key

Number

g , “;w S i 15

24, Lucy Wilcox | 1996/ 15
| 22yrs

25. Nicola Walker | 2008/ 16
10yrs

26, Phoebe Han 2007/ | 4

: 1yrs

27. Rob Coles 1878/ | 4 prior to the Harts

28. Maaggie Coles 1878/ | 4 prior to the Harts

A S W . .. " " . R

29. Ros Huggins 1908/ | 17
20yrs |

30. Sally Lacay 1993/ | 14

31. Sarah Kenich - 1988/ 18

82. Sonja Kotevska | 1992/ 19

33. Steven Harvey 1983/ 6

34. Thomas Clark 1995/ X 7
28yrs

35. Tasha Harvey 1996/ | 6

36. Tim Davies 19087 | 2

37. Wendy Coles 1980's - 4 prior to the Harts

38. Alison Hoskins 12011/ 20
oyrs |

39. Kate Hayes ' 1988/ 21

b Lo i N

40. John Bowden L1977 25
‘4lyrs | o

41. Lesley House 1987/ | 23

) ! Biyrs ! . ) .

42. Edward Clark 1997 7

r21yrs |

14

Page 217




'Witness Location Key

Name Years Number
used/
since
43, Sheila Sawyer | 1974/ 1
i d4yrs
44, Emma Herlinger l 2018/ | 24

Page 218



	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Application to Register Land Known as 'Church Field', Hilperton as a Town or Village Green
	CM10006 App1
	CM10006 App2
	CM10006 App2A
	CM10006 App2A.1
	CM10006 App2A.2
	CM10006 App2A.3
	CM10006 App2A.4
	CM10006 App3
	CM10006 App3.1




